Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Local Pension Committee
Friday, 10 June 2022 at 9.30 am
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483).
cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk

AGENDA
Item
1.

Report By

Marked

Appointment of Chairman.
Mr. T. Barkley CC was nominated Chairman elect at the Annual
Meeting of the County Council held on 18 May 2022.

2.

Election of Vice Chairman.

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2022.

4.

Question Time.

5.

Questions asked by members under Standing
Order 7(3) and 7(5).

6.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

7.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

8.

Pension Fund Valuation.

(Pages 5 - 12)

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 13 - 86)

Representatives from Club Vita, the Fund’s Longevity Analysis will
provide a presentation as part of this item. A copy of the
presentation slides is attached.

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

9.

LGPS Central Private Markets Update and
LGIM Economic Update.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 87 - 140)

i. Representatives from LGPS Central will provide a presentation
on as part of this item. A copy of the presentation slides is
attached.
ii. Representatives from LGIM will provide a presentation as part
of this item. A copy of the presentation slides is attached.

10. Responsible Investing Update.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 141 242)

11. Summary Valuation of Pension Fund
Investments.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 243 258)

12. Risk Management and Internal Controls.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 259 280)

13. Action taken by Investment Subcommittee 27
April 2022.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 281 282)

14. LGPS Central Update - Joint Committee and
General Meetings.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 283 288)

15. Investment Subcommittee Membership.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 289 290)

16. Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.
17. Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 9
September 2022 at 9.30am.
18. Exclusion of the Press and Public.
The public are likely to be excluded during consideration of the
remaining items in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 (Exempt Information).
19. LGPS Central Quarterly Report.

LGPS Central

(Pages 291 388)

Growth
20. Adams Street Partners Quarterly Report.

Fund Manager

21. Aspect Capital Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

22. Legal and General Investment Manager
Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

(Pages 389 390)
(Pages 391 398)
(Pages 399 428)

23. Pictet Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

(Pages 429 -

24. Ruffer Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

25. SL Capital Quarterly Report.

Fund Manager

Income.
26. Aegon Asset Management Quarterly Report.

Fund Manager

27. IFM Investors Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

28. Infracapital Greenfield Partners Quarterly
Report.

Fund Manager

29. JP Morgan Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

30. LaSalle Quarterly Report.

Fund Manager

31. Colliers Quarterly Report.

Fund Manager

32. M&G Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

33. Partners Quarterly Reports.

Fund Manager

34. Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

Protection.
35. Aegon Quarterly Report

Fund Manager

TO:
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. T. Barkley CC (Chairman)
Mr. D. Grimley CC
Mr. P. King CC
Leicester City Council
Cllr. A. Clarke
Cllr. S. Waddington
District Council Representatives
Cllr. M. Graham MBE
Cllr. N. Grundy
University Representative
Mr. Z. Limbada
Scheme Member Representatives
Mr. N. Booth
Mr. G. Lawrence
Mr. A. Wilson

Mr. D. Bill CC MBE
Mrs. A. Wright CC

446)
(Pages 447 452)
(Pages 453 500)
(Pages 501 520)
(Pages 521 574)
(Pages 575 626)
(Pages 627 628)
(Pages 629 650)
(Pages 651 672)
(Pages 673 702)
(Pages 703 814)
(Pages 815 920)
(Pages 921 952)

5

Agenda Item 3

Minutes of a meeting of the Local Pension Committee held at County Hall,
Glenfield on Friday, 25 March 2022.
PRESENT:
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. T. Barkley CC (Chairman)
Mr. D. Grimley CC
Mr. K. Merrie MBE CC
Dr. K. Feltham CC
Leicester City Council
Cllr. A. Clarke
Cllr. S. Waddington
District Council Representative
Cllr. M. Graham CC
Scheme Member Representatives
Mr. G. Lawrence
Mr. A. Wilson
Independent Advisers and Managers
Mr. T. Hoare - Hymans Robertson (Minute 121 refers)
Mr. R. Warden - Hymans Robertson (Minute 121 refers)
Mr. P. Bolger - IFM Investment Manager (Minute 122 refers)
Mr. H. Wang - IFM Investment Manager (Minute 122 refers)

115. Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2022 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
116. Question Time.
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
34.
117. Questions asked by members.
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
7(3) and 7(5).
118. To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

6
There were no urgent items for consideration.
119. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.
120. Presentation of Petitions.
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order
35.
121. 2022 Fund Valuation - Results of the Stabilised Employer Modelling.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources on the 2022
Fund Valuation stabilised employer modelling results. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed Mr. T. Hoare and Mr. R. Warden to the meeting, representing
the Fund’s Actuary, Hymans Robertson.
Arising from the discussion, the following points were noted:
i. In regard to the 0.4% charge included within employer contributions to fund staffing,
IT, actuarial and support services of the Pension Service the Pension Manager
assured the Committee that the figure was representative of good value and was
lower than most fund’s of a comparative size. Members requested that future
reports could include such comparisons with other funds.
ii. The Fund was open to discussions with any contributing body that would prefer to
front load their secondary rate contributions in the first year, in order to make an
overall saving.
iii. The proposed rates would be discussed with the stabilised employers
RESOLVED:
The Committee noted:
a. the proposed changes to the stabilised employer contribution rates from 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2026, subject to there being no material changes.
b. that discussions were due to be held with stabilised employers regarding the proposed
rates from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026.
c. the expected increase in administration charge by 0.1%, from 0.3% to 0.4% from 1
April 2023 to 31 March 2026.
122. IFM Markets Update.

7
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources and a
presentation from representatives from IFM proving a Market Update. A copy of the
report and presentation marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.
The Committee was joined by representatives from IFM, Mr. P. Bolger and Mr. H. Wang.
Arising from the presentation the following points were noted:i.

IFM set out its view of Environmental, Social and Governance factors which
were embedded into its decision-making processes and benchmarked against
global best practice.

ii.

The Global Infrastructure fund portfolio contained critical infrastructure. IFM
supported it assets in the transition to renewable energy and put in place selfgeneration of renewables through its ‘being the meter repowering’ strategy to
replace conventional energy from the grid.

iii.

The Committee noted that IFM was aiming to reduce its carbon intensity by 40%
from 2019 levels by 2030 at a minimum, which was aligned with the Paris
Agreement. In response to a query, Members were advised that while IFM used
some carbon offsets the 40% target would be measured against its gross
emissions and would not count offsets as it focused on carbon savings across
its portfolio.

iv.

In response to a query on the 41.6% geographic exposure to North America,
the Committee were advised that exposure would contract as further
acquisitions in Europe were made. Members were assured that IFM felt it was a
comfortable location to invest given rule of law, market conditions and
infrastructure demand on the secondary markets.

v.

IFM advised the Committee that inflation was expected to have a net positive
impact on the portfolio given its assets were generally unaffected by the impact
on goods and services. Members noted one exception related to renewable
infrastructure which had been compounded by global supply problems, however
through the aggregated requests across the portfolio it was more attractive for
suppliers to prioritise.

RESOLVED:
That the presentation provided by IFM be noted.

123. Responsible Investing Update.
The Committee considered a report of Corporate Resources setting out the Responsible
Investing Update. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman noted the detailed representations received on the case to divest from
Climate Action Leicester and Leicestershire that are filed with these minutes.
A Member challenged the Fund’s view on engagement over divestment, questioning the
reliance on engagement and the impact that was supposed to be had as a result, and
requested that divestment be considered as a viable approach for the Fund. Members
were assured that the topic would be discussed as part of the workshop following the
meeting and through development of the Climate Change Strategy.

8
Members noted that officers had compared the Fund’s approach with the other LGPS
Central funds to date but that further analysis of other LGPS funds could be shared.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
124. Business Plan and Budget 2022/23.
The Committee received a report by the Director of Corporate Resources on the Pension
Fund Budget and Business Plan 2022/23. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’
is filed with these minutes.
The Fund’s Budget and Business Plan was managed separately to Leicestershire County
Council as Administering Authority. The separation ensured there was no undue
influence from the County Council in relation to its own budgetary pressures.
The Committee noted that the Local Pension Board had supported the Budget and
business plan at its meeting on 16 February 2022.
RESOLVED:
That the Administration and Investment Business Plans and Pension Fund Budget for
2022/23 be approved.
125. Risk Management and Internal Controls.
The Committee considered a report by the Director of Corporate Resources the purpose
of which was to detail any concerns relating to the risk management and internal controls
of the Fund. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the revised risk register be approved.
126. Training Policy Refresh.
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose
of which was to present the revised Training Policy. A copy of the report is filed with
these minutes, marked ‘Agenda Item 12’.
The Committee noted the Local Pension Board had supported the revised Training Policy
at its meeting on 16 February 2022.
RESOLVED:
That the revised training policy be approved.
127. Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments.
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose
of which was to present a summary valuation of the Fund’s investments as at 31
December 2021. A copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked ‘Agenda Item
13’.

9
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
128. Exclusion of the Press and Public.
RESOLVED:
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded
from the meeting for the remaining items of business on the grounds that they involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act.
129. LGPS Central Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Legal and General, a copy of which
marked '15' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
130. Adams Street Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Adams Street, a copy of which
marked '16' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
131. Legal and General Investment Manager Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGIM, a copy of which marked '17' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
132. Targeted Return Factsheet.
The Committee considered an exempt report by LGPS Central, a copy of which
marked '18' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
133. Aspect Capital Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aspect Capital, a copy of which
marked '19' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.

10
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
134. Ruffer Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Ruffer, a copy of which marked '20' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
135. Pictet Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Pictet, a copy of which marked '21' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

136. Aegon Asset Management Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aegon, a copy of which marked '22' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
137. Colliers Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Colliers, a copy of which marked '23' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
138. Christofferson Robb and Company Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Christofferson, Robb and Company, a
copy of which marked '24' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for
publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
139. IFM Investors Quarterly Report

11
The Committee considered an exempt report by IFM Investors, a copy of which
marked '25' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
140. Infracapital Greenfield Partners LLP Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Infracapital Greenfield Partners LLP, a
copy of which marked '26' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for
publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local
Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
141. JP Morgan Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by JP Morgan, a copy of which marked '27'
is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3
and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

142. KKR Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by KKR, a copy of which marked '26' is filed
with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of
Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

143. LaSalle Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by LaSalle, a copy of which marked '29' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
144. Millennium Global Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Millennium, a copy of which marked '30'
is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3
and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

12
145. Partners Quarterly Report.
The Committee considered an exempt report by Partners, a copy of which marked '31' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
146. Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Stafford Timberland, a copy of which
marked '32' is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted
147. Aegon Quarterly Report
The Committee considered an exempt report by Aegon, a copy of which marked '33' is
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted

9.30-11.05
25 March 2022

CHAIRMAN

13

Agenda Item 8

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE - 10 JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
PENSION FUND VALUATION 2022

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to request that the Committee approve the proposed
assumptions used in the Leicestershire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
valuation.
Background
2. Every three years each LGPS administering authority has a statutory obligation to have
an actuarial valuation (Valuation) of the pension scheme. The Leicestershire Pension
Fund’s (Fund) assets and liabilities are assessed on the 31 March 2022 and the overall
funding position calculated.
3. The main aim of the Valuation is to set contribution rates for each employer for a three
year period that commences one year after the valuation date (i.e. for the period 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026). In order to set the contribution rates, the Fund Actuary Hymans
Robertson, must take account of a number of factors, most of which are the assumptions,
on what is likely to happen in the future. These assumptions do not impact onto the
ultimate cost of paying benefits they simply calculate the liability derived from these
benefits, which in turn impacts the level of contributions set.
4. There is a requirement within the LGPS Regulations that there is an element of prudence
built into the actuarial assumptions and that the actuary sets contributions in line with
these prudent assumptions while maintaining contribution stability for employers, where
possible.

Assumptions
5. The assumptions required for the valuation are grouped by;
1. Longevity
2. Investment return and discount rate
3. Benefit revaluation and pensions increases
4. Salary increases
5. Others
Further details on slide 10 of Hymans’ report Appendix B

14

6. Longevity, the investment return (and discount rate) and benefit revaluation (and pension
increases) generally have the greatest influence on employer contribution rates.
Longevity
7. The data used by Club Vita is Leicestershire Fund specific, using Fund members’
individual data points, including postcode analysis. This allows Hymans Robertson to
calculate the longevity likelihoods by member (and employer) area within the
Leicestershire Fund and benchmark this to the national average.
8. Longevity assumptions are based upon modelling performed by Club Vita. The
assumption is broken into two components:
1. Baseline
2. Future improvements.
Further details on slide 23 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
9. Baseline longevity reflects current observed mortality (nationally, within the LGPS and
within the Leicestershire Fund) and is informed by Club Vita analytics on the
Leicestershire Fund members.
Further details on slide 24 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
10. Future improvements reflect the expected improvement in life expectancy into the future.
The Actuary uses an industry wide longevity CMI (continuous mortality investigation)
model and uses Club Vita analysis to help to set the parameters of the model.
11. Given that both 2020 and 2021 experience has been affected by Covid 19 no weight is
placed on data from these years. There remains uncertainty on the long-term impact of
Covid 19 so the position will continue to be monitored closely for future valuations.
12. However, after excluding uncertainty for Covid 19, Club Vita analysis suggests a
reasonable long-term trend of 1.5% annual improvements in longevity. The strength of
this recommendation has increased since the previous valuation, where the annual
improvement in longevity was 1.25% p.a.. Hymans have suggested the Fund increase
this for the 2022 valuation to 1.5%.
13. In isolation, the proposed changes to the longevity (future improvements) assumption will
increase assumed life expectancy by around 0.5 years for females currently aged 45 (and
around +0.2 years for males).
Further details on slide 27 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
14. Longevity results in the Leicestershire Fund are slightly higher than the national average.
15. A presentation from Club Vita forms part of the report and the slides are attached as
Appendix A.

15

Investment return and discount rate
16. Investment returns are based on two separate assumptions. The first assumption is the
Fund’s future investment returns for the next 20 years. This is derived in a similar way to
the comPASS modelling with multiple economic projections being created. These
projections are used to calculate the expected performance of each of the asset classes
the Fund holds. This range of expected returns over the 20 year period is applied to the
holdings in the Fund’s asset allocation strategy.
Further details on slide 15 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
17. At the November 2021 Committee Meeting, Committee approved a 75% prudence level
on the likelihood of the Fund’s investment strategy achieving returns over a given period.
Using the Hymans economic scenario model, and aiming to meet a 75% success rate,
produces a 4.4% p.a. assumed investment return (over years 0-20).
Further details on slide 16 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
18. In isolation, adopting a 4.4% p.a. future investment return assumption for calculating
funding levels will improve past service funding positions which will lead to lower
Secondary rates for employers. This should help to offset the increased cost of future
accrual (largely driven by higher inflation).
19. Beyond a 20-year time horizon uncertainty increases greatly, hence a different approach
is taken. A single assumption about future investment returns is set, known as the
discount rate. The resulting discount rate is based on the underlying economic conditions
in year 20 of each scenario modelled, allowing for the Fund’s agreed level of prudence
(75%).
Further details on slide 15 & 17 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
Benefit revaluation and pension increases
20. Hymans model various inflation outcomes within its economic projections. While raising
inflation is a risk, this is generally mitigated by the higher inflation on the assets that
should provide higher returns.
21. At the 2022 valuation benefit projections are in line with the long-term consumer price
index projections within this model.
22. There is no change in approach at the 2022 valuation, but Hymans have used updated
modelling calibrations to reflect the current market outlook in the short to medium term.
23. The Hymans model allows for observed market information and short terms trends to
reflect current market conditions at 2022, but generally the longer end of the 20-year
model remains broadly the same as at the 2019 valuation, i.e., longer term projections are
broadly in line with the Bank of England target of 2%.

16

24. The median (average) CPI over the first 20 years within the model is 2.7% p.a. which is
slightly higher than the Bank of England target of 2%, due to the short-term higher
inflation increasing the long-term estimate.
25. Given the current economic situation, inflation will continue to be closely monitored by the
Fund Actuary and Officers over the coming months.
Further details on slide 18 & 21 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
Salary increases
26. Salary increases are becoming less significant as more people have only career average
benefits (CARE) service since April 2014. At the 2019 valuation 62% of active members
had pre-April 2014 service, linked to final salary, and this has dropped to 40.4% at 2022.
27. Consumer Price Index (CPI) is measured over a 20-year average as noted in paragraph
24, not CPI now.
28. At the 2019 valuation there was an allowance for short-term pay restraint, but this has
been removed for the 2022 valuation.
29. The salary increases assumption for the 2022 valuation is CPI of 2.7% plus 0.5% plus a
promotional element to account for people moving through the scale points within their
pay grade.
Further details on slide 19 of Hymans’ report Appendix B
Other assumptions
30. There are several other demographic assumptions that are listed on page 29 to 31 of
Hymans report.
These are;









Withdrawals from the scheme (excluding ill -health)
Ill health retirements
Promotional salary scale
Deaths in service
50/50 scheme take up
Retirement age
Cash commutation
Proportion leaving a dependant.

These assumptions have been modelled using the Leicestershire Fund data and based on
the Club Vita analysis.

Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement

17

31. The key policy changes in the Fund’s draft Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) will be
reviewed by Officers and will be presented to Committee in September 2022.
32. The full draft Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and Investment Strategy Statement (ISS)
will be reviewed and presented to Committee in November 2022. This is reliant on
completion of the Climate Strategy.
33. The Fund will propose to start a consultation with employers on the FSS and ISS after
Committee in November 2022. To assist administration, this will commence at the same
time employers receive their indicative employer rates.
34. The final assumptions will be taken to Committee in February 2023 alongside the final
FSS and ISS after completion of the employer consultation.

Timeline
35. The Valuation timeline has been expanded and accounts for the minor changes as
agreed with the Fund Actuary, to primarily account for the FSS and ISS. The revised
timeline is detailed below.
Date
August/September 2021

Topic
Mid-valuation funding update

September 2021

Provide Hymans Robertson with
stabilised employer data
Calculate indicative stabilised
employer rates
Agree principles for the 2022
assumptions
Results of the stabilised
employer modelling
Provide the stabilised employers
with their indicative rates. 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026
Detail proposed valuation
assumptions
Provide Hymans with all Fund
data
Review selected employer’s
financial health
Review proposed key policy
changes to the Funding Strategy
Statement
Calculate Whole Fund results

September/October
2021
November 2021
March 2022
April 2022

June 2022
August 2022
August/September 2022
September 2022

September/October
2022
October/November 2022 Whole Fund valuation results
November 2022
Investment Strategy Statement
Draft Funding strategy statement
(full)

Action or Awareness
Board/Committee –
complete
Pension Section complete
Hymans Robertson –
complete
Committee - complete
Committee –
complete
Pension
Section/Stabilised
employers – complete
Committee – current
stage
Pension Section
Pension Section
Committee

Hymans Robertson
Board/Committee
Committee

18

November 2022
(through to the 31
December 2022)

January 2023

February 2023

March 2023
April 2023 to March
2026

Provide the other employers with
their indicative rates. 1 April 2023
to 31 March 2026.
Start a consultation with
employers on the Funding
Strategy Statement and
Investment Strategy Statement
(subject to possible amendments
for the climate strategy)
Changes to Funding Strategy
Statement and Investment
Strategy Statement
Final assumptions and Funding
Strategy Statement and
Investment Strategy Statement
finalised
Final valuation report produced
with final employer rates
Employer rates implemented

Pension Section/Fund
employers

Pension Section/Fund
employers
Committee/Board

Hymans Robertson
Pension Section/Fund
employers

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Committee;
a. Approves the approach to the Fund valuation;
b. Approves the following assumptions, noting these could change between
now and February 2023.
Assumption
Longevity
Investment Return

Discount Rate
Benefit
Revaluation and
Pensions Increase
Salary Increases
Others

Approach
A long-term trend of 1.5% annual improvements
4.4% p.a. assumed investment return over 0 to 20
years aiming to meet a 75% success rate, using
Hymans latest economic scenario model
Beyond 20 years, use the Fund’s agreed level of
prudence of 75%
The median (average) CPI over the first 20 years of
2.7% p.a.
0.5% above 2.7% CPI inflation
Model using the Leicestershire Fund data and based
on the Club Vita analysis

c. That the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with the
Chair of the Local Pension Committee, be authorised to make any
amendments to the assumptions set out in b., noting any changes will be
reported to Committee.

19

Equality and Human Rights Implications
None
Appendices
Appendix A – Club Vita Longevity Update
Appendix B – Hymans Robertson Assumptions Paper
Background Papers
25 March 2022 - Local Pension Committee – 2022 Fund Valuation – Results of the
Stabilised Employer Modelling
26 November 2021 –Local Pension Committee 2022 Fund Valuation Assumption
Officers to Contact

Declan Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel: 0116 305 6199
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Ian Howe, Pensions Manager
Tel: 0116 305 6945
Email: Ian.howe@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

21

Club Vita Longevity Update
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund

Mark Sharkey FIA CERA
Head of Client Delivery
mark.sharkey@clubvita.net

10 June 2022

Agenda
What we’ll cover
1. Introduction
2. Baseline longevity: current life expectancy
22

3. Future improvements: monitoring the long term risk
4. Questions

Using data analytics to gain greater insights as we emerge from the
pandemic
2

23

Introduction

3

What is Club Vita?
Club Vita
Proper noun, [kluhb vee-tuh], \ˈkləb vē-tə\

2008

1. Centre of excellence for improving
understanding of human longevity.
2015

3. Provider of longevity risk informatics to
support pension schemes’ risk
management strategies and enable market
innovation.

2019

24

2. Community of organisations with a
shared interest in longevity and belief
that the ‘bigger’ the data, the lower the
(statistical) noise.

Club Vita is an independent data utility, supporting pension funds,
advisors, insurers & asset managers
4

longevity profiling
• A multifactorial model allows for wider spread of outcomes
4 ¾ yrs
2¼ yrs
3 ¼ yrs
<½ yr

Healthy lifestyle postcode
High affluence
Normal health retirement
Non-manual worker

Life expectancy
from 65:

Life expectancy
from 65:

12.7 years

23.0 years

25

Unhealthy lifestyle postcode
Low affluence
Ill health retirement
Manual worker

Life expectancies shown are period life expectancies at 1/1/2018.

VitaCurves enables bespoke, member by member assumptions
5

Future improvement assumption

26

Projections based on expectations of future trends in longevity
6

27

Zooming in on current life
expectancy
7

Vita’s lifestyle effect (postcode based)
High life expectancy

Mid life expectancy

Low life expectancy

28

We see significant diversity in the demographic characteristics of DB
pensioners
8

Benchmarking – Lifestyle
Male pensioners

29

Female pensioners

9

Benchmarking – Affluence
Male pensioners

30

Female pensioners

10

31

Monitoring the long term risk

11

Speeding up our understanding…

32

Source: https://www.clubvita.co.uk/news-and-insights/top-charts-21-10-differences-in-covid-19-impact-on-pensioners-in-england-scotland-andwales
12

Digging deeper…

33

Monthly age standardised mortality based on monthly crude mortality rates. Standardised over age range of 65-95 and based on age profile of
Club Vita data in 2012. Data enriched by monthly feeds from Life Existence Checking exercise – last check ran July 2021.

13

Drivers of long term pandemic uncertainty
Lower longevity improvements

Higher longevity improvements

Short term risk of COVID-19

Health/social care funding

There is a risk that we see further waves
of infection as social distancing measures
are relaxed

Issues with funding unearthed during the
pandemic may be more likely to be
addressed

Global recession
A global recession may impact future
public sector spending in health care.

Deterioration of patients with noncoronavirus conditions due to delays in
treatment (e.g. cancer)

Impaired long-term health
The long term health of those who were
infected with COVID-19 but survived the
virus might be damaged.

Change in social behaviour (e.g.
increased handwashing) may reduce
prevalence of flu and other diseases.

34

Disruption to non-COVID care

Reduced circulation of flu

Reduction in air pollution
Change in social behaviour may result in
the reductions to air pollution persisting.

Reduction in smoking
Disease may have encouraged existing
smokers to stop

Longer term pandemic impact is likely to have a much greater liability
impact on most funds than 2020/21 experience.
14

Understanding the uncertainty

35

Impact shown above for a typical fund

Source: Club Vita COVID-19 scenarios: A bump in the road or a catalyst for change?

Scenario analysis and timely horizon scanning can help identify and
understand early warning signals
15

36

What this means for the 2022
valuation
16

Summary: what this means for the 2022 valuation

37

• The Fund actuary at Hymans Robertson will use Club Vita analytics to set
longevity assumptions.
• The Club Vita analytics enables bespoke, member by member
assumptions that reflects the bespoke mix of individuals in the Fund.
• The Club Vita analytics show a wide range of life expectancies in the
Fund, with members typically concentrated in geographic areas where
pensioners tend to live longer than average.
• In isolation, the impact of the excess deaths experienced in 2020 and 2021
is likely to be minimal – a 0.1%-0.2% reduction for the typical Fund.
• However, the longer lasting after-effects of the pandemic could have much
more material impacts. Club Vita analytics will be used to monitor the
evolving longevity landscape between valuations, based on data for
pensioners in the relevant regional and socioeconomic groups.

17

Any questions?
38

This presentation contains confidential information belonging to Club VITA (UK) LLP (CV). CV are the owner or the
licensee of all intellectual property rights in the presentation. All such rights are reserved. The material and charts
included herewith are provided as background information for illustration purposes only. This presentation is not a
definitive analysis of the subjects covered and should not be regarded as a substitute for specific advice in relation to
the matters addressed. It is not advice and should not be relied upon. This presentation should not be released or
otherwise disclosed to any third party without prior consent from CV. CV accept no liability for errors or omissions or
reliance upon any statement or opinion herein.

18

Appendix B

Actuarial valuation at 31 March 2022
Advice on assumptions

Richard Warden FFA

Tom Hoare FFA

24 May 2022
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP
Hymans Robertson LLP is authorised and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

39

Leicestershire County
Council Pension Fund

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Contents
In this report:
Page
3

The valuation process

4

Why and how we set assumptions

7

Financial assumptions

13

Longevity assumptions

22

Other demographic assumptions

28

Decisions and next steps

32

Appendices
A glossary of technical terms used in this report can be found in Appendix 6

35

40

2

Summary of recommendations

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Summary of recommendations
Recommended approach

Comments

Level of prudence

Adopt a 75% prudence level in setting the key
assumptions (future investment return & discount rate).

75% prudence level (previously 80% at 2019 valuation) was agreed at November 2021 committee

Future investment return
assumption

Returns are based on Hymans Robertson ESS model
updated to latest market calibration.

Asset class return expectations (over years 0-20) are slightly better than at 2019.

Discount rate

Adopt discount rate (which applies from years 20+) at
75% prudence level

No significant change in absolute asset class return expectations after the end of the funding
time horizon.

CPI inflation
(benefit increases /
CARE revaluation)

Based on Hymans Robertson ESS model

Inflation expectations are slightly higher (c.0.4-0.5% p.a.) than 2019 due to current economic
outlook

Salary increases

0.5% above CPI inflation (was 0.5% at 2019)

2022 proposed assumption in line with 2019 long-term salary increase expectations. However,
at 2019, allowance was made for short-term expected pay restraint. Given recent increases in
National Living Wage and reduced impact on pension liabilities from short-term pay expectations,
recommend that no allowance is made for any further short-term pay restraint.

Baseline longevity

Based on Club Vita analysis updated to reflect nonCovid related experience

Longevity assumptions are tailored to the Fund’s experience and membership

Future improvements in
longevity

Updated to CMI 2021 model with no weight on 2020/21
data and with long term improvements of 1.5% p.a.

Latest version of CMI model is best practice but avoid projections being affected by shortterm Covid-19 experience

Demographic
assumptions (excluding
longevity)

Adopt Hymans proposed demographic assumptions

All demographic assumptions have been reviewed against LGPS wide experience with some
adjustment to reflect Fund’s own experience

41

3

Assumption

42

The valuation process

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

The valuation process

Employer risk
management

Funding Strategy
Statement

Spring 2022

June / July 2022

August 2022

1

2
Assumptions
advice
Now

5

3

4
Data provision
August 2022

5

Employer results

Valuation sign off

October / November 2022

March 2023

6
Whole
Fund results
September / October 2022

7

8

9

Employer discussions
December 2022 / January 2023

43

Contribution rate
modelling

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Assumptions advice
It’s now time to set assumptions for the 2022 formal valuation, after taking advice from us as your Fund Actuary.
As part of this process you need to make four main decisions:

2

3

4

Agree the prudence level
in the assumptions

Confirm approach and
choice of financial
assumptions (salary and
pension increases)

Agree the life expectancy
assumption, including
how much weight is
placed on recent years
affected by COVID-19

Agree all other
demographic assumptions

6

44

1

45

Why and how we set
assumptions

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Assumptions matter – projecting future benefit payments and assets
To determine the level of employer
contributions we carry out two projections.
The benefit projection estimates the
future payments that will be made to
members, allowing for future pension
increases, death and other events.

The contribution rates are set so at the
funding time horizon, there are enough
assets to meet future benefit payments in a
sufficiently high number of future economic
scenarios – the funding objective.
Because we can’t see into the future, the
projections mean working with uncertainty
and require assumptions.

We review assumptions regularly to make
sure they’re relevant to the financial,
demographic and regulatory environment.
8

Known pension payments
for current pensioners.

Adjust each year allowing
for pension increases,
retirement, deaths, new
dependants, new joiners
etc.

Adjust for one year’s
pension increases, expected
deaths, retirements and new
joiners

Payments many years
away will be mostly to
new joiners

Two types of assumptions:

1

2

Financial assumptions
(like inflation) affect the amount
of payments and asset values.

Demographic assumptions (like
how long members live) affect
the timing of payments.

46

The asset projection takes into account
future investment returns, contributions and
benefits paid to members.

Illustration: how we project benefit payments

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Assumptions and our valuation approach
We use a “risk-based” approach to calculating
the benefit and asset projections.

The assumptions in each scenario vary by
year i.e. they are not ‘flat’, so they are a
better representation of reality than a single,
linear assumption.
The chart shows a sample of the 5,000
simulations for future cumulative total returns
on global equities over the next 20 years.

This approach allows the generation of a distribution of future benefit and asset projections
so all stakeholders in the Fund can better understand risk.
9

47

Under this approach, we use an economic
scenario generator (Hymans Robertson’s
proprietary generator is called the Economic
Scenario Service – ESS) to produce 5,000
different simulations of future economic
conditions and associated assumptions.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

What assumptions are needed
Assumption

Description

Required for
Financial assumptions

Projected annual returns and volatility on asset classes
invested by the Fund e.g. UK equities, property etc.

Asset projection – to project employers’ asset shares to the end of the funding time horizon

Discount rate

Annual rate of future investment return that will be earned on
the Fund’s assets after the end of the funding time horizon

Funding objective – to place a present value at the end of the funding time horizon on the
future benefit payments

Future Consumer Price Index inflation

Benefit projection – to determine the size of future benefit payments (LGPS benefits are
index-linked to CPI inflation)

Future inflationary salary awards

Benefit projection – to determine the size of future benefit payments (the pre-2014 final
salary benefits are linked to salary)
Asset projections – to determine future payroll values (and hence contribution income)

CPI inflation
(benefit increases /
CARE revaluation)

Salary increases

Demographic assumptions

Baseline longevity

How long we expect members to live based on current
observed death rates

Benefit projection – to determine how long each member’s benefits are paid for

Future improvements in
longevity

How death rates are expected to change in the future
(historically life expectancy has improved over time)

Benefit projection – to determine how long each member’s benefits are paid for

Other demographic
events

Events such as retirement age, rate of ill health retirement,
level of commutation and 50:50 take up

Benefit projection – to determine the size and timing of future benefit payments

10

48

Future investment return

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

How we review and set assumptions
Acknowledging uncertainty

1.

Look at the assumptions from the last valuation

2.

Review evidence and consider the landscape:

There is no certainty about how the future may evolve and it is important to acknowledge
this uncertainty during the valuation. Understanding the impact of the future deviating from
the assumptions on funding levels and contribution rates is an important aspect of how the
Fund manages risk.

• Changes in financial/economic
conditions
• Regulation and guidance
• Population and general pension
scheme statistics
• Fund specific data and experience,
especially members’ demographic
characteristics

3.

• Future trends

Ways of understanding the impact:

• Assessment of employers’ financial
strength

• Stress testing – measures immediate changes in assumptions by testing alternatives at
valuation date. We will stress test the longevity assumptions as part of the valuation.

• Investment strategy
• Fund views – and employer views in
some cases (e.g. salary increases)

Propose, discuss and agree changes to set new assumptions

• Risk-based modelling – risk-based approach involves projecting a wide range of
possible future outcomes. There is no single figure for an assumption – instead, we work
with a future range. We use a “risk-based” approach to calculate the benefit and asset
projections and set the underlying financial assumptions.
• Scenario projection – considers future projections across different scenarios, bringing
together relevant factors for a better understanding of overall impact. We will use
different climate change scenarios at the valuation to help you understand this risk.

Most assumptions are a best estimate, set objectively without margins for adverse experience.
A prudent discount rate assumption meets the requirement (from LGPS guidance) for a ‘prudent’ valuation.
11

49

Our approach

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Other factors affecting assumptions at the 2022 valuation
Possible benefit changes

Climate change will affect many aspects of the Fund’s assets and liabilities, for example
the return on its assets, the inflation used to revalue benefits and the longevity of its
members. The uncertainty around future climate pathways and their impact means that
it is impossible to factor climate change considerations meaningfully into every
assumption described in this paper.

McCloud

We will however consider climate change scenarios when setting the long-term
longevity improvements assumption, and the Fund will consider climate risk in its
funding strategy by testing the resilience of the strategy in three climate scenarios.

Benefits accrued by certain members between 2014 and 2022 may be increased in future
following the outcome of the McCloud case, which ruled that transitional protections
introduced in 2014 to older members were discriminatory. We will make an allowance for
the cost of these potential improvements in the 2022 valuation, based on the assumptions
agreed here (in particular the salary increase and withdrawal assumptions). The impact is
expected to be minimal for the majority of employers.

50

Climate change

Cost sharing mechanism
Benefits could also change as a result of the 2016 and 2020 “cost cap” valuations, neither of
whose outcome has been completely confirmed. If new assumptions are necessary to
value any potential changes we will agree these separately.
Guaranteed Minimum Pension equalisation and revaluation

As per our approach for the 2019 valuation, we will assume that the Fund will fund all
increases on GMP for members with a State Pension retirement date after 5 April 2016.
Other legal cases
Benefits could change as a result of other legal challenges (e.g. the “Goodwin” case
affecting partner pensions), but at present we do not believe any additional assumptions are
needed to value these.

12

51

Financial assumptions

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Financial assumptions
Approach to setting
financial
assumptions

2.

Hymans’ proprietary economic model, the
Economic Scenario Service (ESS), is used to
generate 5,000 different simulations of the
future
ESS generates a range of future benefit and
asset projections so stakeholders can better
understand risk (hence “risk-based”
approach)

3.

Projections allow for different levels of
inflation and returns across all asset classes

4.

No single assumption for future investment
returns or inflation

Key decision

Here are how some of the main ESS assumptions have changed since
2019. Full details are in Appendix 1.

A discount rate is needed to place a
prudent value on the benefit
payments due after the funding time
horizon. This value determines each
employer’s funding objective. The
level of prudence is a key funding
decision.

Assumption

31 March 2019

31 March 2022

CPI inflation

2.2%

2.7%

Global equity
returns

5.8%

6.4%

Index-linked gilt
returns

0.3%

0.1%

Corporate bond
returns

1.9%

2.1%

Figures are median annualised values over years 0-20. ILGs and
Corporate Bonds are medium duration, the latter is A rated.

The outlook for inflation is worse compared to
2019 however the returns on many asset
classes are better.
14

52

1.

Comparison with 2019

The discount rate is set relative to
risk-free rates so that it varies
according to the economic conditions
in each of the 5,000 projections.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Investment return / discount rate
The approach to calculating the assumed future investment return
differs over the projection period. However, the key decision for the
Fund is to agree the level of prudence being adopted in setting the
underlying assumptions within these approaches.

Years 0-20:
Risk-based calculations over years 0-20 allowing for timing of
cashflows and volatility of investment returns and inflation

53

Years 0-20: Risk-based approach to generate future investment
returns based on the Fund’s investment strategy (using ESS).
Years 20+
Funding objective calculated at
year 20: “discounting” of future
cashflows begins here

Years 20+: projections further into the future lead to greater
uncertainly. For this reason we adopt a ‘straight line’ approach to
discounting the benefit cashflows. The Fund’s discount rate is
derived based on the underlying economic conditions in year 20,
allowing for the Fund’s level of prudence.
Same level of prudence (ie 75%) applies over both periods which
drives the assumptions in line with the Fund’s risk appetite.

0

20

Employer contribution strategies may be set using a different a time horizon (eg 17 years)
however the above principle remains the same

Assumptions of future investment returns are generated in line with the Fund’s agreed prudence level (75%)
15

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Level of prudence
75% prudence level
The prudence level in the future investment return (discount rate) assumption is the likelihood of the
Fund’s investment strategy achieving a given annualised return over the period.
At the Fund’s November 2021 committee meeting, it was agreed to adjust the level of prudence in
the funding assumptions to allow for the now greater certainty around the impact of the McCloud
judgement (than at 2019).
Using the Fund’s current investment strategy and running 5,000 simulations of our proprietary
economic model (ESS), we have generated a distribution of possible future annual investment
returns over the 20 years from the valuation date. From the chart we can derive that:

There is a 50% (best estimate) likelihood of the Fund’s investments achieving at least an annual
return of 6.5% p.a. over the next 20 years;

•

There is a 75% likelihood of the Fund’s investments achieving at least an annual return of 4.4%
p.a. over the next 20 years (ie 75% of outcomes in the chart opposite lie to the right of this
prudence line)

54

•

For the purpose of reporting a funding level and funding surplus/deficit for the 2022 valuation, we
have selected the investment return assumption which has an associated 75% likelihood, namely
4.4% p.a..
The same level of prudence is used for the following 20 years (years 20-40) and the discount rate is
based on the underlying economic conditions in 20 years time.

-5%

0%

4.4% 5% 6.5%

10%

15%

Annualised portfolio return over years 0-20 (% p.a.)

The Fund’s level of prudence helps to balance to the long term solvency of the Fund while seeking to maintain affordable contributions for employers.
16

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Summary - Investment return and discount rate assumptions
Approach to setting assumptions remains the same as at 2019.

• Years 0-20: Investment return assumptions: Risk-based approach to generate future
Approach

Adopting a 75% level of prudence
• The level of prudence will be reduced from 80% (at 2019) to 75%, as agreed at
November 2021 committee.
• At 2019 an additional 5% margin of prudence was included to allow for uncertainty
surrounding the McCloud judgement. There is now greater certainty of the likely impact
of McCloud and we have explicitly allowed for an estimate within the liability calculation
at 2022 – meaning we can remove this 5% additional margin at 2022.

Continue to use the ESS to generate future
investment returns
Set discount rate assumption relative to Fund’s
level of prudence (at 75%)

IMPACTS:
The money you are aiming to hold to meet benefit
payments and the target for investment return

SIGNIFICANCE:
Adopt assumptions in line with the 75% prudence level satisfying the regulatory prudence
requirement.

Outcome at 2022

• Years 0-20: Investment return assumptions An assumed investment return of 4.4%
•

p.a. at 31 March 2022 will be used for the purpose of reporting a funding level
Years 20+: Discount rate assumption: The discount rate assumption will be set relative
to the Fund’s level of prudence based on the underlying economic conditions at year 20

The investment strategy used in our analysis is set out in Appendix 2
17

Increasing the assumed
discount rate decreases the
assets the Fund is aiming to
hold (i.e. the funding target)

55

Level of prudence

•

investment returns, based on Fund’s investment strategy
Years 20+: Discount rate assumption: Assumed future investment returns are
generated for each asset class from the ESS and combined into an overall portfolio
return.

RECOMMENDATION:

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Benefit revaluation and pension increases
Benefit projections were assumed to be in line with CPI projections from the ESS model

2019 approach

CPI inflation will be derived from the updated
calibration of the ESS model
Increased inflation expectations, perhaps due to government actions during Covid-19
pandemic and/or global supply and demand pressures

IMPACTS:
The increase applied to benefits each year

Proposed
approach for the 2022
valuation

No change in approach, but use updated ESS calibration reflecting current market
outlook in the short-medium term

SIGNIFICANCE:

Increase in assumed future
inflation will increase inflation
linked liabilities

18

56

What’s changed since
the previous
valuation?

RECOMMENDATION:

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Salary increases
RECOMMENDATION:
2019 assumption

CPI + 0.5% pa, plus a promotional salary scale
We will only consider the inflationary element here

No allowance made for short-term restraint with no
change from 2019 long-term assumption of
CPI + 0.5% pa (plus a promotional salary scale)

IMPACTS:

After allowing for the expected run-off of the Fund’s final salary (pre-2014) linked benefits,
this gave an assumption of CPI + 0.5%.

The benefits paid to members with service earned
prior to 31 March 2014

2019 approach

Payroll projections used for contribution modelling

Things to consider

19

Run off of final salary liabilities: it is expected that this will be more gradual than at
previous valuations and therefore the impact of any short-term pay restraint is negated
McCloud remedy: many members’ benefits earned between 2014 and 2022 will retain a
link to final salary, further negating the impact of any short-term pay restraint
Impact of Covid-19 on budgets: the impact of the pandemic on public and private sector
finances may mean lower future salary increases
National living wage increases: recent years have seen an above inflation rise in the
National Living Wage (NLW) and an increasing number of employers adopting this as their
minimum wage. Although the NLW is aimed at the lowest paid, these recent increases will
put pressure on salary rates across the whole workforce as employers may feel the need to
keep the increments between staff consistent to adequately reward those with more
responsibility or experience.

The estimated cost of the McCloud remedy

SIGNIFICANCE:

Less significant than in previous
valuations (for example, +0.5%
p.a. change in this assumption
only increases liabilities by
around 1%)

57

At the 2019 valuation, the assumption for ‘inflationary’ increases was based on an
underlying assumption of short-term pay restraint (2.5% to 2020) followed by long-term
increases in line with CPI inflation + 0.5%.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Reporting the funding level
As well as setting contributions, a key output of the valuation is
a measurement of past service liabilities at the valuation date
itself to determine the funding level.
To report a funding level, we need to use a single value for
each assumption (compared to the risk-based approach used
for contribution rate setting).

At the 2019 valuation, we showed how the funding level at the
valuation date varied with the choice of future investment
return and the likelihood of the Fund’s assets yielding at least a
given investment return (based on the ESS simulations).
This was all detailed in this chart. A similar chart will be shown
in your 2022 valuation preliminary results report.

20

58

To ensure consistency between the reported funding level and
employer contribution rates, we still use the ESS to derive the
assumptions used to report the funding level. These
assumptions are summary statistics of the 5,000 individual
simulations used to project forward assets and benefit
payments when setting contributions.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Assumptions for reporting the funding level
2019 approach

Funding level was reported using an assumed investment return assumption of 3.8%, which
had an associated prudence level of 80%
Pension increases were based on market-implied RPI inflation minus 1% p.a.

Proposed approach
for the 2022
valuation

Assumed investment return
Use the same approach as in 2019 with a reduced prudence level as used for the discount
rate, i.e. 75%. This gives an assumed investment return of 4.4% p.a. at 31 March 2022.
Pension increases
Use the median projected CPI inflation from the ESS over the next 20 years (2.7% p.a. as at
31 March 2022). This is a change from 2019 due to gilt market supply/demand distortion
which affects market-implied inflation metrics.
Salary increases
Assume salary increases of 0.5% p.a. above median projected CPI as mentioned above

21

Use prudence level of 75% for the assumed
investment return, and assume pension increases
in line with the median projected CPI inflation
from the ESS

IMPACTS:
Reported funding level.

SIGNIFICANCE:

For reporting and tracking the
funding level only

59

In general the approach is the same as already discussed, except that instead of 5,000
projections we choose a single value from those projections as follows:

RECOMMENDATION:

60

Longevity assumptions

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Breaking it down

How long you expect to
pay a pension to each
member and their
dependants.

Future
improvements

• A snapshot of how long people currently live
• Measured objectively based on recent
mortality data
• Use Club Vita analytics for a tailored best
estimate based on members’ characteristics
• Reflects that people with certain
characteristics tend to live longer (women,
non-ill-health retirees, higher affluence, nonmanual workers)

• How life expectancy increases over time
• Shorter-term expectations reflecting recent
trends
• Longer-term expectations reflecting historical
trends plus evidence that improvements may
be higher or lower than historical trend
• Subjective – wide range of possible
outcomes

Evidence based baseline + informed future judgement
23

61

Your longevity
assumptions

Baseline

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Baseline
Club Vita tables tailored to fit each individual member of the Fund

2019 approach
Current assumptions capture the unique mix of people in your scheme using experience
across the Club Vita database of similar individuals to identify a baseline longevity
assumption for each member. But new evidence on longevity emerges yearly.
Since your last valuation more data has been gathered and VitaCurves have been updated.

Proposed
approach for the
2022 valuation

Adopt the latest member-specific Club Vita base tables – a consistent approach that
captures more up-to-date experience.
We will make an appropriate adjustment to recent data to avoid the assumption being
skewed by excess deaths due to Covid-19 in 2020 and 2021

Other comments…

24

The Covid-19 pandemic has unfortunately resulted in increased morbidity and death since
2020. It is likely that we will see higher than expected death experience since the 2019
valuation. This will result in a decrease in liabilities as the Fund will be paying out less
pension than expected.
However, our initial estimates for a typical LGPS fund suggest that the reduction in liabilities
due to the higher number of deaths will only be a decrease of 0.1-0.2%

Latest member-specific Club Vita mortality base
tables, adjusted to avoid being skewed by Covid19.

IMPACTS:
How long you expect to pay a pension to each
member and their dependants.

SIGNIFICANCE:

Small change in base table to
reflect up-to-date experience

62

What’s changed
since the previous
valuation?

RECOMMENDATION:

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Future improvements - recent experience snapshot
Lower improvements in longevity at population
over recent years, however more affluent
pensioners have not seen the same level of
slowdown. Adopting starting rates based on
population-level data risks understating current
rates of improvement for your members.

•

COVID-19 meant 2020 death rates were
significantly higher at population level than
previous years.

•

The immediate impact from actual experience
over the period to a Fund’s valuation date will be
accounted for in the valuation data. However, for
most schemes this impact is relatively low.

•

There is uncertainty over how the Covid-19
pandemic will impact the course of future
longevity improvements in the medium to longer
term.

•

This uncertainty means schemes should be wary
of weakening mortality assumptions materially
from those adopted previously.

25

Headline rate of improvement (England & Wales)

63

•

Source: Annual improvement in standardised mortality rate, based on data from ONS for England & Wales, as published by the CMI alongside CMI_2020

VALUATION
PROCESS

SUMMARY

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Future improvements - future COVID-19 impact
•
•

LONGER
LIVES

CMI model now allows 2020 and 2021 data
to be treated differently (or ignored),
reflecting that it is an exceptional period not
necessarily indicative of a future mortality
rate trend.

Improved hygiene/
reduced infectious disease deaths

Changes to social care
Immunity of
survivors

Most funds unlikely to make an explicit
allowance at this time

Health policy changes (e.g. obesity)

Second/multiple
waves
New virus strain

Reduced air pollution

64

•

No consensus on the pandemic’s impact on
mortality for pension schemes.

Impaired health
of survivors
Weaker economy

Long-term financial impact

NHS capacity
SHORTER
LIVES

Delayed treatments
SHORTER-TERM
IMPACT

Too early to judge future impact – points to no explicit allowance
26

LONGER-TERM
IMPACT

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Future improvements
2019 approach

The starting point is the Actuarial Profession’s CMI model, which is updated annually with
the latest observed mortality data. At the 2019 valuation we used CMI_2018 with default
smoothing parameters, an initial addition (A parameter) of 0.25% for females/0.5% for males
and long-term rate of improvement of 1.25% pa.
Use the latest available CMI model (CMI_2021) with the parameters adjusted as follows:

Latest available CMI model with an A parameter
of 0.25%, long-term rate of improvement of 1.5%
pa and no weight given to 2020 and 2021 data.

Weight placed on 2020 and 2021 experience (W parameters)
Given that both 2020 and 2021 have been significantly affected by the Covid-19 pandemic,
we would recommend that no weight is placed on data from these years. This will avoid
overstating the impact of the pandemic on long-term rates of improvements, as we have little
evidence of the long-term effects at this stage.

IMPACTS:

Adjustment to observed data to reflect scheme membership (A parameter)
The A parameter allows users to adjust the starting point for the projections in the model to
reflect the difference between the population-wide data used in the model and the Fund’s
own membership. Based on analysis carried out by Club Vita, we recommend using an A
parameter of 0.25%.

SIGNIFICANCE:

Long-term improvement rate (LTR parameter)
Club Vita analysis suggests a reasonable long-term trend of 1.5% annual improvements in
longevity. The strength of this recommendation has increased since the previous valuation
and the arguments to keep it at 1.25% (e.g. the LGPS mechanisms which supposedly
mitigate longevity risk like the Cost Cap) have weakened, so we now recommend using
1.5%.
Further information about the future improvement assumption is set out in Appendix 3
27

How long you expect to pay a pension to each
member and their dependants.

Increase liabilities by around
1-2% vs 2019 assumption
In isolation, life expectancy
will increase by around 0.5
years for females aged 45 (and
c0.2 years for males)

65

Proposed
approach for the
2022 valuation

RECOMMENDATION:

66

Other demographic
assumptions

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Other demographic assumptions
Based on our LGPS experience analysis for the period 2016-2019, we have increased the
likelihood of withdrawals at each age.

Withdrawals
(excluding ill-health)

Promotional salary
scale

Death in service

29

Following the Fund specific analysis, our recommendation is to scale the default assumption
by 120% for full time employees (males & females), 60% for part time employees (males &
females). Please see Appendix 4 for detailed results of the fund-specific demographic
experience analysis.

Adopt proposed demographic assumptions based
on LGPS wide analysis, adjusted for local
experience where appropriate

Our LGPS-level analysis shows the incidence of ill-health retirements is slightly lower than
expected at 2019. We propose leaving the assumption unchanged due to the potential
increase in ill-health retirements as a result of Covid-19.

IMPACTS:

Fund specific analysis shows a slightly lower rate of ill-health retirements than expected.
However, as there are only a small number of data points, we do not believe there is
credible evidence to adjust the assumption.
Our analysis at LGPS-level does not suggest that any change is required to the default
salary scale used at the 2019 valuation.
Analysis of the Fund’s own results does not suggest any reason to alter the standard
assumption.
The incidence of death in service is very low. Our LGPS-level analysis shows that the
incidence of death in service is less than expected at 2019. Whilst there may have been an
increase in the period from 2019 to 2022, we believe that will be temporary. Therefore, we
have reduced the expected rate of death in service by 20% (compared to 2019).
Similarly, Fund specific analysis does not suggest any reason to alter the standard
assumption.

67

Ill-health early
retirements

RECOMMENDATION:

Timing and magnitude of future cashflows.

SIGNIFICANCE:

Minor impact on
liabilities

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Other demographic assumptions
At 2019, the Fund's assumption was 1% of members would elect to take up the 50:50
option.

50:50 take up option

Take up according to the Fund’s 2019 data was 0.75%. It is not clear how the take-up of this
option will change in the future. Therefore, our recommendation would be to keep this
assumption unchanged at 1%.

Adopt proposed demographic assumptions based
on LGPS wide analysis and Fund’s own
experience

IMPACTS:
Timing and magnitude of future cashflows.

Retirement age

At 2019 we assumed members retired in the years leading up to their state pension age,
with a chance of retiring at each age from age 55 based on historical data.

SIGNIFICANCE:
For 2022, the assumption will reflect the earliest age at which a member can retire with all of
their benefits unreduced. We estimate the impact of this change to reduce liabilities by
around 1%.

Cash commutation

At 2019, the Fund assumed that the rate at which members exchanged their pension for
tax-free cash at retirement was 50% of HMRC limits for service to 1 April 2008 and 75%
thereafter.
Based on the Fund’s own experience, we propose to update this assumption to 55% of
HMRC limits for all tranches of benefit.

30

Minor impact on
liabilities

68

Due to benefit changes in the LGPS, there are a complex set of rules determining the age a
member can retire with unreduced benefits. These rules differ by member and the period in
which the benefit was earned. However, by 2022, many of the members with complex
retirement ages will have retired and therefore the assumptions can be simplified.

RECOMMENDATION:

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Other demographic assumptions
This is monitored by Club Vita as part of helping the Fund to manage its longevity risk.

Proportion leaving a
dependant

The chart below shows the percentage of members in the Fund who are outlived by a
partner eligible for an LGPS dependant pension.

Adopt proposed demographic assumptions based
on Club Vita analysis

IMPACTS:
Timing and magnitude of future cashflows.

SIGNIFICANCE:

Minor impact on
liabilities

Source: Club Vita – Leicestershire Pension Fund annual report

31

69

For 2022 we will use the latest available Club Vita analysis to set an assumption appropriate
to your Fund.

RECOMMENDATION:

70

Decisions and
next steps

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

Decisions for today

Agree the prudence level
in the assumptions

33

2
Confirm approach and
choice of financial
assumptions (salary and
pension increases)

3
Agree the life expectancy
assumption, including
how much weight is
placed on recent years
affected by COVID-19

4
Agree all other
demographic assumptions

71

1

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

The valuation process

Employer risk
management

Funding Strategy
Statement

Spring 2022

June / July 2022

August 2022

1

2
Assumptions
advice
Now

34

3

4
Data provision
August 2022

5

Employer results

Valuation sign off

October / November 2022

March 2023

72

Contribution rate
modelling

6
Whole
Fund results
September / October 2022

7

8

9

Employer discussions
December 2022 / January 2023

73

Appendices

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

VALUATION
PROCESS

SUMMARY

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1

Economic Scenario Service (ESS)
The ESS uses statistical models to generate a future distribution of year-on-year returns for each asset class e.g. UK equities. This approach is also used to generate future levels of
inflation (both realised and expected). The ESS is also designed to reflect the correlations between different asset classes and wider economic variables (e.g. inflation).
In the short-term (first few years), the models in the ESS are fitted with current financial market expectations. Over the longer-term, the models are built around our long-term views of
fundamental economic parameters e.g. equity risk premium, credit-spreads, long-term inflation etc.
The ESS is calibrated every month with updated current market expectations (a minor calibration). Every so often (annually at most), the ESS is updated to reflect any changes in the
fundamental economic parameters as a result of change in macro-level long-term expectations (a major calibration). The following table shows the calibration at 31 March 2022.

40
years

20
years

10
years

74

36

16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
Volatility (Disp)
(5 yr)

Cash
0.8%
1.8%
2.9%
1.0%
2.4%
4.0%
1.2%
2.9%
4.9%
1.7%

Index
Linked
Gilts
(medium) UK Equity
-1.9%
-0.4%
0.2%
5.7%
2.4%
11.6%
-1.5%
1.7%
0.1%
6.2%
1.9%
10.6%
-0.3%
3.2%
1.2%
6.7%
3.1%
10.2%
6.8%

18.1%

Private
Equity
-1.2%
9.4%
20.1%
2.4%
10.0%
17.6%
4.7%
10.3%
16.1%

Property
-0.6%
4.4%
9.5%
1.4%
5.0%
8.9%
2.6%
5.5%
8.8%

30.3%

14.9%

Annualised total returns
Diversified
Emerging
Growth Diversified
All World
Direct
Market
Fund
Growth
All World
ex UK
Lending
Debt
Listed
(high
Fund (low Multi Asset
Equity
Equity in
(private
(local
Infrastruct
equity
equity
Credit (sub
GBP
GBP
debt) GBP CorpShort CorpMed
currency) ure Equity
beta)
beta)
inv grade) Hedged Unhedged Hedged
A
ium A
-1.5%
-1.1%
1.1%
1.4%
1.7%
-0.3%
-0.4%
2.7%
1.4%
-0.1%
3.4%
4.9%
5.4%
3.2%
3.5%
5.9%
5.8%
6.0%
2.4%
1.6%
8.6%
10.9%
9.5%
5.1%
5.2%
11.9%
11.9%
9.2%
3.4%
3.2%
0.5%
1.2%
2.8%
2.1%
2.8%
1.9%
1.8%
4.3%
2.0%
1.1%
4.2%
5.6%
6.0%
3.8%
4.4%
6.4%
6.3%
6.8%
3.2%
2.1%
8.1%
10.1%
9.4%
5.7%
6.0%
11.0%
11.1%
9.2%
4.6%
3.2%
1.9%
2.6%
4.0%
2.5%
3.6%
3.5%
3.4%
5.5%
2.4%
2.0%
5.0%
6.1%
6.6%
4.4%
5.3%
6.8%
6.8%
7.7%
3.9%
3.1%
8.2%
9.8%
9.4%
6.5%
7.1%
10.4%
10.4%
10.0%
5.8%
4.4%
15.1%

17.8%

12.6%

5.0%

5.9%

18.2%

18.5%

10.5%

3.0%

6.5%

Inflation
(CPI)
1.6%
3.3%
4.9%
1.2%
2.7%
4.3%
0.9%
2.2%
3.7%

EM Equity
Unhedged
-2.5%
5.8%
14.4%
0.1%
6.3%
12.8%
2.1%
6.8%
11.7%

3.3%

26.0%

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 2

The Fund’s asset allocation
Asset class

The table sets out the long-term strategic asset
allocation we have used for the analysis of the future
expected investment returns for the Fund and the
subsequent discount rate recommendations.

Please note due to rounding (to 1d.p) the sum of the
individual asset classes may not add up to 100%.

A Credit (4 yr maturity)

3.0%

Cash

0.5%

DGF High Beta

2.5%

DGF Low Beta

5.0%

EM Debt Local
EM equities (unhedged)
Global Equites (hedged)

2.5%
5.0%
16.0%

Global Equities (unhedged)

16.0%

Index linked gilt (14 yr maturity)

4.5%

Infrastructure equity (listed)

9.8%

Multi Asset Credit (sub investment grade)

4.0%

Private Equity

5.8%

Private Lending

10.5%

Property

10.0%

UK Equities

5.0%

Total

37

100.0%

75

This asset allocation is as set out in the Fund’s
Investment Strategy Statement.

Allocation

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 3

Additional detail on longevity assumptions
Longevity improvements – initial addition (A parameter)

To help set this parameter, Club Vita have undertaken some analysis
to calculate mortality improvement rates split by socio-economic
group. The results are shown in the table along with the England &
Wales rates within the core CMI_2021 model.
This analysis is consistent with similar analysis performed by the
CMI, which found higher longevity improvements in less deprived
population groups (IMD deciles 8-10). These results are also shown
in the table for comparison.

38

Men

Women

0.9%

0.6%

Club Vita ‘Comfortable’

+0.3% vs. E&W

+0.5% vs. E&W

Club Vita ‘Making-Do’

+0.5% vs. E&W

Club Vita ‘Hard-Pressed’

-0.2% vs. E&W

+0.7% vs. E&W

CMI analysis IMD deciles 8-10
(more affluent)

+0.2% vs E&W

+0.3% vs E&W

England & Wales (core CMI)

+0.5% vs. E&W

Both analyses show that in recent years, more affluent individuals have enjoyed
higher than average improvements in life expectancy. It is these individuals that
also tend to dominate the liabilities of the Fund.
The majority of the Fund’s liabilities relate to those members in the making-do
and comfortable groups, corresponding roughly to IMD deciles 8-10. Based on
the figures above, we recommend using the A parameter to adjust the starting
point in the CMI model by 0.25%.

76

The CMI model is based on England & Wales population mortality
data. Evidence suggests that most members of an occupational
pension scheme (e.g. the LGPS) have experienced higher
improvements in life expectancy than the general population in
recent years. The A parameter allows users to adjust the starting
point for the projections in the model to reflect this differing
experience.

Annualised mortality improvement
(2013 – 2018)

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 3

Additional detail on longevity assumptions
Longevity improvements – long-term rate (LTR)

We need to consider how (or if) the improvements we have seen in
recent years will continue into the long-term. As a starting point, the
recent trend (which is arguably the most informative for us) suggests a
long-term rate of between 1.25% and 1.5% p.a..
The table on the right summarises possible future drivers of change in
the long-term rate of improvement compared to this level.
Slide 24 also included factors specific to Covid-19, and Club Vita have
also considered Covid-19 and Climate Change in detail.

Lower future improvements

Stronger government intervention – e.g.
to reduce alcohol or red meat
consumption

Less scope for future ‘gentrification’ – i.e.
the change in affluence levels of
pensioners can’t keep increasing at the
rate it has done

Medical innovation – as we have seen
with the development of new Covid-19
vaccines. Could also include “super
drugs” that tackle multiple diseases at
once

Smoking – the benefit from widespread
quitting has already happened and can’t
happen again

Anti-ageing treatments and regenerative
medicine – could become a reality

Obesity – rates may increase leading to
poorer health in retirement

Climate change – could lead in the UK at
least to milder climates and fewer coldweather deaths

Super-bugs – antibiotic-resistant
diseases could make routine medical
procedures and treatments untenable
Climate change – could lead to resource
scarcity, higher food prices, less
availability of fresh food, etc

39

77

Life expectancy has improved consistently since at least the turn of the
20th century thanks to many factors such as better public health,
improved medical treatments, better diet and lower rates of smoking.

Higher future improvements

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 4

Demographic assumptions analysis
The following slides summarise the results of your Fund’s demographic experience
over the period 2016-2019, which we have used as the basis for adjusting our default
LGPS-wide assumptions to your own Fund's profile.

The following assumptions are covered in this section:
• Withdrawal from active service
• Death in service
• Promotional salary scale
• Ill-health retirements

Key to charts
The charts on the following slides use the following colour scheme:
• The black line shows actual experience seen in your Fund
• The blue line shows the expected occurrences based on our LGPS-wide default
assumption
• (Where applicable) The pink line shows the adjusted assumption which we
recommend for your Fund
40

The following slide shows how withdrawal experience in your Fund
(black line) compares with our default LGPS-wide assumption (blue
line), alongside the scaled assumption we propose to use for the 2022
valuation (pink line).
The analysis shows that in general the pattern of withdrawals by age
does fit the default assumption, but that overall withdrawal rates were
slightly lower in your Fund compared to the LGPS average. The
default assumption has therefore been scaled to better fit your Fund’s
own experience to get the recommended assumption for your Fund.

78

The default assumptions are based on analysis of a combined dataset of all our
E&W LGPS clients (around half of all funds). This gives us sufficient data to set
robust assumptions even for rare events like ill-health retirements. Where there is
sufficient data to justify it, we have proposed adjusting the default assumption to
better reflect your Fund’s membership profile.

Withdrawal from active service

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 4

Demographic assumptions analysis - withdrawal

79

41

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 4

Demographic assumptions analysis – ill-health retirements
There were few Tier 1 Ill-health retirements in the period in question
which means it is not possible to make a credible adjustment to the
default assumption.
There were even fewer Tier 2 cases (16 in total) so the analysis has not
been shown.

42

80

Without sufficient evidence to justify a change we recommend using
our default assumption for the 2022 valuation for both T1 and T2 illhealth retirements.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 4

Demographic assumptions analysis – promotional salary scale
Separating out promotional and inflationary salary awards is very
difficult, particularly when breaking it down by age and sex. Our
analysis assumed that average inflationary increases over 2016-2019
were 1.3% p.a., so we have stripped this out and shown any remaining
increases versus our promotional pay scale (which is the same for men
and women).

Based on the analysis we do not believe there is sufficient evidence to
justify a departure from our default assumption.

43

81

Apart from at lower ages where there are only a handful of members
and the analysis is unreliable, the general pattern of promotional
increases does approximately fit our default assumption (higher
increases at younger ages). The fit is clearer for men than women.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 4

Demographic assumptions analysis – death in service
There were very few deaths in service in the period in question which
means it is not possible to make a credible adjustment to the default
assumption.
We therefore recommend using our default LGPS-wide assumption for
the 2022 valuation.

82

44

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 5

Reliances and limitations
This paper is addressed to Leicestershire County Council as Administering Authority to
the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund. It has been prepared in our capacity as
actuaries to the Fund and is solely for the purpose of discussing the assumptions for the
2022 formal valuation and setting out our recommendations. It has not been prepared for
any other purpose and should not be used for any other purpose.

The results of the Fund specific demographic assumptions analysis are wholly dependent
on the valuation data provided to us for the 2019 valuation and the assumptions that we
use in our calculations.

The assumptions in this document are for the Fund’s ongoing employers. Different
assumptions may be used for some employers (e.g. more prudent assumed investment
return or more prudent longevity improvements assumptions) in particular circumstances.
If required, these will be discussed and agreed as part of the 2022 valuation process and
will be set out in the Funding Strategy Statement.

45

83

The Administering Authority is the only user of this advice. Neither we nor Hymans
Robertson LLP accept any liability to any party other than the Administering Authority
unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing. The advice or any part of it
must not be disclosed or released in any medium to any other third party without our prior
written consent. In circumstances where disclosure is permitted, the advice may only be
released or otherwise disclosed in its entirety fully disclosing the basis upon which it has
been produced (including any and all limitations, caveats or qualifications).

The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to this advice, and
have been complied with where material and to a proportionate degree:
TAS100; and
TAS300.

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 6

Glossary
Explanation

50:50 option

An option for LGPS members to pay half contributions and earn half the retirement benefit (pre-retirement protection benefits are unreduced).

Baseline
longevity

The rates of death (by age and sex) in a given group of people based on current observed data.

Club Vita

A firm of longevity experts who Hymans Robertson partner with for longevity analysis. They combine data from thousands of pension schemes
and use it to create detailed baseline longevity assumptions at member-level, as well as insight on general longevity trends and future
improvements.

Commutation

The option for members to exchange part of their annual pension for a one-off lump sum at retirement. In the LGPS, every £1 of pension
exchanged gives the member £12 of lump sum. The amounts that members commute is heavily influenced by tax rules which set an upper
limit on how much lump sum can be taken tax-free.

CPI inflation

The annual rate of change of the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). The CPI is the UK government’s preferred measure of inflation and is the
measure used to increase LGPS (and all other public sector pension scheme) benefits each year.

Demographic
assumptions

Assumptions concerned with member and employer choices rather than macroeconomic or financial factors. E.g. retirement age, promotional
salary scales etc. Demographic assumptions typically determine the timing of benefit payments.

Discount rate

A number used to place a single value on a stream of future payments, allowing for expected future investment returns. At the valuation the
discount rate is used to calculate the value of remaining benefit payments at the end of a given time horizon (e.g. 20 years). It is expressed as
a prudent margin above the risk-free rate.

ESS

Economic Scenario Service - Hymans Robertson’s proprietary economic scenario generator used to create thousands of simulations of future
inflation, asset class returns, interest rates etc

46

84

Term

SUMMARY

VALUATION
PROCESS

WHY AND HOW
WE SET
ASSUMPTIONS

FINANCIAL
ASSUMPTIONS

LONGEVITY
ASSUMPTIONS

OTHER
DEMOGRAPHIC
ASSUMPTIONS

DECISIONS &
NEXT STEPS

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 6

Glossary
Explanation

Inflation

The term for that prices in general tend to increase over time. It can be measured in different ways, with different measures using a different
“basket” of goods and using different mathematical formulae.

Liability/ies

An employer’s liability value is the single value at a given point in time of all the benefit payments expected to be made in future to all members
connected to that employer. The benefit payments are projected using demographic and financial assumptions and the liability is calculated
using a discount rate.

Longevity
improvements

An assumption about how rates of death will change in future. Typically we assume that death rates will fall and life expectancies will improve
over time, continuing the long-running trend.

Prudence

To be prudent means to err on the side of caution in the overall set of assumptions. We build prudence into the choice of discount rate by
choosing an assumption with a Prudence Level of more than 50%. All other assumptions aim to be best estimate.

Prudence Level

A percentage indicating the likelihood that a given discount rate assumption will be achieved in practice, based on the ESS model. The higher
the Prudence Level, the more prudent the discount rate is.

RPI inflation

The annual rate of change of the Retail Prices Index. RPI is no longer linked to any LGPS benefits. It still has many legacy uses, notably to
determine the payments to holders of index-linked government bonds.

Time horizon
(or Horizon)

The period over which we require each employer in the Fund to reach full funding. The Time Horizon is typically long (up to 20 years) for
employers who we expect to be in the Fund for the long-term (e.g. local authorities and academy schools) and shorter for employers who are
expected to leave (e.g. contractors or employers who don’t admit new staff to the LGPS).

Withdrawal

Refers to members leaving the scheme before retirement. These members retain an entitlement to an LGPS pension when they retire, but are
no longer earning new benefits.

47

85

Term

This page is intentionally left blank

87

Agenda Item 9

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10TH JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
LGPS CENTRAL PRIVATE MARKETS UPDATE
AND LGIM ECONOMIC UPDATE
Purpose of the Report
1.

To provide the Committee with background information on the Leicestershire
Pension Funds (the Fund) private markets investments with LGPS Central
(Central). A presentation (Appendix A) will be used at the meeting by
representatives from LGPS Central.

2.

To provide the Committee with a economic briefing delivered by Legal and General
investment managers (LGIM). A presentation (Appendix B) will be used at the
meeting by representatives from LGIM.
Background

2.

The Fund invests in a number of private market investments with LGPS Central.
These include the following products:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

3.

LGPS Central Core / core plus infrastructure
LGPS Central private credit low return 2021
LGPS Central private credit high return 2021
LGPS Central private equity 2018
LGPS Central private equity 2021

Many of the investments are still in the investment period and Central are calling
capital from the Fund as and when the underlying managers require capital to
invest. The table below best describes the current investments which
representatives from Central will present on.

88

Name

LGPS
Central
Infrastructure
core / core
plus

LGPS
Central
private credit
low return
2021

LGPS
Central
private credit
high return
2021

LGPS
Central
private
equity 2018

LGPS
Central
private
equity 2021

Open /
Commitment
closed ended

£70m

£100m

£60m

£10m

£30m

Target return

Open

CPI + 3.5% pa
(income yield
of 3-4%)

Closed

Absolute return
target 6-8%
Internal rate of
return (IRR)

Closed

Absolute return
target 12-14%
Internal rate of
return (IRR)

Current called

£21,897,517

£6,100,081

£9,751,798

Estimated
time to call
remaining
commitment

When capital is to be
repaid, investment life

c.12-18
months

This is an open-ended
fund where redemption
requests can be made
post the four year hard
lock up period.

c.12-18
months

10 year funds with
quarterly distributions
of yield; loans typically
5-7 years with WALs
of 3½ years.

c.12-18
months

10 year funds with
quarterly distributions
of yield; loans typically
3-5 years with WALs
of 2 years.

Closed

FTSE all world
index +4%

£5,986,573

c.24-36
months

Currently has a 22%
DPI, further
distributions expected
this quarter (Q2). Bulk
of returns expected in
years 5-8

Closed

FTSE all world
index +4%

No drawdowns
to date

c.60
months

10-year fund life where
distributions are
typically expected from
years 4/5 onwards

4. The update from Central’s private markets team will cover all investments alongside
positive and negatives affecting each private market, the future plans for each
market and ESG within private markets.
5. LGIM will present an economic briefing virtually covering broad themes affecting the
financial markets which will include UK and international equity performance,
interest rates, inflation and their views on the future direction of markets.
6. The Fund has a sizeable passive equity holding with LGIM totalling c£975m (or
c17% of total Fund assets) at 31st March 2022. The six geographic funds each
track a relevant benchmark for the geographic region they invest in. The regions
covered are, UK, North America, Japan, Europe (ex UK), Pacific (ex Japan) and
emerging markets.

89
7. More information regarding the holdings and performance can be found within the
LGIM manager report included within the private section of today’s agenda.
Recommendation
8. The Local Pension Committee is asked to note the report.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
9. None
Appendices
Appendix A - LGPS Central Multi Manager Fund Presentation
Appendix B – LGIM markets presentation

Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel:0116 305 6199
Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel:0116 305 7668
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments
Tel: 0116 305 1449
Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Appendix A

Leicestershire Pension Committee

10 June 2022

91

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED – PRIVATE MARKETS UPDATE

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Agenda
Private Markets Update

• Private Markets Overview
• Infrastructure
92

• Private Equity
• Private Debt

• ESG within Private Markets

2

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Private Markets Overview
93

Portfolio Overviews

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Platform Overview
Commitments as at 30 April 2022

PE 2018

Infrastructure

Primary

Co-inv

Core

VA

20

2

80

10

Local Authority 1

Credit

Co-inv

Single Inflation
40

Real

340

PE 2021

Lower

Higher

170

Local Authority 2

Primary

Co-inv

Total

50

10

722

50

Leicestershire

10

Local Authority 4

10

70
5

Local Authority 5
10

Local Authority 7

100

100

115

45

59

7

60

20

45
120

60

60

100

30

180

270
20

30

216
260

45

45

40

540

200

125

100

Local Authority 8
Total

260

1,345
0

150

Vintage

107

257

384

62

0

120

520

0

566

1,025

305

1,850

Source: LGPS Central Limited

•

Three asset classes, 12 sleeves 39 separate Partner Fund commitments

•

25 investments to date, c.35 by year end

•

Significant commitments pending for real assets credit and infrastructure

•

Direct property live in late summer and Indirect by year end

320

130

450

3,123

94

Local Authority 6

50

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Funds Overview
Launched

Commitments (31/03/22)

Sub-committed
(31/03/22)

Called
(31/12/21)

Net IRR
(31/12/21)

Investments to date

Primary 2018

Jan 2019

£150m

100%

54%

31.5%

5 investments

Co-Investments 2018

Jan 2019

£107m

100%

92%

48%

5 investment

Primary 2021

Sept 2021

£320m

33%

0%

n.m.

3 investments

Co-Investments 2021

Sept 2021

£130m

28%

28%

n.m.

2 investments

Infrastructure Funds

Launched

Commitments (31/03/22)

Sub-committed
(31/03/22)

Called
(31/12/21)

Net IRR

Investments to date

Core/Core Plus

April 2021

£383.5m

67%

14%

n.m.

3 investments

Value Add/Opportunistic

April 2021

£61.5m

34%

6.6%

n.m.

1 investment

Single Asset

Feb 2022

£120m

100%

0%

7.3% (6.6%
cash yield)

1 investment

Co-Investment

Feb 2022

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Private Credit

Launched

Commitments due later in
2022
Commitments (31/03/22)

Sub-committed
(31/03/22)

Called
(31/12/21)

Net IRR

Investments to date

Stable Returns (CP III)

July 2021

£440m

0%

n/a

n.m.

n/a

Real Assets (CP IV)

First close due later in
2022

£480m

0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

Lower Return (CP II)

July 2021

£1025m

66%

2.4%

n.m.

4 investment

Higher Return (CP I)

July 2021

£305m

33%

8.3%

n.m.

1 investment

Better relative
value in the US
& South
America

95

Private Equity Funds

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Private Equity
Portfolio Overview
96

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Market Outlook – Private Equity

✓ Asset class continues to deliver strong relative returns
✓ Investor appetite for PE remains high, but allocation
constraints due in part to the ‘denominator’ effect are
beginning to bite

✓ 2021 also broke the $1bn average deal size for the
first time ever
✓ Increasing sector & sub-sector specialisation

Supply chain issues and staffing shortages could
further impact new investment activity as well as
current investments
Record $3.4tn of unspent capital remains (largely
at upper end of the market & ~2.5 years deployment)
Deal activity amongst GPs is increasing with mergers,
public listings and acquisitions all ticking up – expect
further activity in this space

✓ Less reliance on leverage to generate returns
Pace of fund-raising and level of fund sizes is a concern

97

✓ 2021 was another strong year for PE with its secondbest ever fundraising year

Pricing remain high but deal activity continues to be
robust - increased inflation and rising interest rates
could see deal volumes drop

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Future PE Vintages
Impact for LPF:

•

•

Larger commitments

•

Fewer number of investments

•

Greater visibility on fund construction

•

Development of underlying investments

Current arrangements:
- 18 month fundraising cycle
- 18 month investment period
- 8-9 primary investments

•

Annual allocations frequently outside 18 month cycle

•

Short investment period creates pressure and means best
managers may be missed

•

Size makes cost negotiations challenging

•

Frequent cycles increases number of commitments

•

A three year cycle (with three years of allocations) would achieve
appropriate scale, reduce fund raising work, reduce number of
commitments and provide more flexibility

Potential areas for future investment:
Secondaries, Long term capital, Venture, UK only, Energy transition, Impact, Regional focus

98

Larger vintages, raised less often?

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Infrastructure Funds
99

Portfolio Overview

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Market Outlook – Infrastructure
✓ Infrastructure investments viewed as important for
economic recovery

Transport and logistics still recovering from covid and
supply chain disruption

✓ Current inflationary environment and low interest
rates have created heightened interest

Trend towards fewer but larger funds. However
managers are attempting to be more investor friendly
with lower management fee rates and fairer
performance fee structures

✓ Thematic shift towards assets with ‘infrastructure
characteristics’

✓ Energy transition is growing fast including renewables,
EV charging and energy storage

100

✓ Demand for digital infrastructure i.e. datacentres,
fibre and broadband

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Core/Core Plus Exposures (31/12/21)
Sector
Social Infrastructure
16%

Geography
Renewable
Power
22%

North America
6%

Australia
3%

Colombia
1%

101

Transport
27%

Fibre Networks
2%

Utilities
4%

Smart Metres
4%

Environmental
Services
25%

Source: Core/Core Plus Quarterly Report (31/12/21)

NB: Aiming for an allocation of 20% – 30% in UK based assets

UK
90%

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Value Add/Opportunistic Exposures (31/12/21)

Geography

Sector

Other Energy
22%

Canada
5%

Onshore Wind
32%

Taiwan Korea
3%
4%

Spain
7%

USA
35%

102

Thermal
3%
UK
17%
Solar PV
11%

Offshore Wind
32%

Source: Value Add/Opportunistic Quarterly Report (31/12/21)

Australia
29%

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Future Plans
• Two more commitments into the Core/Core Plus fund in June 2022 (1 x European fund, 1 x UK
solar fund)

• Investment into the UK Solar fund could potentially qualify for levelling up and/or net zero
agendas

• Next commitment into Value Add/Opportunistic Fund (1 x global fund) in May 2022
• Continue to source and diligence investments for the Core/Core Plus and Value Add/Opportunistic
sleeves to achieve targeted parameters
• Work with Partner Funds if new products are required

103

• Top up of existing commitments

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Private Debt
Portfolio Overview
104

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Market Outlook – Private Debt

✓ Investor demand remains strong

100%

✓ Record fundraising in 2021, market now at $1.2tn
50%

✓ Switch in Europe less prominent but follows the same
trend
0%

✓ Non Banks active across senior acquisition finance
market and credit opportunities

Banks
Non Banks (Institutional lenders)

105

✓ Graph illustrates US market retrenchment of
traditional bank lending.

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Market Outlook – Private Debt
Higher Return
Lending by traditional banks to middle market
companies continues to retrench, accelerated by
volatility

✓ Credit opportunity funds focus on relatively short
lends, 3-5 years, applied to viable companies that
nevertheless cannot access traditional capital markets
through either market dislocation or company specific
drivers

In-house credit teams taking a ‘risk off’ approach.

✓ Complexity premiums drive returns. Equity upside in
the form of warrants and options
✓ Floating rate structures aid achievement of returns

Dislocation tending to correct more quickly potentially
reducing for landscape for credit strategy funds
Manager selection narrowed by use of leverage at fund
level

106

✓ The current market environment remains favourable
for opportunistic funds, and as volatility continues,
the opportunities to deploy capital should broaden

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Market Outlook – Private Debt
Lower Return
On the downside, higher interest rates, supply chain
issues and inflationary pressures serve to reduce
lending viability of borrowers

✓ The current market environment remains favourable
as strong US economic tailwinds remain, and record
levels of private equity dry powder bode well for
future investment and portfolio performance.

Higher energy costs puts European companies at a
competitive disadvantage

✓ Investors looking for yield still see private debt as an
attractive asset class

Default rates – currently at record lows of 0.7% - to
trend towards long term average of 2.5%

107

✓ Lower return funds dominated by direct lenders
providing debt to sponsor backed (e.g. private equity)
companies

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Future Plans
✓ Greater cross pool co-operation – scale and non-scale benefits
✓ Leverage – enhancing returns at fund level by investing in modestly levered managers
✓ Broaden the types of investable strategies e.g. secondaries for rapid diversification and deployment
✓ Open vs close-ended

108

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

ESG within Private Markets
109

Update

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

RI&E Integration in Private Markets
RIIS OVERVIEW

RI Beliefs

• Private Markets are an area in which investors can take exposure to
businesses that are directly exploiting sustainable trends.
• ESG integration leads to better outcomes.

•

Stewardship

Transp. & Discl.

•

• RI monitoring of funds and co-investments undertaken as part of the regular
monitoring process, or more frequently where risks are flagged

• RI included in regular reporting internally (to Quarterly Review Committee)
• External reporting (to partner funds) to be provided annually

110

Selection

5-pillar framework: Policy, People, Process, Performance, Transparency &
Collaboration
GRESB framework

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Climate Risk Management in Private Markets
METHODOLOGIES

Scenario Analysis

Net Zero Zeal Tool

Climate Scenario Analysis to
examine the return implications
across different temperature
scenarios. Includes 1.5°C

ESG Data Convergence Project

GHG
Emissions

Renewable
Energy

Board
Diversity

Work-related
injuries

Net new
hires

Employee
engagement

111

• Net Zero rating that follows 6 consecutive
tests.
• Measures Net Zero alignments, which is
reliant on a firm having a website and publicly
available information.

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Carbon Footprinting in Private Markets

Private Credit

• To be included in the ESG Data Convergence Project in
future years

Step 1

Step 2

Infrastructure

• Expectation set at the due diligence stage

Step 3

Step 4

Benchmarking

Estimation

Annual
Requests

112

Private Equity

• ESG Data Convergence Project – first round of data
received for 2020
• ESG Data Tool procurement – August completion
• Co-Investment data collection – August completion

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Appendices
113

PE Primary Partnership 2018 LP
Continued steady performance

Investment Performance
Performance
Since
Inception
LGPS Central PE Primary
Partnership 2018 LP

31.5%

Target
Since
Inception
20.2%

Relative
vs
Target
+11.3%

Gros
MOIC

1.3x

Gross
IRR

32.5%

Commitment

Underlying
Companies

Asia Fund VII

£30.5m

21

89%

1.6x

41.5%

USA Fund VIII

£26.0m

9

29%

1.4x

54.4%

European Fund V

£31.7m

12

55%

1.3x

20.4%

Global (US HQ ) Fund VIII

£31.6m

19

27%

1.3x

62.6%

Global (EU HQ) Fund VII

£30.6m

15

69%

1.2x

17.1%

£150.3m

76

54%

1.3x

32.5%

Source: LGPS Central Limited

Capital
Called

Gross
MOIC

Net IRR

40%

1.4

30%

1.2

20%

1.0

10%

0.8

0%

0.6

-10%

0.4

-20%

0.2

-30%

-

-40%
Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2019 2019 2019 2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021

Gross
IRR

•

Investment period for three funds have ended for
management fees

•

Capital called to date is now 59.9%

•

Distributions now stand at 21.8% of paid-in capital

114

Portfolio

Net Multiple

Net IRR

1.6

Net Multiple

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

PE Co-Investments Partnership 2018 LP
Continuing strong performance

Investment Performance
Performance
Since Inception

Fund
LGPS Central PE CoInvestments Partnership
2018 LP

48.1%

Net IRR

Target
Since
Inception

Relative
vs Target

18.9%

Gross
MOIC

+29.2%

Gross
IRR

2.4x

48.4%

40%

2.0

30%
1.5
20%
10%

0.5

Project Pet

Europe

Medical
Services

£20.7m

4.4x

103.5%

Project Betty

North America

Waste

£20.7m

2.6x

44.2%

Project Spider

Europe

Software

£15.0m

2.0x

30.6%

Project Agora

Asia

Financial
Services

£20.5m

1.5x

19.7%

Project Biliken

USA

Medical
Services

£24.2m

1.4x

19.0%

£101.1m

2.4x

48.4%

Source: LGPS Central Limited

Commitment

Gross
MOIC

Sector

0%

-

Gross IRR

-10%

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2019 2019 2019 2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021

•

92.0% invested (£98.5m)

•

Project Pet is a standout performer, but others
developing well

•

TVPI now stands at 2.4x and DPI at 73.3%

•

Further partial realisations expected

115

1.0

Geography

60%
50%

2.5

Portfolio
Fund

Net Multiple

Net IRR

3.0

Net Multiple

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

PE Primary Partnership 2021 LP
Portfolio building steadily

Intended portfolio construction
Sector

Strategy

Currency

Geographic and strategic targets

Amount

£m

£m

Projection

Target

85.0

27%

30%

157.5

49%

50%

77.4

24%

20%

319.9

100%

100%

Europe

114.7

36%

35%

Asia

100.0

31%

30%

US

105.3

33%

35%

319.9

100%

100%

Stage
Strategy

Europe
Tech

Small

GBP

35

35.0

Committed

France PE Fund VI

Tech

Mid

EUR

35

29.7

DD

ANO

Gen

Small

GBP

20

20.0

Reviewing

Small

GBP

38

38.0

ANO

Small buy-out
Mid-Market buy-out
Large buy-out

Region

114.7
Asia

Asia Fund II

Gen

Large

USD

53

39.8

Committed

Asia Fund VIII

Gen

Large

USD

50

37.6

Committed

Mid

USD

30

22.6

ANO

100.0

•

On target to achieve geographic and strategic parameters

•

One European fund in due diligence, others undergoing
scoring review

•

Material fee savings negotiated with UK PE firm, despite
another LGPS pool having agreed to a higher fee level

US
ANO

Mid

USD

70

52.6

ANO

Mid

USD

70

52.6
105.3

Total commitments
Source: LGPS Central Limited

9

319.9

116

UK PE Fund VI

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

PE Co-Investments Partnership 2021 LP
A cautious approach to opportunities

Portfolio
Sponsor(s)

Geography

Sector

Commitment

Project Mozart

Three Global
Buyout Firms

US

Healthcare

$25m

Project Apple

Global
Buyout Firm

•

Opportunities declined:
- Early-stage digital bank, UK, UK Financial Services Firm

- Automotive software, Switzerland, Global Buyout Firm
Asia

Technology

$20m

- Café chain, South Korea, Global Buyout Firm

Source: LGPS Central Limited

- Tea producer, emerging markets, European Buyout Firm
•

Investments under consideration:

- Software, US, European Buyout Firm

- Logistics, Japan, Global Buyout Firm

- Fund transfer, global, US Buyout Firm
- Software, global, Global Buyout Firm

117

Company

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Infrastructure
Fund Portfolios
Fund

Commitment
Date

Geography

Sector

Industry

Commitment

Stage

Core / Core Plus Infrastructure LP
June 2021

Global

Diversified

Diversified

£83.2m

Committed

Investment 2

November
2021

UK

Diversified

Diversified

£75m

Committed

Investment 3

March 2022

Global

Diversified

Diversified

£100m

Committed

Due Diligence
1

Planned for
June 2022

Global

Diversified

Diversified

£70 - £100m

DD

Due Diligence
2

Planned for
June 2022

UK

Renewables

Solar

£50m

DD

Value Add / Opportunistic Infrastructure LP
Investment 1

April 2021

Global

Renewables

Energy

£21.4m

Committed

Due Diligence
1

Planned for
May 2022

Global

Diversified

Diversified

£35m

DD

Diversified

£120m

Committed

Single asset
Investment 1

February
2022

Source: LGPS Central Limited

Global

Diversified

• Value Add / Opportunistic Infrastructure
LP investment target CPI + 5%

118

Investment 1

• Core / Core Plus Infrastructure LP
investment target CPI + 3.5%

• Investments 1 and 3 are open-ended
funds. Majority of commitments expected
to be drawn in Q2/Q3 2022
• Investment 2 is expected to be fully drawn
by end 2022

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Core/Core Plus Portfolio
Current Exposures

The following information is based on the first three investments as at 31/3/2022

Source: LGPS Central

Existing Portfolio
vs
Target

5.0% - 10.0%
20.0% - 45.0%
10.0% - 25.0%
0.0% - 20.0%
5.0% - 20.0%
5.0% - 20.0%
0.0% - 15.0%

12%
12%
25%
22%
11%
12%
5%

>= 70.0%
< 30.0%

71%
29%

>= 50.0%
< 50.0%

29%
71%

20.0% - 30.0%
20.0% - 30.0%
20.0% - 30.0%
10.0% - 20.0%
5.0% - 15.0%

30%
24%
36%
5%
5%

119

Sector
Energy (traditional)
Energy Renewables & Transition
Utilities
Transport
Social
Telecommunications
Other
Open vs closed
Open
Closed
Currency
GBP Funds
Non GBP Funds
Geography (look through)
UK
Europe
US
Asia
Other

Target

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Co-Investment Fund Overview
Fund launched - February 2022

•

Benchmark – CPI + 3.5%

•

Lower management fees often with no
performance fee

•

5 year lock in period

•

Quarterly subscriptions

Strategy focus – Core/Core Plus (minimum
50%) via passive investments

•

Annual redemptions

•

Small investments (usually <5% of total value)

•

•

Significant opportunities available from existing fund
managers

OECD focus

•

Illustrative Portfolio
Asset Type

Geographic Focus

Description

Electricity Distribution

UK

Bilateral discussions for a 25% - 33% stake in a UK Power Network. Will provide regulated and contracted
cashflows with inflation linkage

Water Company

UK

Bilateral discussions for a significant minority stake in one of top performing UK water companies. Regulated
cashflows with inflation linkage

Renewables

Sweden

Operational wind farm portfolio. Mainly merchant power prices at present but will be exploring PPA strategies

Battery Manufacture

UK

Development of the UK's largest gigafactory in Northumberland producing batteries for electric vehicles

120

•

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

Private Credit
Fund Portfolios

Fund

Commitment
Date

Region

Strategy

Commitment

Underlying
Companies

Called
To Date

Credit Partnership I LP (“Higher” return, 12-14% net)
Fund 1

Q4 2021

Global

£100m

Order of commitments driven by
closing dates or first close discounts

14

£25.9m

•

Significant scale economies being
achieved, but also further savings
through direct negotiation

Credit Partnership II LP (“Lower” return, 6-8% net)

Fund 2

Q3 2021

US

Mid Market
Direct Lending

£72.7m

31

£15.4m

•

Approximately £1m of fund life nonscale savings achieved so far

Fund 3

Q4 2021

EU

Mid Market
Direct Lending

£200m

0

£Nil

•

Fund 4

Q4 2021

EU

Mid Market
Direct Lending

Co-ordinating with B2C and Brunel to
maximise negotiation impact

£200m

0

£Nil

•

Mid Market
Direct Lending

£185m

CP III and CP IV commitments
undergoing due diligence

Fund 5

Source: LGPS Central Limited

Q2 2022

US

0

£Nil

121

Credit
Opportunities

•

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

DISCLAIMER:
LGPS Central Disclaimer
IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes. Any opinions, forecasts or estimates
herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this report, that is subject to change without notice. It does not constitute an offer or an invitation by or
on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or sell any security. Any reference to past performance is not a guide to the future.

This document may not be produced, either in whole or part, without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited.
Share Class and Benchmark performance displayed in GBP.
Performance is shown on a Net Asset Value (NAV) basis, with gross income reinvested where applicable.
All information is prepared as of 10 June 2022
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only.

LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England. Registered No: 10425159.
Registered Office: Mander House, Mander Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB

122

The information and analysis contained in this publication have been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable but LGPS Central
Limited does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability from loss arising from the use
thereof. The opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are solely those of the author.

C O N F I D E N T I A L

Classified as Confidential

123

“One Central
team, working
in partnership
to invest with
purpose and
deliver superior
returns”

This page is intentionally left blank

25 MAY 2022

D002627

Appendix B

Asset Allocation: Macro Update
Leicestershire CC Pension Fund

FOR PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS ONLY.
NOT TO BE DISTRIBUTED TO RETAIL CLIENTS.
CAPITAL AT RISK.

125

Tim Armitage – Multi-Asset Fund Manager
James Sparshott – Head of Local Authorities

Confidential

Growth and inflation mix putting central banks under pressure
Cyclical risks increasing, with our recession indicators flashing more warning signals, but central bank hands
are tied by rampant inflation

Geopolitical uncertainty

Inflation

•

Short-term effect of war and possible escalation

•

Commodity channel impacted by Russian invasion

•

Long-term impacts widespread

•

China’s COVID lockdowns threaten supply chain again

•

Volatility elevated, investor sentiment weak

•

Backdrop of tight labour markets and elevated inflation

2

4

3

126

1

Growth and recession risks

Policy response

•

Short-term growth tailwinds, but into late cycle

•

Banks continuing hawkish message

Recession risks elevated, especially into 2023

•

Scope for significant policy divergence

High uncertainty in outlook, stagflation risk looms

•

Yield curves flirting with inversion

•
•

1

Source: LGIM, as at 12 May 2022.
Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

D002627

Reassessment of outlook warrants a reduction of risk and selling into strength

Confidential

Fasten your seatbelts – how bad will the landing be?
The Fed hopes for a soft landing, but with a tight labour market, high inflation and an energy crisis, the
chance of success is slim. No debt boom, and modest inflation expectations are the saving grace

Start

End

Change In Fed
Funds Effective
Rate

Sep-65

Nov-66

1.8%

Jul-67

Aug-69

5.4%

Jan-70

-0.6%

Feb-72

Jul-74

9.6%

Dec-73

-2.7%

Jan-77

Apr-80

13.0%

Feb-80

-2.2%

Jul-80

Jan-81

10.1%

Aug-81

-2.1%

Feb-83

Aug-84

3.1%

Mar-88

Apr-89

3.3%

Dec-93

Apr-95

3.1%

Jan-99

Jul-00

1.9%

Jan-22

-0.1%

Jun-04

Jun-06

4.0%

Aug-22

-3.8%

Oct-15

Jan-19

2.3%

Mar-20

-10.1%

Mar-22

?

0.6%

?

?

Rate Hiking Episode

Economic Conditions
Recession Start

Real GDP Drop
Unemployment*

Inflation*

Debt Boom

SOFT LANDING

Aug-90

-1.4%

SOFT LANDING

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg, as at 12 May 2022
Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

127

SOFT LANDING

Economy is likely running too hot to engineer a soft landing
2

Energy Spike

Confidential

Upping the ante on our recession call
Economy was already in late cycle before the Ukraine invasion

Recession probabilities
100%
90%

55% chance of
US recession
by 2H23

70%
60%

128

Recession Probability

80%

50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
1H23

2H23

1H24

2H22

1H23

US

Euro area
April Roadmap

3

2H23

1H24

2H22

1H23

2H23

1H24

UK

May Roadmap

Source: LGIM, as at 4 May 2022. Recession probabilities show the probability of two consecutive quarters of negative growth occurring in or before the given dates
1 Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

D002627

2H22

Confidential

Central banks remain hawkish, yield curve flirting with inversion
We shouldn’t expect a uniform reaction from central banks, nor the bond and currency markets.
Japanese yen has suffered from domestic yield curve control

Difference between US 2-year and 10-year treasury yields

Market-implied interest rate expected by end-2022 as at:
350

1 January

12 May

Change

300

250

0.8%

2.7%

+1.9%

129

200

0.8%

2.0%

+1.2%

-0.4%

0.2%

+0.6%

150
100
50

0.8%

2.8%

+2.0%

0
-50

0.0%

0.0%

0.0%
-100
1987

4

1992

1997

2002

2007

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg as at 12 May 2022. Rate hike estimations based on 0.25% hiking increment
Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

2012

2017

2022

Confidential

Policy rate differentials could hit new highs
Both the US and UK have become less interest-rate sensitive over time, requiring a more aggressive
hiking cycle
Fed, ECB and BoE
7

6

5

3

2

1

0

-1
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

UK Bank of England Official Bank Rate

5

ECB Deposit Facility Announcement Rate

Federal Funds Target Rate - Upper Bound

Source: LGIM, Macrobond, as at 13 April 2022
Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

130

%

4

Confidential

Pressure on the equity-bond correlation
Between 2010 and 2020 that correlation stood at -0.5. Since the start of 2021 that has been around 0
and turning positive, more reminiscent of the high inflation environments seen in the 50s, 70s and 90s

Average change in yields on days when equities fall more than 1%
4
2

131

Basis points

0
-2
-4
-6
-8

6

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg as at 9 May 2022.

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

2000

-10

Confidential

Equity market decline pattern similar before and after invasion
The intertwined risks of higher inflation and the uncertainty surrounding Russia and Ukraine have
pushed equities off highs but have only served to amplify pre-existing trends
MSCI World sector performance (31 Dec 2021 – 11 May 2022)

Global equity benchmark performance
30%
25%

Energy

20%

15%

Financials

10%
5%

Consumer Staples

0%
-5%

Materials

-10%
-20%
Jan 21

Apr 21

Jul 21

Oct 21

S&P 500

FTSE 100

NIKKEI 225 Index

MSCI EM

Jan 22

Apr 22

EUROSTOXX 50

132

Utilities

-15%

Health Care
Industrial
Real Estate

S&P
500

FTSE
100

1 year

-3.9%

9.7%

-5.4%

-6.6%

-22.2%

2 year

38.4%

32.6%

32.3%

33.1%

15.2%

3 year

43.6%

13.9%

16.1%

30.0%

4.8%

4 year

54.7%

10.7%

12.4%

24.5%

-4.7%

5 year

79.7%

20.6%

13.6%

44.7%

13.4%

7

EUROSTOXX NIKKEI 225
50
Index

MSCI EM

Telcos
Consumer Disc.
Info Tech

-20%

-10%

31/12/21 - 23/2/22

0%

10%

20%

30%

23/2/22 - 5/5/22

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg, as at 11 May 2022.
1 11 May 2017 to 11 May 2022. Local-currency terms.
Past performance is not a guide to the future. The value of an investment and any income taken from it is not guaranteed and can go down as well as up, you
may not get back the amount you originally invested.

D002627

Index return
over period1

Confidential

Valuations have softened and investors have turned cautious
Some measures of investor sentiment are reaching extremes that have historically posed attractive
entry points, but we are inclined to wait for more panic in markets before buying risk
Equity index forward P/E ratios

Equity sentiment indicators

24

22

40

2.0

30

1.5

20

1.0

20
10
0

0.0
16

-10

14

-20

133

0.5

18

-0.5
-1.0

-30

12

-40

-1.5

-50

-2.0

10

Jun-18

Dec-18

MSCI World

8

Jun-19

Dec-19

S&P 500

Jun-20

Dec-20

Stoxx 600

Jun-21

Dec-21

FTSE All-Share

AA II Bull Bear Ratio

JPMorgan Equity Sentiment Index (RHS)

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg, as at 12 May 2022.
Past performance is not a guide to the future. The value of an investment and any income taken from it is not guaranteed and can go down as well as up, you
may not get back the amount you originally invested.

D002627

8
Dec-17

Confidential

Four steps we’re taking to navigate inflation

Prepare, don’t predict

9

2

Consider
foreign currencies

3

Blend long-term growth
assets and short-run hedges

134

1
4

Diversify
bond exposures

Anchor to investment
objectives

Global and local inflation

Diversify global assets

Source: LGIM, as at 9 March 2022. It should be noted that diversification is no guarantee against a loss in a declining market.
Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

D003278

Pressure on the equity-bond
correlation

Confidential

Inflation has proven impossible to forecast
Despite spending £37 million per annum on monetary analysis and the MPS, BoE inflation forecasts
have negatively correlated with reality for the last 16 years

The BoE's inflation forecasting record (2004-2020)

(%)

4

3

2

1

0
2004

2006

2008

2010

Bank of England forecast*

10

2012

2014

2016

2018

Outturns: CPI inflation in Q4

2020

3
2017
2013

2008
2006

2018

2019

2

2015

2014

2012

2004

2020

2005
2016

2007

2011

2010

1
2009

0
0

1

2

3

4

5

Outturns: CPI inflation in Q4 of subsequent year (%)

Source: LGIM as at 31 January 2022. Evaluating Forecast Performance, Independent Evaluation Office, Bank of England, November 2015.
*Mean of MPC forecast under market interest rate assumption from Q1 the previous year. Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for
illustrative purposes only. There is no guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

D003354

5

4

135

BoE forecast made in Q1 of previous year (%)*

6

Confidential

Don't throw the bond baby out with the inflation bathwater
Bonds have been one of the most reliable assets to protect against recession risks

1.

Maintain exposure for protection in recessions

2.

Global diversification offers advantages

3.

Seek out high starting yield

4.

Don’t fight flattening yield curves

5.

Brace for more volatility

Source: LGIM, Bloomberg, Robert Shiller, as at 28 February 2022. Assumptions, opinions and estimates are provided for illustrative purposes only. There is no
guarantee that any forecasts made will come to pass.

136

11

5 lessons for bond investors in inflation environments

D003354

Change in yields during recessions

Confidential

Finding ports in inflationary storms
While we accept its difficult to predict inflation, global diversification could offer exposure to different
dynamics
10-year bond yield changes since end 2020

Proportion of risk1 explained by US Treasuries
80%

UK

70%
60%

USA

137

50%
40%

EU

30%
20%

Japan
10%
0%

China

12

1 ESS/TSS

in a regression of changes in local yields on changes in US 10 year yields = correlation coefficient squared.
Source: Bloomberg LP, LGIM, as at 22 March 2022.

Short-term: 2021 - 2022

D003354

Long-term: 2000 - 2022

Confidential

Don’t lose sight of your objectives
Inflation may be the topic du jour, but remember the other risks that your portfolio faces

Commodities
Short-term
inflation spike

Economic
cycle

Suitability

Inflation
hedging

Inflation-linked bonds

Inflation

Long-term
inflation

138

Equities
Portfolio risks

Inflation
protection
Listed alternatives

Concentration
conundrum

Liquidity

13

Source: LGIM as at 28 February 2022.
The value of any investment and any income taken from it is not guaranteed and can go down as well as up, and investors may get back less than the amount
originally invested.

D003278

ESG

Disclaimer and important legal notice
The information contained in this document (the ‘Information’) has been prepared
by Legal & General Investment Management Limited, or by Legal and General
Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited and/or their affiliates (‘Legal &
General’, ‘we’ or ‘us’). Such Information is the property and/or confidential
information of Legal & General and may not be disclosed by you to any other
person without the prior written consent of Legal & General.
No party shall have any right of action against Legal & General in relation to the
accuracy or completeness of the Information, or any other written or oral
information made available in connection with this publication. Any investment
advice that we provide to you is based solely on the limited initial information
which you have provided to us. No part of this or any other document or
presentation provided by us shall be deemed to constitute ‘proper advice’ for the
purposes of the Pensions Act 1995 (as amended). Any limited initial advice given
relating to professional services will be further discussed and negotiated in order
to agree formal investment guidelines which will form part of written contractual
terms between the parties.
Past performance is no guarantee of future results. The value of an investment
and any income taken from it is not guaranteed and can go down as well as up,
you may not get back the amount you originally invested.

The Information has been produced for use by a professional investor and their
advisors only. It should not be distributed without our permission.

Confidentiality and Limitations:
Unless otherwise agreed by Legal & General in writing, the Information in this
document (a) is for information purposes only and we are not soliciting any action
based on it, and (b) is not a recommendation to buy or sell securities or pursue a
particular investment strategy; and (c) is not investment, legal, regulatory or tax
advice. Any trading or investment decisions taken by you should be based on your
own analysis and judgment (and/or that of your professional advisors) and not in
reliance on us or the Information. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
exclude all representations, warranties, conditions, undertakings and all other
terms of any kind, implied by statute or common law, with respect to the
Information including (without limitation) any representations as to the quality,
suitability, accuracy or completeness of the Information.
Any projections, estimates or forecasts included in the Information (a) shall not
constitute a guarantee of future events, (b) may not consider or reflect all possible
future events or conditions relevant to you (for example, market disruption events);
and (c) may be based on assumptions or simplifications that may not be relevant
to you.
The Information is provided ‘as is' and 'as available’. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, Legal & General accepts no liability to you or any other recipient
of the Information for any loss, damage or cost arising from, or in connection with,
any use or reliance on the Information. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, Legal & General does not accept any liability for any indirect, special or
consequential loss howsoever caused and on any theory or liability, whether in
contract or tort (including negligence) or otherwise, even if Legal & General has
been advised of the possibility of such loss.
Third Party Data:

14

Where this document contains third party data ('Third Party Data’), we cannot
guarantee the accuracy, completeness or reliability of such Third Party Data and

Publication, Amendments and Updates:
We are under no obligation to update or amend the Information or correct any
errors in the Information following the date it was delivered to you. Legal &
General reserves the right to update this document and/or the Information at any
time and without notice.
Although the Information contained in this document is believed to be correct as at
the time of printing or publication, no assurance can be given to you that this
document is complete or accurate in the light of information that may become
available after its publication. The Information may not take into account any
relevant events, facts or conditions that have occurred after the publication or
printing of this document.
Telephone Recording
As required under applicable laws Legal & General will record all telephone and
electronic communications and conversations with you that result or may result in
the undertaking of transactions in financial instruments on your behalf. Such
records will be kept for a period of five years (or up to seven years upon request
from the Financial Conduct Authority (or such successor from time to time)) and
will be provided to you upon request.
Legal & General Investment Management Limited. Registered in England and
Wales No. 02091894. Registered Office: One Coleman Street, London, EC2R
5AA. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, No. 119272.
Legal and General Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited. Registered in
England and Wales No. 01006112. Registered Office: One Coleman Street,
London, EC2R 5AA. Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation
Authority, No. 202202.
The LGIM Workplace Savings division on behalf of both Legal and General
Assurance Limited. Registered in England and Wales No. 00166055. Authorised
by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. As well as Legal & General
(Portfolio Management Services) Limited. Registered in England and Wales No.
02457525. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, No.
146786. Registered Offices: One Coleman Street, London, EC2R 5AA.
LGIM: CC15142020

139

The risks associated with each fund or investment strategy are set out in this
publication, the relevant prospectus or investment management agreement (as
applicable) and these should be read and understood before making any
investment decisions. A copy of the relevant documentation can be obtained from
your Client Relationship Manager.

accept no responsibility or liability whatsoever in respect of such Third Party Data.

This page is intentionally left blank

141

Agenda Item 10

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10 JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
RESPONSIBLE INVESTING UPDATE
Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to:
a. Update the Committee on the progress made with respect to areas of the Net
Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS), in particular, Hymans Robertson’s feedback
report on the considerations for net zero targets and their view on the
engagement versus divestment of company shares as part of a Responsible
Investment approach, see Appendix D and Appendix E.
b. Seek approval to commence an engagement exercise with Employers,
Scheme Members, and large investment managers with respect to beliefs
and targets proposed for the NZCS. The questions being proposed are
appended to this report, see Appendix F.
c. Update the Committee on the Fund’s quarterly voting report (Appendix A).
d. Update the Committee on progress versus the Responsible Investment (RI)
Plan 2022 to improve management of the Leicestershire Pension Fund (the
Fund).
e. Update the Committee on delivery of the Fund’s Taskforce on Climate
Financial Disclosure (TCFD) report included within Appendix B and LGPS
Central’s quarterly stewardship report included within Appendix C.

Background
2. The Local Pension Committee approved the Responsible Investment (RI) plan at
the January 2022 meeting which was developed with LGPS Central’s in-house RI
team. The Fund has a continual focus on raising RI standards.
3. The term ‘responsible investment’ refers to the integration of financially material
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) factors into investment processes.
It has relevance both before and after the investment decision and is a core part of
our fiduciary duty. It is distinct from ‘ethical investment’, which is an approach in
which the moral persuasions of an organisation take primacy over its investment
considerations.

142
4. The Fund’s approach, as stated within the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) is
to ensure RI through engagement of companies to forward responsible investing
aims rather than divest our holdings, thus forgoing any influence.
5. The Fund’s first report on climate related disclosures, in line with the
recommendations from the Taskforce on Climate Financial Disclosures (TCFD),
was completed in 2021, with any references to portfolio holdings based on the Fund
as at 31st December 2019 and presented to the Local Pension Committee.
Summary information will be included in the Fund’s Annual Report. The TCFD
guidance aims to improve transparency by companies, asset managers, asset
owners, banks, and insurance companies with respect to how climate-related risks
and opportunities are being managed. Official supporters of the TCFD total 930
organisations representing a market capital of over $11trillion.
6. A climate stewardship plan was delivered in 2021 and included a list of companies
the Fund has exposure to. The nine companies included within the plan are those
which face a high level of climate risk and are of particular significance to the
Fund’s portfolio. Eight of these companies are captured by the Climate Action 100+
(CA100+) engagement project, in which the Fund’s pooling company LGPS Central
is an active participant.
7. At the November 2021 Local Pension Committee meeting the Committee agreed to
commence work on delivering the Fund’s first Climate Strategy.
8. At the November 2021 Local Pension Committee, the Fund’s second Climate Risk
report was delivered which when compared to the associated benchmarks carbon
metrics showed the Leicestershire Fund is circa 17% more carbon efficient at total
equity level and circa 52% more carbon efficient at total active equities level.

Summary Hymans Robertson engagement versus divestment
9. Hymans Robertson have written a report on engagement versus divestment with
respect to climate strategy and the Fund (Appendix D). The scope of the full report
covers the following:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Importance of stewardship in delivering the Fund’s climate strategy
Role of engagement and divestment and the pros and cons of each
Characteristics of effective engagement
Circumstances in which divestment and exclusion are appropriate
Areas for future development

10. The full report is appended to this report, some highlights and recommendations for
the Fund are included below:


Hymans see both engagement and divestment are proven and necessary
elements of an effective approach to stewardship; they should not be seen as
mutually exclusive.



Engagement has the potential to add value to portfolio companies and promote
real world change. It is the recommended approach for long-term asset owners
providing the circumstances are conducive to engagement.

143
11. Hymans recommend the following are considered as part of the NZCS:


Incorporates both engagement and divestment/exclusion as necessary
elements of into its stewardship programme, not as mutually exclusive
alternatives.



Defines the limits of engagement and an escalation strategy incorporating
divestment and seeks to agrees these with its investment managers
wherever possible.



Consider that the four stewardship themes/priorities recently agreed with
LGPS Central, of which climate change is considered the most important,
remain relevant and focuses on them when engaging with all its investment
managers including LGPS Central



Works with LGPS Central to expand the scope of its climate risk reporting
and to advocate for the introduction of mandatory corporate emissions
disclosure standards across all sectors of the economy.



Aims over time to increase the frequency and depth of its oversight of
stewardship activities undertaken by LGPS Central and its other investment
managers.

Hymans Robertson review and recommendations of the NZCS proposed targets
12. Hymans Robertson’s report on recommendations on the goals, metrics and targets
the Fund should adopt in its Climate Strategy is appended to this report (Appendix
E), the highlights are included below:


Hymans believe the proposed Net Zero target date 2050 or sooner is an
appropriate goal for the Fund. A target date of 2050 is ambitious given most
major economies are not on track to achieve Net Zero by then based on
current pledges/policies. Targeting a date marginally ahead of most major
economies (e.g., 2045) is also realistic and may enable the Fund to mitigate
climate risk and capture climate-related investment opportunities more
effectively. But it would require a more proactive Climate Strategy and
additional changes to the investment portfolio, potentially increasing
execution costs and risk.



Other target dates, such as 2030 or 2060, could be considered. But Hymans
believe these would expose the Fund to an increased risk of adverse
investment outcomes.



A Net Zero target set materially earlier than the main economies in which the
Fund invests would be very challenging to deliver. A target date of 2030 in
particular would likely require major changes to investment strategy to focus
on a restricted universe of low emissions asset classes and stocks, thereby
increasing portfolio concentration and the volatility of investment returns.
2060 would entail fewer changes in the short-term, but increased exposure
to climate transition risk in the longer term.

144


Hymans recommend the Fund adopts a balanced set of medium-term
objectives which could realistically be delivered over the next 5-10 years
given the investment solutions expected to become available from LGPS
Central (“LGPSC”) and third-party managers over the period. The focus
should be on bringing about actual emissions reductions in portfolio
companies over time, rather than simply divesting from high emissions
holdings. The Fund should also follow best practice and avoid material
reliance on offsetting strategies.



The Fund should reflect these objectives in the formulation of its investment
strategy (strategic asset allocation) and in structuring its investment
management arrangements. The objectives, underpinned by robust climate
metrics, should guide investment decision making and engagement activity
much of which is undertaken on behalf of the Fund by its investment
managers.



Hymans have reviewed the nine proposed net zero targets and believe they
are generally appropriate with a summary against each of the proposed
targets / measures shown below.

Metric/Target

Net Zero by [2050, with an

Metric

Target

Robust

Realistic





ambition for sooner]
Absolute net carbon emissions to

Comment

We believe this is an appropriate,
ambitious goal



?

Further analysis recommended to

be reduced by [40%] from 2019

provide reassurance that the target is

reported levels by 2030

realistic

Reduce the Carbon intensity





Emissions intensity provides a

(WACI) of the Fund by [50%] from

complementary perspective on the

the 31st December 2019 levels for

progress the Fund is making in

the Equity portfolio by 2030. This

reducing climate risk

target will extend to other asset
classes as common methodology
is agreed
Reduce the proportion of the Fund



No target

Fossil fuel companies create stranded

with Fossil Fuel exposure within

asset risk, so exposure should be

the equity portfolio (was 8.5% at

measured. LGPSC are refining the

31st Dec 2019) by 31st March

metric they use, so no target

2030

recommended at this stage.

Increase the asset coverage to





Comprehensive climate risk reporting

[90%] by 2030 (currently at 45%

is required to guide investment

2022 est) to be analysed for WACI

decisions and engagement activity

Increase allocation to climate



No target

Climate solution providers offer

solutions (use EU taxonomy) as

potentially attractive investment

defined by weight in clean

opportunities. LGPSC are refining the

technology from the base 2019

metric they use, so no target

145
weight of 34.1% by 2030
Increase our percentage of

recommended at this stage.


?

Setting a Net Zero target is the first

portfolio underlying companies in

step in implementing the changes

material sectors with net zero

required to decarbonise operations.

targets to over [90%] by [2030].

Further analysis recommended to

Includes listed equities, corporate

provide reassurance that the target is

bonds, and sovereign bonds at

realistic.

present
By [2030], [90%] of the Fund's



?

Achieving alignment with Net Zero

financed emissions to be either

pathway is critical to delivering the

net zero, aligned to a net zero

emissions reductions required in the

pathway or subject to engagement

future.

programme to bring that about.
Includes equities, corporate

Further analysis recommended to

bonds, and sovereign bonds at

provide reassurance that the target is

present

realistic

The Fund's, LGPS Central's and



No target

Decarbonising own operations should

Investment manager's net zero

be relatively straightforward for LGPS

attainment relating to their direct

Central and other investment

emissions

managers but should not be used as a
criterion for manager selection.

13. The outputs from Hymans Robertson’s papers alongside any additional work
undertaken will be considered during the preparation of the Net Zero Climate
Strategy for the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund.
NZCS update
14. In line with the plan for the Net Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS) it is recommended
that the Fund undertakes an engagement exercise to run from July to midSeptember. Officers have looked at other local authority funds climate engagement
strategies to understand the method and time to run an engagement exercise. It
was deemed most appropriate to run an engagement exercise for at least six weeks
and to utilise a web-based approach from a value for money perspective. The full
list of targets and measures is included within appendix E.
15. The engagement exercise will be conducted with Leicestershire County Councils in
house resource and be hosted on the web. This is deemed to be the most costeffective solution.
16. The questions which are appended to this report (Appendix F) seek views on the
proposed NZCS primary and secondary measures and interim targets. These
targets are based on the IIGCC (institutional investors group on climate change)
framework which identifies how investors should approach writing a comprehensive
net zero climate strategy. As part of the engagement, responders will also be
asked about their views on company engagement versus divestment. There are
several supplementary questions which will allow officers to ascertain responders’
knowledge to the complexities involved in writing a NZCS. This information will

146
prove useful when writing the NZCS with regard to the right level of detail and
background information to include.
17. The engagement exercise will run for around three months to allow for as many
interested parties to respond. By extending the engagement past the end of August
it can be publicised, for free, using the Annual Benefit Statement that is sent to all
scheme members. Employers in the Fund will be asked to respond from their
perspective, given the impact of investment returns directly impacts them financially
through employers’ contributions. Members of the Fund (employees, deferred
members, and pensioners) will be notified via the fund website, their employers and
via the annual benefit statements. Large investment managers will also be
contacted for their views also and it is proposed to contact Legal and General,
LGPS Central, JP Morgan, IFM and LaSalle. The remaining cohort of possible
responders, ‘other’ will also be allowed to express their views.
18. Responses and information to the engagement will be fed back to the Committee
for discussion in advance of the NZCS being presented for approval for consultation
at the November 2022 Committee.
Proposed Leicestershire NZCS targets
19. A summary of the Fund’s proposed targets are shown below and have been
benchmarked versus other pension funds including local authorities and others
which are described further in this paper. As previously advised the targets
proposed are in line with IIGCC guidance and after reviewing other scheme targets.
Officers believe the proposed targets and inclusion of a strategy to achieve targets
(including interim 2030 targets) represent a comprehensive set of measures to be
engaged on and which are intended to align to Paris goals.

Fund
Climate Strategy
Net Zero Target
Carbon Reduction
Target

Sustainable
Investment
Target
Fossil Fuel
Reduction Target

Leicestershire
Yes, how the Fund see's journey to NZ, thoughts on climate change, how
to approach the transition, monitor and track managers
Net zero by 2050 with ambition for sooner.
Yes, 50% absolute carbon reduction by 2030 from 31/12/19
50% reduction in weighted average carbon intensity (WACI) from
31/12/19 (secondary)
Increase percentage allocated to climate solutions as defined by weight
in clean technology from the base 2019 weight of 34.1% to 40% by 2030.
Reduce the proportion of the Fund with Fossil Fuel exposure within the
equity portfolio (was 8.5% at 31st Dec 2019) by 31st March 2030

20. The Leicestershire Fund is proposing to engage on the primary target of, “net zero
by 2050 with an ambition for sooner”. When the NZCS is formally approved the
proposal will include annual monitoring of progress versus agreed targets. The
reassessment of targets will take place on a periodic basis based on the risks and
opportunities the Fund has at the time of making the decision and in line with best
practice guidance.
Further review of Pension Schemes with Climate strategies

147

21. Officers have undertaken a review of climate and net zero strategies and policies
for a number of local authorities and other pension funds such as the EA
(Environment Agency), USS (Universities Superannuation scheme) and ABP (the
Netherlands pension scheme for government and education sectors). The
additional schemes were chosen for several reasons including member interest or
general climate friendly communications.
22. The EA scheme includes a net zero target by 2045 and to halve emissions by 2030.
There are several reasons that may make a 2045 target for the EA prudent from a
risk perspective and are described below.

Fund
Climate Strategy
Net Zero Target
Carbon Reduction
Target
Sustainable Investment
Target
Fossil Fuel Reduction
Target

Environment Agency
Yes - Policy Getting to Net Zero and Building Resilience as part of
Investment Strategy
Net Zero by 2045 and halve emissions by 2030.
Reduce emissions in listed equites by 87% by 2025 and 95% by 2030
versus 2010 baseline
One third across all portfolios in sustainable assets. By 2025 17% of
its investments across the portfolio would directly tackle climate
change.
Reduced exposure to fossil fuel reserves and exposure to future
emissions by 99% for coal and 95% for oil and gas compared to 2015.

23. The EA is well funded with a 31st March 2019 funding level of 106% reported. This
compares with an 89% funding level for the Leicestershire Fund. This high level of
funding allows the fund options regarding investment return objectives and
employer contributions. The EA scheme benefits from the fact it is a single
employer scheme and as such engagement wouldn’t play as large a part when
agreeing next zero and associated targets.
24. The EA’s last actuarial valuation stated that their fund needed to achieve 2.9%
returns per annum over the 20 years to still be 100% funded. The Leicestershire
Fund would need a 4.5% per annum return to be 100% funded over the same
timeframe.

25. The EA have presented information regarding carbon emission reduction for listed
equities between 2010 and 2020 of 74%. Similarly, the Leicestershire Fund first
started measuring carbon metrics as at the 31st December 2019 with a reduction
shown within the climate risk report (CRR) dated as at 31st March 2021 where a
25% reduction was shown in the carbon intensity of the listed equity portfolio. It is
worth noting that although a 25% reduction was achieved over the period it is likely
that the journey to 2030 could be less linear with increases some years in carbon
intensity offset by larger decreases in others as illustrated above.

148

26. Regarding ‘sustainable investments’ both the Fund and the EA scheme have similar
goals, both currently reporting around one third of assets invested in this space with
the Fund proposing to increase this allocation to this metric over time.
27. The EA scheme reports ‘fossil fuel’ exposure in a different way to the Leicestershire
Fund. They have reported reductions to fossil fuel exposure versus a 2015
baseline. This 2015 baseline provides the EA scheme the benefit of the
decarbonisation of their underlying portfolio as well as any active management
whereas the Leicestershire Fund via the Climate Risk Report reports weight in fossil
fuel reserves, thermal coal reserves and coal power. Both metrics are different and
shouldn’t be directly compared. The Fund reported lower than 10% weights for
each of the three metrics noted above with an ambition to further reduce these and
continually monitor progress annually.
28. The USS scheme is another scheme which announced their ambition to be net zero
for greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 or sooner in 2021. A similar table showing
their ambitions and targets is shown below.

Fund
Climate Strategy
Net Zero Target
Carbon Reduction
Target

USS
Statement on responsible investment
Net zero by 2050 with ambition for sooner.
Reducing carbon emissions generated by its portfolio by 25% by 2025
and 50% 2030 from 2019 baseline. Initial 30% reduction and 7% every
year following £5bn transition to LGIM climate transition index.

Sustainable Investment
Target

Divestment of Thermal Coal mining where it makes up more than 25%
of revenues. (Along with tobacco manufacturing and companies with
ties to Cluster munitions, white phosphorus, and landmines.

Fossil Fuel Reduction
Target

£5bn equities into an index to avoid worst polluters to LGIM.

29. The USS have a similar overall net zero target of 2050 or sooner and a 50%
reduction by 2030 from a 2019 baseline as the Leicestershire Fund’s proposal.
Their fossil fuel reduction target is based on a £5bn (total fund over £80bn)
investment into a Legal and General index fund that will track companies that
remove or tilt away from certain companies. In comparison the Leicestershire Fund
made a similar investment into the LGPS Central Climate fund in 2020 to rebalance
factor weightings whilst also improving the overall ESG metrics of the Fund. This
investment represented c15% of the overall fund.
30. Whilst the USS scheme states divestment of thermal coal mining companies where
it makes up more than 25% of revenue many companies included in large indexes
like the FTSE 100 have exposures this high. Glencore, one of the world’s largest
producers and exporters of thermal and coking coal reported revenues in 2021 of
c$12bn from total revenue of c$204bn (6%).

149

31. Of all the pension funds that officers reviewed versus the Fund’s proposed targets
the South Yorkshire Pension fund (SYPF) had communicated the most ambitious
net zero target of 2030 in September 2020. SYPF have since published an action
plan to deliver an investment strategy in 2023. Within their Action Plan SYPF quote
they ‘do not know the distance they have to travel in order to achieve they net zero
commitment’ given the lack of visibility of carbon intensity on areas of their portfolio.
This is a common problem across the industry which is being addressed as more
asset classes develop common metrics to calculate intensity. SYPF note that they
have a current 50% allocation to listed equities and their total investment strategy
will be revised following the 2022 fund valuation by March 2023. This would leave
SYPF around seven years to achieve net zero.
32. At a recent March 2022 meeting it was stated within a public report that, ‘it needs to
be recognised that there is a high risk that it [2030 net zero] will not be achieved’.
33. Net zero targets at the following pension funds have been communicated but
officers have not seen evidence of strategies or plans that support delivery similar
to SYPF.
a. Lambeth – net zero target of 2040, however no public climate strategy to
support, noting climate change scenario analysis was held in private session
at the October 2021 meeting.
b. ABP – have a target to reduce emissions by 40% compared to 2015 baseline
by 2025 and be a climate neutral investment portfolio by 2050
c. Hammersmith and Fulham – have communicated a net zero target of 2030
but have not yet communicated a strategy.
d. Waltham Forest – have not set a net zero but have stated their ambition to
divest from fossil fuels with £3.5m held in fossil fuels in 2021 from a fund
worth around £1bn. This approach does not feature in their latest Investment
Strategy Statement. In the latest GAD Section 13 report, it is stated “Five
funds have a “white” flag in relation to their SAB funding level as these are
the poorest funded on the SAB basis…”, Waltham Forest is one of these
funds.
34. The above four examples have communicated various positive messages either
regarding earlier than 2050 net zero targets and or reductions from fossil fuels
however on closer inspection, strategies on how to achieve these ambitions are not
available, at least publicly.
35. ABP for example stated selling holdings in fossil fuels by 2023 however based on
information available on their website they, “also invest in futures contracts on oil
and gas. With this we buy the right to buy or deliver a quantity of oil or gas at a
certain price on a certain date. Our goal is to take advantage of fluctuations in the
price of oil and/or gas. We do not own oil or gas and do not provide financing for its
production. We therefore do not include these contracts in the calculation of our
total investments in fossil fuels.” Futures contracts require a buyer to purchase
shares and a seller to sell them on a specific future date unless the holder's position
is closed before the expiration date.

150
36. There will be some schemes who do embark on earlier net zero target dates and
have plans that seem to back up the ambitions. Each of these plans would need to
be scrutinised in detail taking into account a multitude of factors before coming to a
conclusion as to the risks being undertaken. Factors that could be considered
include (in no particular order):
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.

current funding level,
required future investment return,
likelihood assumed of reaching target investment returns,
percentage of fund being included in net zero calculations,
current employer contribution rates,
longevity assumptions for the fund
mix of active and deferred / pensioners
committee appetite for taking ‘first mover’ risk / opportunity and effect on
employer contributions.

37. One such fund has a 2037 net zero target, Swansea Pension Fund (SPF) who
following a workshop in October 2021 between officers and pension committee
members suggested adopting a 2037 target net zero date. The consultants
employed noted several changes that would need to occur to meet interim 2030
targets. Of the changes needed it was noted that not all current positions were
known, for example, the proportion of investments in sectors aligned with relevant
transition pathways or are subject to engagement action.
38. Communication of SPF 2037 target came as result of work undertaken stretching
back to 2017 when their Pension Committee approved their first responsible
investing policy and have since identified a 50% carbon reduction in their listed
equity portfolio by 2022. The SPF still has a number of actions to understand how
to reach a 2037 net zero goal including:
a. Developing carbon and other ESG metrics
b. Identifying investment opportunities that will benefit from a transition to a
lower carbon economy
Quarterly Voting Report
39. Per the 2021/22 RI plan the Leicestershire Pension Fund voting report is included
as Appendix A to this report.
40. The report covers voting over the period January to March 2022 and the equity
investments the Fund holds within LGIM’s passive funds and LGPS Central’s sub
funds, namely the Climate Balanced fund, Global Emerging Markets fund and the
Global Active Equity fund. This incorporates c45% of all fund assets. Around 23%
of fund assets reside within commodity futures, currency forwards, derivative
contracts, debt, property, and cash and have no voting rights.
41. The Fund made voting recommendations at 902 company meetings, containing
around 9,800 resolutions in the quarter. At 565 meetings, the Fund, via its
managers recommended opposing one or more resolutions. The report further
breaks down this percentage by geography given the global nature of the Fund’s
investments.

151
42. At those 565 meetings the Fund voted against management or abstained on over
6,000 resolutions. The majority of these were board structure related at 47%.
Remuneration resolutions were voted against on 11% of all resolutions, where
issues such as variable executive pay packages could lead to excessive
compensation. A full breakdown is contained within the Appendix along with a
geographical breakdown.
43. The appendix provides a measure of voting activity, showing how many meetings
have been voted at and how many resolutions have been opposed. Insight into the
themes the Fund is focusing on, and specific examples are included within LGPS
Central’s Quarterly Stewardship Report.
Responsible Investment Plan 2022/23
44. A progress update to the Fund’s 2022 RI plan is shown below.
Financial Title
Quarter
Q4
Communicate draft RI
21/22
Plan to Pension
Committee
Manager review

Description

Quarterly update

Publication of the Fund’s 2022
RI plan.

Complete

ESG approach alongside
presentation to Committee
Begin work on the production
of a LCCPF Climate Change
Strategy with a view to
publication in late-2022.

Complete IFM infrastructure

Climate Strategy
Workshop

Meeting of the Fund’s Officers
and Pension Fund Committee
to discuss and plan the Fund’s
Climate Change Strategy.

Workshop held in March
2022

TCFD Report (Taskforce
on Climate related
Financial Disclosures)

Public-facing report of the
Fund’s approach to climate
risk, set out in alignment with
the recommendations of the
Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures

Complete for June
Committee

Manager review

ESG approach alongside
presentation to Committee

LGPS private markets June
Committee

Climate Strategy
Update

Pension Fund Committee
meeting to discuss progress of
Climate Change Strategy.

Manager review

ESG approach alongside
TBC – Stafford Timberland
presentation to Committee
CRR 2022 containing updated
carbon risk metrics results
measured against the baseline
from the previous two reports.

Climate Change
Strategy

Q1
22/23

Q2
22/23

Q3
22/23

Receive Climate Risk
Report (CRR)

Commenced, update in
March 2022 to members of
LPC

152

TBC

Climate Risk Training

Further training of pension
fund officers, Pension
Committee and possibly
Pension Board on the risks and
opportunities associated with
climate change.

Climate Change
Strategy Publication

Publish the Fund’s draft
Climate Change Strategy. This
should be consistent with the
TCFD Recommendations and
be monitored regularly by the
Pension Fund Committee.

Governance Review

Publish updated draft Funding
Strategy Statement and
Investment Strategy
Statements for consultation in
line with the Fund’s new
Climate Change Strategy.
Final approval in Q4 22/23.

Manager review

ESG approach alongside
presentation to Committee
Schedule time at LPC for
discussion of climate related
risks and strategy.
Schedule one training session
on general RI matters and one
climate specific training per
year.
Develop climate change
strategy.
Integrate comms on climate
risk into communications
strategy.
Update governance policy
statement to explain how
climate risks are governed.
Review as part of the FSS the
extent to which climate risks
could affect other risks noted
in the FSS.
Make clear the roles of key
governance committees in the
ISS

Review of company
engagements and TCFD
/ CRR
recommendations

TBC – LGIM passive equity
Ongoing, progress to date:
20/21 Pension accounts
included summary of climate
risk report
Stewardship code reporting
pushed to 2023 to
accommodate NZCS work
NZCS work commenced

Leicestershire Pension Fund Climate Related Disclosures and Climate Risk Report
2022 update
45. This is the Fund’s second Climate Related Disclosures report and follows the
recommendations of the taskforce on climate financial disclosures (TCFD) which

153
was commissioned in 2015 by Mark Carney in his remit as Chair of the Financial
Stability Board. In 2017 the TCFD released its recommendations for improved
transparency by companies, asset managers, asset owners, banks, and insurance
companies with respect to how climate-related risks and opportunities are being
managed. The report has had minor updates reflecting the Fund has commenced
reporting of climate metrics on an annual basis as contained within the climate risk
report and has commenced work on publishing a climate strategy incorporating net
zero targets.

46. The recommendations are based on the financial materiality of climate change. The
four elements of recommended disclosures (see below) are designed to make
TCFD-aligned disclosures comparable, but with sufficient flexibility to account for
local circumstances.

47. The Fund has received two climate risk reports (CRR) in 2020 and 2021 with a third
planned for November 2022. These CRR’s provide the Fund with an in-depth
review of the Fund’s climate risks under different climate change scenarios across
all asset classes.
48. Improvements to the CRR for 2022, which is scheduled to be delivered at the
November Pension Committee meeting include the following inclusion of the
following metrics:
 Percentage of portfolio with Net Zero targets
 Percentage of portfolio revenue derived from fossil fuels
 Percentage of portfolio revenue derived from clean technology

Quarterly Stewardship report (QSR) update
49. The QSR covers the quarter’s (January to March 2022) engagement activity In line
with the RI plan. LGPS Central’s Quarterly Stewardship Report (QSR) is included
as an appendix to this report. Historic QSRs can be found at LGPS Central’s
website, within the responsible investment section,
https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/responsible-investment/

154
50. During this quarter Central’s engagement set comprised of 493 meetings with
engagement activity on 5,7327 engagement issues and objectives. The majority of
these engagements were carried out by Central’s stewardship provider EOS.
Further statistics including the number of engagements and method of engagement
(either direct, via a stewardship provider or via a partnership) are disclosed as well
as details regarding certain engagements within the report.
51. Four stewardship themes which were collectively agreed by the Partner funds that
make up the Central pool continue into 2022, these are, climate change, plastics,
fair tax and tax transparency and human rights risks.
52. The report contains information on specific company engagements including the
theme (one of the four listed above), the objective, the engagement details, and
outcomes. Companies included in this quarters report include Glencore (climate
change), Credit Suisse (climate change), Tyson Foods (plastic), Amazon (tax) and
Motorola (human rights). The report also contains background regarding voting
decisions at Apple, Walgreens Boots and WH Smith.

Recommendation
53. It is recommended that the Committee
a) Approve the proposed engagement process with Employers and Scheme
Members with respect to beliefs and targets for the NZCS
b) Notes the latest position and next steps in the creation of the Net Zero Climate
Strategy, especially in respect of Hymans Robertson the Fund’s investment
advisor’s feedback.
c) Note the Fund’s Taskforce on Climate Financial Disclosure and the quarterly
voting and stewardship reports.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
54. None.
Appendices
Appendix A: Quarterly voting report Central
Appendix B: Taskforce on Climate Financial Disclosure (TCFD) report
Appendix C: LGPS Central Quarterly Stewardship report
Appendix D: Hymans Robertson, Engagement versus Divestment
Appendix E: Hymans Robertson, Net Zero Goals and Targets
Appendix F: NZCS engagement questions

Background Papers
Local Pension Committee – 21January 2022 - Responsible Investment Plan 2022
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6757&Ver=4

155
Local Pension Committee 26 November 2021 – Responsible Investing Update
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=740&MId=6526&Ver=4
Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel: 0116 305 6199
Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel: 0116 305 7668
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments
Tel: 0116 305 1449
Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

157
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund
Voting Report, Q4 2021/22 (Jan-Mar 2022)

Over the last quarter we voted at 902 meetings (9,807) resolutions. At 565 meetings we opposed one or more
resolutions. We abstained at two meetings. We supported management on all resolutions at the remaining 335
meetings.

Global
We voted at 902 meetings (9807
resolutions) over the last quarter.

Meetings in Favour 36%
Meetings Against 63%
Meetings with Management by
Exception 1%

Developed Asia

Australia and New Zealand

Emerging and Frontier Markets

We voted at 269 meetings (2287
resolutions) over the last quarter.

We voted at 7 meetings (34
resolutions) over the last quarter.

We voted at 299 meetings (2315
resolutions) over the last quarter.

Meetings in Favour 25%
Meetings Against 75%

Meetings in Favour 71%

Meetings in Favour 49%

Meetings Against 29%

Meetings Against 50%
Meetings with Management by
Exception 1%

Europe Ex-UK

North America

United Kingdom

We voted at 130 meetings (2834
resolutions) over the last quarter.

We voted at 78 meetings (985
resolutions) over the last quarter.

We voted at 119 meetings (1352
resolutions) over the last quarter.

Meetings in Favour 14%

Meetings in Favour 10%

Meetings in Favour 70%

Meetings Against 83%

Meetings Against 85%

Meetings Against 30%

Meetings Abstained 1.5%

Meetings with Management by
Exception 5%

Meetings with Management by
Exception 1.5%

158
The Issues on which we voted against management or abstaining on resolutions are shown below.

Global
We voted against or abstained on
6257 resolutions over the last
quarter.

Amend Articles 12%
Audit + Accounts 14%
Board Structure 47%
Capital Structure + Dividends 6%
Other 4.5%
Poison pill/ Anti-Takeover Device 0.5%
Remuneration 11.5%
Shareholder Resolution 4.5%

Developed Asia
We voted against or abstained on
1683 resolutions over the last
quarter.

Australia and New Zealand
We voted against or abstained on 8
resolutions over the last quarter.

Emerging and Frontier Markets
We voted against or abstained on
1556 resolutions over the last
quarter.

Amend Articles 18%

Board Structure 25%

Amend Articles 11%

Audit + Accounts 12%

Remuneration 62.5%

Audit + Accounts 24%

Board Structure 55%

Shareholder Resolution 12.5%

Board Structure 32.5%

Capital Structure + Dividends 0.5%
Other 0.5%
Remuneration 13%
Shareholder Resolution 1%

Capital Structure + Dividends 7%
Other 8%
Remuneration 15%
Shareholder Resolution 2.5%

159
Europe Ex-UK

North America

United Kingdom

We voted against or abstained on
1917 resolutions over the last
quarter.

We voted against or abstained on
570 resolutions over the last quarter.

We voted against or abstained on
523 resolutions over the last quarter.

Amend Articles 12%

Amend Articles 1%

Amend Articles 3%

Audit + Accounts 10%

Audit + Accounts 6%

Audit + Accounts 15%

Board Structure 47%

Board Structure 67%

Board Structure 40%

Capital Structure + Dividends 7%

Capital Structure + Dividends 1%

Capital Structure + Dividends 21%

Other 9%

Other 0.5%

Other 0.5%

Remuneration 10%

Poison pill/ Anti-Takeover Device 0.5%

Poison pill/ Anti-Takeover Device 4.5%

Shareholder Resolution 5%

Remuneration 6%

Remuneration 10%

Shareholder Resolution 18%

Shareholder Resolution 6%

This page is intentionally left blank

161

Appendix B

Leicestershire Pension Fund Climaterelated Disclosures
Report prepared in alignment with the recommendations of the TCFD

May 2022

162

Appendix B

Introduction to the TCFD
The Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) was commissioned in 2015 by Mark
Carney in his remit as Chair of the Financial Stability Board. In 2017 the TCFD released its
recommendations for improved transparency by companies, asset managers, asset owners, banks,
and insurance companies with respect to how climate-related risks and opportunities are being
managed. Official supporters of the TCFD total 930 organisations representing a market
capitalisation of over $11 trillion. Disclosure that aligns with the TCFD recommendations currently
represents best practice.
The recommendations are based on the financial materiality of climate change. The four elements of
recommended disclosures (see Figure 1 below) are designed so as to make TCFD-aligned disclosures
comparable, but with sufficient flexibility to account for local circumstances. Examples of pension
funds that have been early adopters of the TCFD recommendations include AP2, NEST, PGGM, RPMI
Railpen, The Pensions Trust, and Environment Agency Pension Fund.
Figure 1: TCFD Disclosure Pillars

The Fund supports the TCFD recommendations as the optimal framework to describe and
communicate the steps the Fund is taking to manage climate-related risks and incorporate climate
risk management into investment processes. As a pension fund, we are long-term investors and are
diversified across asset classes, regions and sectors, making us “universal owners”. It is in our
interest that the market is able to effectively price climate-related risks and that policymakers are
able to address market failure. We believe TCFD-aligned disclosure from asset owners, asset
managers, and corporates, is in the best interest of our beneficiaries.

163

Appendix B

About this report
This report is Leicestershire Pension Fund’s (LPF or ‘the Fund’) second climate-related disclosure
report. It describes the way in which climate-related risks are currently managed within the Fund.
Since October 2020, LPF has received two Climate Risk Reports from the Fund’s pooling company,
LGPS Central Ltd. These reports provide an in-depth review of the Fund’s climate risks under
different climate change scenarios across all asset classes. The Fund is currently using the findings of
these reports to develop a more detailed Climate Strategy.
In the interests of being transparent with the Fund’s beneficiaries and broader stakeholder base, this
report discloses the most recent Carbon Risk Metrics Analysis and Climate Scenario Analysis
undertaken on the Fund’s assets. We expect to update our Carbon Risk Metrics on an annual basis.

164

Appendix B

Climate-related risks
Human activities are estimated to have caused approximately 1.0°C of global warming above preindustrial levels. Most of this warming has occurred in the past 35 years, with the seven warmest
years on record taking place since 2010. Between the years 2006-2015, the observed global mean
surface temperature was 0.87°C higher than the average over the 1850-1990 period. The
overwhelming scientific consensus is that the observed climatic changes are the result primarily of
human activities including electricity and heat production, agriculture and land-use change, industry,
and transport.
Figure 2 Graph showing Global Temperature Difference from 1951-80 average. Source: NASA

In

order to mitigate the worst economic impacts of climate change, there must be a large, swift, and
globally co-ordinated policy response. Despite this, the majority of climate scientists anticipate that
given the current level of climate action, by 2100 the world will be between 2°C and 4°C warmer,
with significant regional variations. This is substantially higher than the Paris Climate Change
Agreement, which reflects a collective goal to hold the increase in the climate’s mean global surface
temperature to well below 2°C above preindustrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the
temperature increase to 1.5°C.

165

Appendix B
Figure 3: Selected extracts from the Paris Agreement on climate change. Source: UNFCCC.
Paris Agreement Article 2(1)a
Holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial
levels and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels,
recognizing that this would significantly reduce the risks and impacts of climate change;
Paris Agreement Article 2(1)c
Making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and
climate-resilient development.
Paris Agreement Article 4(1)
In order to achieve the long-term temperature goal set out in Article 2, Parties aim to reach global
peaking of greenhouse gas emissions as soon as possible, recognizing that peaking will take
longer for developing country Parties, and to undertake rapid reductions thereafter in accordance
with best available science, so as to achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions by
sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of this century, on the basis
of equity, and in the context of sustainable development and efforts to eradicate poverty.
Given its contribution to global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, the energy sector is expected to
play a significant role in the long-term decarbonisation of the economy. Figure 4 suggests that in one
climate scenario the proportion of coal, oil, and gas in the global power generation mix will shrink to
31% of the total by 2050. It is important to recognise however that not only is the supply of energy
expected to be a factor in global decarbonisation, but the demand for energy plays a crucial role too.
In addition, the behaviour of private and state-owned energy companies (not commonly invested in
by UK pension funds) is as important as their publicly traded counterparts.
The issue faced by diversified investors (such as pension funds) is not limited to the oil & gas and
power generation sectors, but also to downstream sectors. Investors focussing exclusively on
primary energy suppliers could fail to identify material climate risks in other sectors. Research
suggests that the oil & gas sector is not homogeneous with regards to climate risk: were climate
policies to affect the oil price, those companies with assets lower down the cost curve are less likely
to be financially compromised by those companies with higher-cost assets. Investors that assume
each fossil fuel company bears an equal magnitude of climate-related risk could be led towards suboptimal decision-making.
The Fund recognises that climate-related risks can be financially material and that the due
consideration of climate risk falls within the scope of the Fund’s fiduciary duty. Given the Fund’s
long-dated liabilities and the timeframe in which climate risks could materialise, a holistic approach
to risk management covering all sectors and all relevant asset classes is warranted.
Figure 4: The Bloomberg New Energy Outlook global power generation mix. Source:
BloombergNEF.

166

Appendix B

167

Appendix B

Governance
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities

Roles and responsibilities at the Fund are set out clearly in the Fund’s Governance Compliance
Statement. Overall responsibility for managing the Fund lies with the full Council of Leicestershire
County Council which has delegated the management and administration of the Fund to the
Leicestershire Pension Fund Committee.
The Pension Committee (“the Committee”) is responsible for preparing the Investment Strategy
Statement (ISS). The ISS includes a formal investment belief on responsible investment, recognising
its ability to enhance long-term performance. The Pension Fund Committee meets quarterly and
includes voting reports from its LGIM and LGPS Central sub-funds as well as the LGPS Central
Quarterly Stewardship Update. The Committee will in due course consider and approve a specific
Climate Strategy.
The Fund has received two Climate Risk Reports from LGPS Central, which will support the formation
of the Fund’s Climate Strategy.
The Local Pensions Board has an oversight role in ensuring the effective and efficient governance
and administration of the Fund, including securing compliance with LGPS Regulations and any other
legislation relating to the governance and administration of the Scheme.

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities.

The Fund Officers have primary day-to-day responsibility for the way in which climate-related
investment risks are currently managed. As a primarily externally managed fund, the
implementation of much of the management of climate-related risk is delegated onwards to
portfolio managers. External portfolio managers are monitored on a regular basis by the Pensions
Committee.
In 2021 the Fund Officers received a second Climate Risk Report which will enable the consideration
of climate change within strategy setting, including asset allocation and asset selection. Receipt of a
Climate Risk Report is expected to occur annually.

168

Appendix B

Strategy
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation has identified over the
short, medium and long term.

As a diversified asset owner, the range of climate-related risks and opportunities are multifarious
and constantly evolving. A subset of risk factors is presented in Table 1.
Table 1: Example Short, Medium & Long-Term Risks
Short & Medium Term

Long Term

Risks

Carbon prices
Technological change
Policy tightening
Consumer preferences

Resource scarcity
Extreme weather events
Sea level rise

Asset class

Listed equities
Growth assets
Energy-intensive industry
Oil-dependent sovereign issuers
Carbon-intensive corporate issuers

Infrastructure
Property
Agriculture
Commodities
Insurance

Short-term risks include stock price movements resulting from increased regulation to address
climate change. Medium-term risks include policy and technology leading to changes in consumer
behaviour and therefore purchasing decisions – the uptake in electric vehicles is an example of this.
Long-term risks include physical damages to real assets and resource availability. Examples would
include increased sea level rise for coastal infrastructure assets or supply chain impacts for
companies as a result of severe weather events.
The Fund has received a Climate Risk Report and will use the findings to develop a Climate Strategy.

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organisation’s business,
strategy and financial planning.

Although the Fund is diversified across asset classes, regions, and sectors, it is recognised that
climate risk is systemic and is unlikely to be eliminated through diversification alone.
Partly to reduce its climate-related risks, the Fund invested £775,100,000 in a multi-factor climate
fund in 2021. While seeking exposure to five style factors, the fund tilts away from companies that
are carbon intensive or own fossil fuel reserves and tilts towards companies that generate green

169

Appendix B
revenues. The Fund is exploring options to further embed climate-related risks and opportunities
into its investment strategy, including reviewing potential investments in sustainable asset classes
where this supports the Fund’s investment and funding objectives.
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking into consideration different climaterelated scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.

In 2020 the Fund engaged the expertise of an external contractor, Mercer LLC, to understand the
extent to which the Fund’s risk and return characteristics could come to be affected by a set of
plausible climate scenarios. This includes an estimation of the annual climate-related impact on
returns (at the fund and asset-class level). All asset classes are included in this analysis. The climate
scenarios considered are 2°C, 3°C and 4°C. This analysis is carried out every 2 to 3 years and the
results of the 2020 analysis are provided below.
The scenarios are defined according to the change since pre-industrial times in mean global surface
temperatures. A 2°C scenario represents a low carbon economy transformation most closely aligned
with successful implementation of the Paris Agreement’s ambition. A 3°C scenario involves some
climate action but a failure to meet the Paris Agreement 2°C objective and meaningfully alleviate
anticipated physical damages. A 4°C scenario reflects a fragmented policy pathway where current
commitments are not implemented and there is a serious failure to alleviate anticipated physical
damages. At the time of writing, current national climate policies imply a 3°C scenario.
Table 2: Annualised climate change impact on portfolio returns – to 2030 and 20501.
Estimated climate impact on returns

4⁰C

3⁰C

2⁰C

Scenario

1

Timeline

Current Asset Allocation as of
31/12/2019

Strategic Asset Allocation

2030

0.12%

0.15%

2050

-0.02%

-0.01%

2030

-0.02%

-0.02%

2050

-0.08%

-0.07%

2030

-0.07%

-0.07%

2050

-0.13%

-0.13%

Extract above from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated 20 October 2020
prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking climate change scenario analysis for
Leicestershire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on this information without Mercer’s prior written
permission. The findings and opinions expressed are the intellectual property of Mercer and are not intended to convey
any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained
from a range of third party sources. Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information
and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.

170

Appendix B

The analysis included the whole of LPF’s investment portfolio. Two variations of LPF’s investment
portfolio were considered 1) the current asset allocation as of 31st December 2019 and 2) the
‘strategic asset allocation’ which included the Fund’s 2020 changes. The main differences between
the two are: placing 16.3% in low carbon equities shifting on a pro-rata basis from other equities
allocations; and allocating 4% to MAC coming from a reduction in targeted return.
According to the analysis summarised in Table 2, a 2°C scenario is, according to the model used, the
best climate scenario from a returns perspective (adding 0.12% in annual returns to the Asset
Allocation on a timeline to 2030). This positive impact is boosted under the Strategic Asset Allocation
reflecting the 16% allocation to Low Carbon Equities. A 4°C scenario is the worst of the three
considered (detracting 0.07% over the same period for both asset allocations). This is due to the
model’s assumption that this level of warming would result in increased physical risks (such as
extreme weather events and water scarcity) which act as a drag on returns. The Fund is using the
analysis to set a Climate Strategy.
Translating Climate Scenario Analysis into an investment strategy is a challenge because there is a
wide range of plausible climate scenarios; the probability of any given scenario is hard to determine,
and; the best performing sectors and asset classes in a 2°C scenario tend to be the worst performers
in a 4°C and vice versa. Despite the challenges, the Fund believes in seeking out the best available
climate-related research in order to make its portfolio as robust as possible.

171

Appendix B

Risk Management
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Describe the organisation’s process for identifying and assessing climate-related risks.

The Fund seeks to identify and assesses climate-related risks at the total Fund level and the
individual asset level. The Fund’s 2020 and 2021 Climate Risk Reports include a combination of both
top-down and bottom-up analyses2. The Fund recognises that the tools and techniques for assessing
climate-related risks in investment portfolios are an imperfect but evolving discipline. The Fund aims
to use the best available information to assess climate-related threats to investment performance.
As far as possible climate risks are assessed in units of investment return, in order to compare with
other investment risk factors.
As a primarily externally-managed pension fund, the identification and assessment of climaterelated risks is also the responsibility of individual fund managers appointed by the Fund. Existing
fund managers are monitored on a regular basis.
Engagement activity is conducted with investee companies through selected stewardship partners
including LGPS Central, EOS at Federated Hermes, and LAPFF (see below). Based on the findings of
its Climate Risk Report, the Fund has devised a Climate Stewardship Plan in order to focus
engagement resources on the investments most relevant to the Fund.
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Describe the organisation’s process for managing climate-related risks.

The prioritisation of risks is determined based on the level of perceived threat to the Fund which, for
climate-related risk, will likely depend on analyses including Climate Scenario Analysis and Carbon
Risk Metrics.
Stewardship activities are an important aspect of the Fund’s approach to managing climate risk. The
Fund expects all investee companies to manage material risks, including climate change, and the
Fund believes that climate risk management can be meaningfully improved through focussed
stewardship activities by investors.
The Fund supports the engagement objectives of the Climate Action 100+ initiative, viz. that
companies: adopt the appropriate governance structures to effectively manage climate risk;
decarbonise in line with the Paris Agreement, and; disclose effectively using the TCFD
recommendations.
Either through its own membership or through LGPS Central’s membership, the Fund has several
engagement partners that engage investee companies on climate risk.

2

Climate Scenario Analysis only included in the 2020 Climate Risk Report.

172

Appendix B

Table 3: The Fund’s Stewardship Partners
Organisation

Remit
The Fund is a 1/8th owner of LGPS Central.
Climate change is one of LGPS Central’s stewardship themes, with
quarterly progress reporting available on the website.
The Responsible Investment Team at LGPS Central engages companies
on LPF’s behalf, including via the Climate Action 100+ initiative.
EOS at Federated Hermes is engaged by LGPS Central to expand the
scope of the engagement programme, especially to reach non-UK
companies.
In 2019, EOS conducted engagements on 238 climate change issues
across its company universe.
LPF is a long-standing member of the Local Authority Pension Fund
Forum (LAPFF). LAPFF conducts engagements with companies on behalf
of local authority pension funds.
In 2019 LAPFF conducted over 150 engagements on climate change.

The instruction of shareholder voting opportunities is an important part of climate stewardship. The
Fund delegates responsibility for voting to LGPS Central or the Fund’s directly appointed investment
managers. For Fund assets managed by the former, votes are cast in accordance with LGPS Central’s
Voting Principles, to which the Fund contributes during the annual review process. LGPS Central’s
Voting Principles incorporate climate change, for example by voting against companies that do not
meet certain thresholds in the Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) scoring system. LGPS Central
recently co-filed climate-related shareholder resolutions at the meetings of BP Plc, Barclays Plc, and
Credit Suisse. Fund assets managed by appointed external managers, votes must be cast in line with
industry best practice as set out in the accepted governance codes.
The results of engagement and voting activities are reviewed by the Pensions Committee on a
quarterly basis, via voting reports and the LGPS Central Quarterly Stewardship Update.
Based on its first Climate Risk Report, the Fund has developed a Climate Stewardship Plan which,
alongside the widescale engagement activity undertaken by LGPS Central, EOS at Federated Hermes,
and LAPFF, includes targeted engagement with nine investee companies of particular significance to
the Fund’s portfolio.

173

Appendix B
Table 4: Companies included in the Climate Stewardship Plan
Company
Anhui Conch Cement
BP
Cemex
Glencore
Holcim
NextEra
Shell
Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing

Sector
Materials
Energy
Materials
Materials
Materials
Utilities
Energy
Info Tech

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks are integrated
into the organisation’s overall risk management.

Both ‘mainstream’ risks and climate-related risks are discussed by the Pension. While specific macroeconomic risks are not usually included in isolation, the Fund has noted climate risk within its Risk
Register.
Climate risk is further managed through the Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan.

174

Appendix B

Metrics and Targets
TCFD Recommended Disclosure
a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line
with its strategy and risk management process.

The Fund has recently received its second annual report from LGPS Central Ltd, setting out the
carbon risk metrics for its listed equities portfolios, which represent 49% of the Fund’s total assets.
The poor availability of data in asset classes other than listed equities prevents a more complete
analysis at this time.
The carbon risk metrics analysis includes:






portfolio carbon footprints3,
weight of portfolios invested in companies with fossil fuel reserves
weight of portfolios invested in companies with thermal coal reserves
weight of portfolios invested in companies whose products and services include clean
technology
metrics assessing the management of climate risk by portfolio companies

Carbon risk metrics aid the Fund in assessing the potential climate-related risks to which the Fund is
exposed, and identifying areas for further risk management, including company engagement and
fund manager monitoring. The Fund additionally monitors stewardship data (see above).

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the
related risks. TCFD Guidance: Asset owners should provide the weighted average carbon intensity, where data
are available or can be reasonably estimated, for each fund or investment strategy.

In line with the TCFD guidance and following receipt of a report from LGPS Central Limited we
provide below the carbon footprints of our equity portfolio4:

Table 5: Carbon risk metrics for the equity portfolio as at 31st March 20215
3

Following TCFD guidance we use weighted average portfolio carbon footprints.
st
Analysis undertaken on the listed equities portfolios with holdings data as of 31 March 2021. The
information in Table 5 was provided to the Fund in a report authored by LGPS Central Limited. In LGPS Central
Limited’s report, the Total Equities portfolio comprises the Total Active Equities and the Total Passive Equities
portfolios weighted according to their size in GBP. The Total Active Equities portfolio contains two underlying
portfolios managed for the Fund by LGPS Central. The Total Passive Equities portfolio contains six underlying
portfolios managed for the Fund by LGIM and one underlying portfolio managed by LGPS Central.
4

175

Appendix B

Portfolio
Name

Benchmark
Total
Equities
Blended
Benchmark
Blended
Active
Benchmark
Blended
Passive
Benchmark

Total
Equities
Total
Active
Equities
Total
Passive
Equities

Carbon Footprint
(tCO₂e/$m revenue)

Weight in Fossil Fuel
Reserves (%)

Weight in Thermal Coal
Reserves (%)

Weight in Clean
Technology (%)

PF

BM

% Diff

PF

BM

% Diff

PF

BM

% Diff

PF

BM

% Diff

120.2

143.9

-16.5%

6.3%

6.5%

-0.2%

2.7%

2.9%

-0.2%

38.8%

39.5%

-0.7%

131.2

213.0

-38.4%

6.6%

7.4%

-0.8%

2.2%

2.8%

-0.7%

36.2%

38.7%

-2.5%

115.8

-

-

6.1%

-

-

2.9%

-

-

39.9%

-

-

The Fund’s total Equities portfolio is 16.5% more carbon efficient than the blended benchmark. This
means that, on average, for every $m of economic output companies produce, the Fund’s investee
companies emit 16.5% fewer GHG emissions than the companies in the blended benchmark. The
Total Equities portfolio has a lower exposure to both fossil fuel reserves and thermal coal reserves
than its blended benchmark. The Total Active Equities portfolio is 38.4% more carbon efficient than
its benchmark, and the Total Passive Equities has a carbon footprint of 115.8 tCO₂e/ $m revenue.
As per Figures 5, 6 and 7, the Fund’s carbon risk metrics have improved between 31st December
2019 and 31st March 2021. Within this timeframe, the Fund’s portfolio carbon footprint has
decreased (Fig. 5), the exposure to fossil fuel reserves has decreased (Fig. 6), and the weight in clean
technology has increased (Fig. 7).

Figure 5: Total Equity Carbon Footprint
5

Certain information ©2021 MSCI ESG Research LLC. Reproduced by permission.

176

Appendix B

2021

2019

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Carbon Footprint tCO2e/$m revenue

Figure 6: Total Equity Exposure to Fossil Fuel Reserves

Weight in Fossil Fuel Reserves

Weight in Thermal Coal

Weight in Coal Power

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

% of Portfolio
2021

2019

Figure 7: Total Equity Weight in Clean Technology

2021

2019

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

% of Portfolio

30%

35%

40%

45%

177

Appendix B

Whilst the Fund’s carbon risk metrics results show the Fund already ‘outperforms’ its benchmarks,
the Fund is proactively exploring ways to further embed climate risk management in its investment
decision making. The Fund expects to update its carbon risk metrics data on an annual basis.

TCFD Recommended Disclosure
c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and
performance against targets.

The ability for diversified investors (such as pension funds) to set meaningful climate targets is
inhibited by the paucity of credible methodologies and data currently available. Like most investors,
the Fund is supportive of the development of target-setting methodologies, and the increasing
completeness of carbon datasets. The Fund wishes to set meaningful and challenging climate targets
for its investment portfolio and work is underway to assess options within the limitations of
currently available data.

178

Appendix B

Appendix 1
TCFD Recommendations for Asset Owners (source: TCFD)
Governance

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks and
opportunities.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe management’s role in assessing and managing climaterelated risks and opportunities.
Strategy

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation
has identified over the short, medium, and long term.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the
organisation’s businesses, strategy, and financial planning.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe the resilience of the organisation’s strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.
Risk Management

Recommended Disclosure (a) Describe the organisation’s processes for identifying and assessing
climate-related risks.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Describe the organisation’s processes for managing climate-related
risks.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing
climate-related risks are integrated into the organisation’s overall risk management.
Metrics and Targets

Recommended Disclosure (a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climate-related
risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process.
Recommended Disclosure (b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions, and the related risks.
Recommended Disclosure (c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climaterelated risks and opportunities and performance against targets.

179

Appendix B

Appendix 2: Glossary
Clean Technology/ Weight in Clean Technology: the weight of a portfolio invested in companies
whose products and services include clean technology. Products and services eligible for inclusion
include Alternative Energy, Energy Efficiency, Green Building, Pollution Prevention, Sustainable
Water.
Coal Reserves/ Portfolio exposure to thermal coal reserves: the weight of a portfolio invested in
companies that own thermal coal reserves.
Engagement: dialogue with a company concerning particular aspects of its strategy, governance,
policies, practices, and so on. Engagement includes escalation activity where concerns are not
addressed within a reasonable time frame.
Fossil Fuel Reserves/ Portfolio exposure to fossil fuel reserves: the weight of a portfolio invested in
companies that own fossil fuel reserves.
Physical risk/ climate physical risk: the financial risks and opportunities associated with the
anticipated increase in frequency and severity of extreme weather events and other phenomena,
including storms, flooding, sea level rise and changing seasonal extremities.
Portfolio Carbon Footprint/ Carbon Footprint: A proxy for a portfolio’s exposure to potential
climate-related risks (especially the cost of carbon), often compared to a performance benchmark. It
is calculated by working out the carbon intensity (Scope 1+2 Emissions / $M sales) for each portfolio
company and calculating the weighted average by portfolio weight.
Scope 1 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Direct emissions from owner or sources controlled by the
owner, including: on-campus combustion of fossil fuels; and mobile combustion of fossil fuels by
institution-controlled vehicles.
Scope 2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased energy
Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Indirect emissions that are not controlled by the institution but
occur as a result of that institutions activities. Examples include commuting, waste disposal and
embodied emissions from extraction.
Stewardship: the promotion of the long-term success of companies in such a way that the ultimate
providers of capital also prosper, using techniques including engagement and voting.
Transition risk/ climate transition risk: the financial risks and opportunities associated with the
anticipated transition to a lower carbon economy. This can include technological progress, shifts in
subsidies and taxes, and changes to consumer preferences or market sentiment.
Voting: the act of casting the votes bestowed upon an investor, usually in virtue of the investor’s
ownership of ordinary shares in publicly listed companies.

180

Appendix B

Appendix 3: Important Information
Extract above from Mercer Limited’s (Mercer) report “Climate Change Scenario Analysis” dated 20
October 2020 prepared for and issued to LGPS Central Limited for the sole purpose of undertaking
climate change scenario analysis for Leicestershire Pension Fund. Other third parties may not rely on
this information without Mercer’s prior written permission. The findings and opinions expressed are
the intellectual property of Mercer and are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future
performance of the investment strategy. Information contained herein has been obtained from a
range of third party sources. Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of
the information and is not responsible for the data supplied by any third party.
The following notices relates to Table 4 (above), which is produced for the Fund by LGPS Central
Limited based on a product licensed by MSCI ESG Research LLC. This report confers no suggestion or
representation of any affiliation, endorsement or sponsorship between LGPS Central and MSCI ESG
Research LLC. Additionally:
Although LGPS Central’s information providers, including without limitation, MSCI ESG Research LLC
and its affiliates (the “ESG Parties”), obtain information (the “Information”) from sources they
consider reliable, none of the ESG Parties warrants or guarantees the originality, accuracy and/or
completeness, of any data herein and expressly disclaim all express or implied warranties, including
those of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. The Information may only be used for
your internal use, may not be reproduced or redisseminated in any form and may not be used as a
basis for, or a component of, any financial instruments or products or indices. Further, none of the
Information can in and of itself be used to determine which securities to buy or sell or when to buy
or sell them. None of the ESG Parties shall have any liability for any errors or omissions in
connection with any data herein, or any liability for any direct, indirect, special, punitive,
consequential or any other damages (including lost profits) even if notified of the possibility of such
damages.

181
Appendix C

Stewardship Update
F O U R T H Q U A R T E R , 2 0 2 1-2 2

(J A N U A R Y – M A R C H 2 0 2 2)

LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

182
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

Responsible Investment
& Engagement:
LGPS Central’s approach

LGPS Central’s approach to Responsible Investment & Engagement carries two objectives:
OBJECTIVE #1

OBJECTIVE #2

Support investment
objectives

Be an exemplar for RI within the ﬁnancial
services industry, promote collaboration
and raise standards across the marketplace

These are met through three pillars:

Our Selection
of assets

Our Stewardship
of assets

Our commitment to
Transparency &
Disclosure

This update covers LGPS Central’s (LGPSC) stewardship activity. Our stewardship efforts are supplemented by global engagement
and voting services provided by EOS at Federated Hermes (EOS). For more information, please refer to our Responsible Investment &
Engagement Framework and Annual Stewardship Report.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES
Responsible
Investment &
Engagement
Framework

Annual
Stewardship
Report

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Voting
Principles

Voting
Disclosure

Voting
Statistics

2

183
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

01 Summary of engagement
and voting activity

Below is a high-level summary of key engagements and voting that have taken place during Q4 of the financial year 2021-22. These and
other engagements and voting examples will be covered in more detail later in this update.

ENVIRONMENTAL

SOCIAL

GOVERNANCE

Glencore has made progress, but short/
medium term targets fall short: LGPS
Central has continued as co-lead of
CA100+ engagement with Glencore on
their plans and progress to decarbonise
in line with Paris and its own net zero by
2050 ambition. We expect more ambitious
short-and medium-term targets, as well as
capex planning that does not go beyond
sustaining existing coal activities.

We held a meeting with Motorola
Solutions, Inc. during the quarter to
discuss their management of human rights
risks in Occupied Palestinian Territories
(OPT). In the meeting, we emphasised the
need for the company to carry out human
rights impact assessments in line with the
UN Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights.

In March, we signed a letter to the US
Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC), alongside over 100 other investors,
in support of a shareholder proposal
asking for tax transparency at Amazon.
In a letter to Amazon in April, SEC ruled in
favour of the shareholders who demanded
a vote on the issue. The shareholder
resolution, which will now be allowed
to go to a vote at Amazon’s AGM on 25
May represents one of the first times
the regulator has granted a shareholder
request on tax matters. This helps fortify
a view that responsible tax behaviour
is inextricably linked to overall good
governance and to ensuring sustainable,
long-term value creation.

175 nations endorsed a historic resolution
at the UN Environment Assembly to
negotiate a UN treaty on plastic pollution.
This is in part a result of businesses and
investors, including LGPSC, calling for
such a treaty.

Over the last two years, LGPSC has been
a member of a collaborative investorinitiative that has successfully encouraged
laggard FTSE 350 companies to meet
the reporting requirements of Section
54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
Last quarter, we co-signed letters to 44
companies that have failed to meet the
minimum reporting standards of the Act.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

3

184
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

Voting highlights:

APPLE INC.

WH SMITH

We voted against management on seven proposals. We opposed
Apple’s executive compensation proposal as we viewed the
CEO’s $75 million equity award as excessive and inconsistent
with the company’s stated focus on addressing inequities in
society. A significant proportion, 35.6%, of shareholders opposed
the executive remuneration proposal. We also voted for five
human rights related shareholder proposals. See further detail on
page 12.

We voted against the company’s proposed annual bonuses of
£550,000 and £357,500 to CEO Carl Cowling and CFO Robert
Moorhead, respectively. These represent 100% and 81.3% of their
annual base salaries. WH Smith, in light of the ongoing impact of
the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, has suspended dividends
to investors for the financial year. See further detail on page 12.

GLOBAL VOTING

ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITY DURING THE QUARTER

We voted at 493 meetings (5,327 resolutions) over the
last quarter.
Total meetings in favour 48.1%
Meeting against (or against AND
abstain) 49.1%
Meetings abstained 0.6%

1346
Activities

Meetings with management by
exception 2.2%

GLOBAL VOTING
We voted against or abstained 695 resolutions over the
last quarter.
Board structure 54.0%

715
Objectives

Remuneration 21.7%
Shareholder resolution 5.6%
Capital structure and dividends 3.2%
Amend articles 4.0%

258

Progress

Audit and accounts 6.9%
Other 4.6%

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

4

185
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

02 Engagement
Case Studies

Below, we give more detailed examples of ongoing or new
engagements which relate to the four Stewardship Themes that
have been identified in collaboration with our Partner Funds.
Our Stewardship Themes, based on the latest revision in 2021, are:
•
•
•
•

Climate change
Plastic
Fair tax payment and tax transparency
Human rights risks

1
2

This quarter our engagement set1 comprised 570 companies.
There was engagement activity on 1,346 engagement issues
and objectives2. Against 715 specific objectives, there was
achievement of some or all on 258 occasions. Most engagements
were conducted through letter issuance or remote company
meetings, where we, our partners or our stewardship provider in a
majority of cases met or wrote to the Chair, a Board member or a
member of senior management.

This includes engagements undertaken directly, in collaboration, and via our contracted Stewardship Provider.
There can be more than one engagement issue per company, for example board diversity and climate change.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

5

186
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

CLIMATE CHANGE ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter, our climate change engagement set comprised 292 companies with 380 engagement issues and objectives3. There was
progress on 151 specific engagement objectives against a total of 292 objectives.

GLENCORE PLC

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

Theme: Climate change

STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

DIRECT

• 380 engagements during the quarter
• Majority of engagements undertaken via CA100+
• Shareholder proposal on climate filed at Credit Suisse
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

OBJECTIVES

151

292

Objective: We expect companies to consider relevant,
material social and environmental risk factors in their longterm strategic business planning. Since assuming the role
of co-lead in CA100+ engagement with Glencore, we have
held multiple constructive dialogues with the company
relating to the company’s climate action plan.
Engagement: We met with Glencore’s CEO to discuss
the company’s climate progress report, which is on the
AGM agenda as an advisory vote to measure Glencore’s
progress against its Climate Transition Plan (approved
by shareholders at the 2021 AGM). When the plan was
passed by shareholders in 2021, short-term targets had
not yet been published. At the meeting, we raised concerns
around their short-term targets – 15% GHG emissions
reduction by 2026 which will largely come from decline in
coal exposure. It is our view that the short-term target does
not provide assurance of alignment with the International
Energy Agency Net Zero by 2050 Scenario (NZE) and
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)
1.5C scenarios pathways for coal reduction. The IPCC
has identified the use of coal to power electricity as the
single biggest inhibitor to achieving Paris objectives. We
therefore view it as particularly important that a company
like Glencore provide clear and robust targets that show a
Paris-aligned trajectory in the next 10 years. Furthermore,
we strongly encourage Glencore to proactively lobby
(directly and indirectly) in a manner that supports its
decarbonisation commitment.
Outcome: Glencore received 23.72% opposition, including
from LGPSC, to the Transition Plan Report and will be
expected to engage its shareholders to understand their
concerns. We commend Glencore for taking positive
steps toward Paris-alignment and for being one of the
first companies to provide shareholders a Say on Climate.
We have explained our vote rationale to the company
and expect to continue constructive engagement with
Glencore alongside the other co-leads of CA100+.

3

There can be more than one climate-related engagement issue and/or objective per company.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

6

187
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

CREDIT SUISSE GROUP AG
Theme: Climate Change
Objective: We expect companies to consider relevant,
material social and environmental risk factors in their
long-term strategic business planning. Credit Suisse is
one of the first banks to commit to align its activities with
the Paris Agreement but continues to be one of the top
financiers of fossil fuels. We would need to see targets
and action in the short and medium term that ensures
achievement of the banks own NZ ambition.
Engagement: LGPSC, alongside eleven institutional
investors managing €2.18 trillion have filed a climate
resolution at Credit Suisse. Through a proposed
amendment to the bank’s articles of association, the
coalition of shareholders ask that Credit Suisse improve its
climate risk disclosures, bring its coal, oil and gas policies
in line with leading practice in the sector, and publish shortand long-term targets to reduce its exposure to coal, oil
and gas assets, on a timeline consistent with the 1.5°C
goal of the Paris Agreement. Ahead of COP26 last year,
Credit Suisse was one of the banks which received a letter
co-signed by LGPSC with more than 100 investors, setting
out expectations for Paris-alignment and protection and
restoration of biodiversity.
Outcome: Several rounds of engagement with Credit
Suisse, led by co-filers ShareAction and Ethos Foundation,
has led to the bank making several commitments in the
weeks ahead of its AGM. However, LGPSC believed the
bank did not address several requests that were made
in the resolution, including disclosing its capital markets
fossil fuel activities. The co-filers unanimously decided to
keep the resolution on the AGM ballot, making it the first
climate-related shareholder resolution at a Swiss bank. The
resolution received support from 18.52% of shareholders
and a further 4.27% abstained.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

7

188
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

PLASTIC ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter our single-use plastics engagement set comprised
29 companies with 30 engagement issues and objectives4. There
was progress on 18 specific engagement objectives against a
total of 26 objectives.

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

DIRECT

• 30 engagements during the quarter
• Historic resolution at the UN Environment Assembly to
negotiate a UN treaty on plastic pollution, advocated in
advance by businesses and investors
• Shareholder
proposal
at
Tyson
Foods
to
reduce plastic packaging supported by 59% of
independent shareholders
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

18

OBJECTIVES

26

Businesses and investors, including LGPS Central, calling for
UN treaty on plastic pollution (www.plasticpollutiontreaty.org)
during 2021 has helped bring about a historic resolution at the
UN Environment Assembly to negotiate such a treaty. The aim
of a treaty is to establish a coordinated international response
that aligns businesses and governments behind a shared
understanding of the causes of plastic pollution, and a clear
approach to addressing them. The treaty will address the full
lifecycle of plastic from source to sea.

TYSON FOODS, INC.
Theme: Plastic
Objective: As one of LGPSC’s core stewardship themes, we
look to support resolutions that encourage better plasticrelated risk management (reduce plastic use, reduce
plastic waste, increase recycling, invest in relevant R&D).
Rationale: We supported a shareholder resolution which
urged the company to reduce its use of plastic packaging.
Analysis shows that Tyson does not disclose the amount
of plastic packaging it uses or any targets it has for
reducing plastic use. Tyson’s actions lagged the practices
of other supply-chain efforts to reduce plastic use and
packaging waste, including at competitors Pilgrim’s Pride,
Hormel Foods, and Smithfield Foods.
Result: Although ultimately unsuccessful, this proposal
was supported by 59% of independent shareholders that
are not held by Tyson Limited Partnership or Tyson’s
directors or executive officers. In our view, proposals such
as this can bring attention to the continued use of plastic
packaging – a critical issue for both the environment
and the company’s future. EOS at Federated Hermes, our
Stewardship Provider, has a long-standing engagement
with Tyson and will continue dialogue with the company
on various ESG-related issues including circular economy
and plastic-related risk management.

4

There can be more than one plastic-related engagement issue and/or objective per company.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

8

189
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

FAIR TAX PAYMENT AND TAX TRANSPARENCY ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter, our tax transparency engagement set comprised 12 companies with 12 engagement issues and objectives. There was
progress on three specific engagement objectives against a total of 12 objectives.

AMAZON.COM, INC.

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

Theme: Responsible Tax Behaviour

STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

DIRECT

• Seven engagements during the quarter
• Investor letter to the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), in support of a shareholder
proposal at Amazon asking for tax transparency
ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

PROGRESS

OBJECTIVES

3

12

Objective: The trust an organisation builds with its
stakeholders is of critical (though intangible) value.
As a measure of an organisation’s contribution to the
economies it operates in, tax is a key dimension in building
that trust. We therefore expect companies to pay their fair
share of tax. In past engagement with other companies,
we have asked for board oversight of tax policy and
risk assessment; greater disclosure of tax strategy and
policy; robust management of tax related risks, including
preferably a country-by-country tax disclosure; link
between company’s purpose, sustainability goals and
tax strategy; and engagement with tax policy makers and
other stakeholders.
Engagement: In March 2022, we signed a letter to the US
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), alongside
over 100 other investors, in support of a shareholder
proposal at Amazon asking for tax transparency. The
company had earlier in January wrote to the SEC requesting
approval for a shareholder resolution on the topic to be
excluded from voting at its next AGM, arguing that tax
was an ordinary business matter and therefore subject
to a shareholder resolution exemption. The resolution
demanding Amazon adopt a new reporting standard on tax
practices was originally brought by a Catholic investment
fund and UK public retirement scheme in December. The
shareholder proposal reads: “The Board of Directors issue
a tax transparency report to shareholders, at reasonable
expense and excluding confidential information, prepared
in consideration of the indicators and guidelines set forth
in the Global Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) Tax Standard”.
Through our engagement with companies on tax, we
aim to support investor expectations – e.g., as expressed
by the GRI tax standard and the UK Fair Tax Mark – in
dialogue with companies.
Outcome: In a letter to Amazon in April, SEC ruled in favour
of the shareholders who demanded a vote on the issue.
The shareholder resolution, which will now be allowed to
go to a vote at Amazon’s AGM on May 25 represents one
of the first times the regulator has granted a shareholder
request on tax matters.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

9

190
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

HUMAN RIGHTS RISKS ENGAGEMENTS
This quarter our human rights related engagements comprised 117 companies with 143 engagements issues and objectives. There was
progress on 28 specific engagement objectives against a total of 98 objectives.

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY TYPE

STEWARDSHIP
PROVIDER
PARTNERSHIP

DIRECT

now compliant. Initial positive responses have given an
opening for meetings to discuss companies’ approaches
to modern slavery. Following up on that success, we cosigned letters that are sent to 44 companies that have
failed to meet the minimum reporting standards of the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
Outcome: The letters were sent in February 2022, and we
will follow-up with further engagement and monitoring of
progress. LGPSC will consider voting against the report
and accounts should the companies remain in a noncompliant state.

MOTOROLA SOLUTIONS, INC.
• 143 engagements during the quarter
• Phase III of ongoing engagement project on modern
slavery initiated, asking 44 FTSE 350 laggard companies
to comply with the UK Modern Slavery Act
• Engagement with Motorola on human rights risks in
Occupied Palestinian Territories

Theme: Human Rights (Conflict Areas)

ENGAGEMENT VOLUME BY OUTCOME

Engagement: LGPSC initiated dialogue with Motorola
Solutions, Inc. in 2020. We engaged the company on
human rights risks from its operations in the Occupied
Palestinian Territories (OPT). Since engagement began,
we have communicated with the company through several
written correspondences and voted against the Chair at
the 2021 AGM. These culminated in a meeting that took
place in January 2022. In the meeting, we emphasised the
need for the company to carry out human rights impact
assessments in line with the UN Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights. We have also provided the
company with a list of potential third-party providers who
can assist in carrying out such an assessment.

PROGRESS

28

OBJECTIVES

98

44 FTSE 350 COMPANIES
Theme: Human Rights (Modern Slavery)
Objective: Over the last two years, LGPSC has been a
member of a collaborative investor-initiative convened by
Rathbones Group Plc (Rathbones) that has successfully
encouraged laggard FTSE 350 companies to meet the
reporting requirements of Section 54 of the Modern
Slavery Act 2015. According to the Act, companies with a
turnover of more than £36 million per year must publish a
modern slavery statement and ensure that the statement
is approved by the board; signed by a director; and reviewed
annually and published on the company’s UK website.

Objective: We expect businesses that operate in areas of
war and conflict to take particular care to respect human
rights. The Israeli-Palestinian conflict poses clear human
rights risks for companies, but the sensitive political
situation makes engagement challenging.

Outcome: We were pleased when the company agreed to
meet and discuss these issues at the January 2022 meeting
and will continue this engagement with the company.

Engagement: During 2021, we engaged 61 FTSE350
companies asking for Modern Slavery Act compliance.
As per end 2021, all companies have responded and are

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

10

191
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

03 Voting

POLICY

COMMENTARY

For UK listed companies, we vote our shares in accordance with
a set of bespoke LGPSC UK Voting Principles. For other markets,
we consider the recommendations and advice of our third-party
proxy advisor, EOS at Federated Hermes.

Between January – March 2022, we:
•
•
•
•

Voted at 493 meetings (5,327 resolutions) globally
Opposed one or more resolutions at 242 meetings
Voted with management by exception at 11 meetings
Supported management on all resolutions at the remaining
237 meetings.

A full overview of voting decisions for securities held in portfolios
within the Company’s Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) –
broken down by market, issues and reflecting number of votes
against and abstentions – can be found here.

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

11

192
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

EXAMPLES OF VOTING DECISIONS
APPLE INC.
Theme: Executive remuneration, human rights
Rationale: LGPSC voted against management on seven
proposals. We opposed Apple’s executive compensation proposal
as we viewed the CEO’s $75 million equity award as excessive
and inconsistent with the company’s stated focus on addressing
inequities in society. We also disagreed on the structure of the
award, of which half is purely time-based. The time-based grant
will vest in three equal tranches; the first of which will vest on 1
April 2023, with the remainder vesting annually over the following
two years. The equity award will continue to vest in full based on
their original time or performance conditions should he retire on
or after the first anniversary of the grant date. It is our view that
this award is not adequately aligned with the long-term interest of
shareholders. In line with LGPS Central Voting Principles, we will
oppose remuneration proposals where levels of remuneration are
perceived to be excessive and unfair which can be demotivating
to staff and reputationally damaging to the company.
We also voted for five shareholder proposals. We note that
human rights frequently feature in these shareholder proposals,
with resolutions asking for transparency in issues such as forced
labour, censorship, work culture, gender and racial pay gap and
civil rights. In our view, investors would benefit from the increased
transparency these resolutions asked for.
Result: 35.6% of shareholders opposed the executive remuneration
proposal. This is significant opposition, and we would expect the
company to consider investor concerns. Apple has confirmed to
our stewardship provider EOS that they will deliver EOS’ feedback
to the compensation committee. The shareholder proposals
requesting Apple to conduct a civil rights audit and to investigate
the company’s use of clauses that prevent employees from
speaking out about harassment and discrimination were passed
by shareholders.

WH SMITH
Theme: Executive remuneration
Rationale: The company proposed to pay annual bonuses of
£550,000 and £357,500 to CEO Carl Cowling and CFO Robert
Moorhead, respectively. These represent 100% and 81.3% of their
annual base salaries. WH Smith, in light of the ongoing impact of
the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, has suspended dividends
to investors for the financial year. The company also took £40
million in business rates relief and £11 million in payments
from furlough schemes in the UK and elsewhere in the year to
September 2021 according to its annual report. We therefore
question the appropriateness of these bonus outcomes which do
not appear to adequately align with the company’s performance
and overall stakeholder experience during the financial year.
We also question the selection of performance metrics which
were used to calculate the bonus outcomes. The company has
FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

historically utilised Group PBT as a financial metric, but this was
changed to headline EBITDA during the FY2021 – even though
headline EBITDA is not identified as a company KPI and has
not been historically disclosed. In this context, it was difficult to
assess the targets attached to the metric. The optics of this move
was also questionable, especially since the company reverted to
Group PBT for FY2022.
Result: Dissent from shareholders was considerable as 45.6% of
shareholders voted against this proposal. According to the UK
Corporate Governance Code, a company that receives shareholder
opposition of more than 20% to a resolution is expected to open
a dialog with the shareholders to understand the shareholder’s
views and reasons for the opposition.

WALGREENS BOOTS
ALLIANCE, INC.
Theme: Executive compensation, shareholder rights and other
ESG topics
Rationale: LGPSC voted against management on four resolutions.
We voted against ratifying executive compensation and against
the re-election of the Chair of the compensation committee.
The company’s say-on-pay vote received the support of only
47.5% of shareholders in 2021. We reviewed the compensation
committee’s shareholder engagement efforts and improvements
on the pay program and concluded that the changes do not fully
address concerns that were raised in last year’s AGM. Considering
the failed vote result from 2021, we believe support is not
warranted for this year’s say-on-pay proposal nor the election of
the compensation committee chair.
We also voted against management recommendation for two
shareholder resolutions: 1) proposal requesting amendment to the
appropriate company governing documents to give the owners of
a combined 10% of outstanding common stock the power to call a
special shareholder meeting, and 2) proposal requesting that the
board disclose a report on the public health costs created by the
sale of tobacco products. In our view, the proposal which seeks
a reduction of the required ownership threshold for shareholders
to call a special meeting from 20% to 10% will further empower
investors and promotes shareholder rights. The proposal on
tobacco sales promotes better management of opportunities and
risks on a topic which many investors will categorise alongside
other material ESG topics.
Result: Dissent on the remuneration report and compensation
committee chair were 38.5% and 24.4% respectively. 12.7% of
shareholders backed the proposal to report on tobacco sales.
Walgreens is scaling back its focus on tobacco, ending all
promotional programs for tobacco products in 2021. Walgreens
CEO Rosalind Brewer is also considering tobacco’s future for
the company.

12

193
L G P S C E N T R A L L I M I T E D Q U A R T E R LY S T E W A R D S H I P U P D AT E

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED’S

Partner Organisations
LGPS Central actively contributes to the following investor groups

FOURTH QUARTER, 2021-22 (JANUARY – M ARCH 2022)
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

13

194

This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes. Any opinions, forecasts or estimates
herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this update, that is subject to change without notice. It does not constitute an offer or an invitation
by or on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or sell any security. Any reference to past performance is not a guide to the future. The
information and analysis contained in this publication have been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable, but LGPS Central Limited
does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability from loss arising from the use thereof. The
opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are solely those of the author. This document may not be produced, either in whole or part,
without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited.

All information is prepared as of 10/05/2022.
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only.
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.
Registered in England. Registered No: 10425159.
Registered Office: First Floor, i9 Wolverhampton Interchange, Wolverhampton WV1 1LD

195
Appendix D

Leicestershire County
Council Pension Fund
Climate strategy – engagement and divestment
May 2022

196
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Contents
Page

1
Introduction
2
Stewardship
3
Engagement and divestment
4
Effective engagement
5
Exclusions
References

May 2022

2
4
6
10
13
14

197
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

1

Introduction

Addressee and purpose
This paper is addressed to the Local Pension Committee of Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the
Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to provide recommendations on the role of engagement and divestment in
delivering the Fund’s climate strategy.
This paper should not be used for any other purpose. It should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any
third party except as required by law or with our prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its
entirety. We accept no liability to any other party unless we have accepted such liability in writing. We provide
comment from an investment but not a legal or tax perspective.
Background and scope
Climate change poses significant risks to long-term investors but also an important source of investment
opportunities. The Fund is developing a strategy for dealing with the impact of climate change on the Fund’s
primary purpose which remains to fund the pension benefits of its members. Contributing to the wider response
to climate change is not considered to be an objective in its own right. The Fund is keen to ensure that its climate
strategy is suitably ambitious, deliverable and aligned with current best practice, and has requested input on
several topics relating to the development of the strategy. This paper covers:
•

Importance of stewardship in delivering the Fund’s climate strategy;

•

Role of engagement and divestment and the pros and cons of each;

•

Characteristics of effective engagement;

•

Circumstances in which divestment and exclusion are appropriate;

•

Areas for future development.

The Fund has adopted the Net Zero Investment Framework (“NZIF”) to guide the development and
implementation of its Climate Strategy. We believe this is a robust framework and our recommendations are
aligned with it.
Summary of recommendations
Long-term asset owners can play a significant role in decarbonising modern economies though the capital
allocation decisions they make and the stewardship of the companies they finance. The role is increasingly being
reflected in regulations and best practice, and recognised to be one of the fiduciary obligations of asset
managers. It is also reflected in the Fund’s commitment to Responsible Investment (“RI”) and in its investment
beliefs.
Both engagement and divestment are proven and necessary elements of an effective approach to stewardship;
they should not be seen as mutually exclusive.
Engagement has the potential to add value to portfolio companies and promote real world change. It is the
recommended approach for long-term asset owners providing the circumstances are conducive to engagement.
Divestment is a necessary alternative and forms a key part of an escalation strategy when engagement proves to
be ineffective. Exclusion policies can pre-empt the need for divestment and can be effective if applied sparingly.
The majority of engagement activity and divestment decisions are delegated by the Fund to its investment
managers include LGPS Central (“LGPSC”). The Fund retains responsibility for setting investment strategy and
policies, which will continue to have a significant impact on stewardship activity and outcomes. Changes to
investment strategy (strategic asset allocation) can, for example, lead to partial or full divestment from entire

May 2022

2

198
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

asset classes. Policies on engagement and divestment/exclusion can also materially influence actions taken, so
the Fund should clearly state its expectations of investment managers in these areas.
The effectiveness of the Fund’s stewardship programme depends on four key elements: agreeing engagement
themes/priorities, setting and monitoring engagement objectives, appropriate delegation and a clear approach to
escalation including divestment.
It also depends on the availability of consistent and accurate climate risk reporting across the vast majority of the
asset classes in which the Fund invests.
In view of these findings, we recommend the Fund:
•

Incorporates both engagement and divestment/exclusion as necessary elements of its stewardship
programme, not as mutually exclusive alternatives;

•

Defines the limits of engagement and an escalation strategy incorporating divestment and seeks to agree
these with its investment managers wherever possible;

•

Notes that divestment/exclusion can be implemented at several levels; by the Fund reducing or eliminating
its allocation to a specific asset class or manager, and by the Fund’s investment managers divesting
individual portfolio companies;

•

Confirms that the four stewardship themes/priorities recently agreed with LGPSC, of which climate change
is considered the most important, remain relevant and focuses on them when engaging with all its
investment managers including LGPSC;

•

Aims over time to increase the frequency and depth of its oversight of stewardship activities undertaken by
LGPSC and its other investment managers;;

•

Develops a carefully targeted exclusion policy which is aligned with the Fund’s investment beliefs and,
wherever possible, seeks to ensure LGPSC and its other investment managers comply with it;

•

Works with LGPSC to expand the scope of its climate risk reporting and to advocate for the introduction of
mandatory corporate emissions disclosure standards across all sectors of the economy.

We look forward to discussing these recommendations with the LPC.

Prepared by:Philip Pearson, Senior Investment Consultant
Jaid Longmore, Responsible Investment Associate Consultant

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP, May 2022.

May 2022

3

199
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Stewardship

2

As the focus on sustainability / ESG issues has grown, there has been an increased emphasis on the importance
of effective stewardship as a mechanism to deliver enhanced returns and tangible real-world outcomes.
Stewardship is defined by the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’) as “the responsible allocation, management and
oversight of capital to create long-term value for clients and beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for the
economy, the environment and society”.
Depending on the asset class, there are various stewardship tools, available to asset owners, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Engaging directly with current or potential portfolio companies, across all asset classes
Voting at shareholder meetings
Filing shareholder resolutions/proposals
Fulfilling direct roles on portfolio company boards and committees
Litigating against companies or management
Engaging with policy makers and standard setters
Engaging with the media to promote stewardship goals.

Additional mechanisms available to asset owners when considering their approach to ESG issues include
exclusions and divestment. Exclusions indicate that the asset owner does not want to allocate investment to certain
companies/ industries when making investments. Divestment indicates an asset owner is already invested in a
company/ industry and is actively considering selling down in part or in full.
The Fund’s investment beliefs acknowledge the importance of stewardship in managing the response to climate
change and indicate a preference for engagement over divestment. These beliefs are shared by LGPSC, the Fund’s
primary investment manager.
Importance of effective stewardship
A range of financial, regulatory and sustainability motivations are driving asset owners and investment managers
to undertake stewardship, including:
•
•
•
•
•

Improving risk-return
Regulation
Fiduciary duty
Universal ownership
Improving real-world outcomes

Improving risk-return
ESG analysis seeks to quantify risks that aren’t captured by traditional financial metrics. There is a growing body
of academic and industry evidence that identifying and addressing ESG issues through continued engagement
contributes to improved risk-adjusted returns (PRI, 2021).
Regulation
There has been a growing push from financial regulators and policy makers for asset owners to take active roles
in overseeing and influencing investee companies, including through stewardship codes and a raft of new
proposals and regulations. Stewardship codes have been designed to enhance the quality of engagement, with
the UK Stewardship Code placing clear requirements with regards to how investors’ stewardship practices should
address ESG issues. These codes, policies, and regulations, some voluntary and some mandatory, show the
growing importance on asset owners to take responsibility of the stewardship of their assts.

May 2022

4

200
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Fiduciary Duty
As a key tool in addressing sustainability risks and maximising overall long-term value, stewardship is widely
considered part of an investor’s fiduciary duty. It is important to consider the outcome achieved and the process
followed to assess whether these duties have been met and the expectation is for investors to use engagement
and other stewardship tools in order to manage risks and maximise returns.
Universal Ownership
Given the reliance of societies and economies on common assets / ‘public goods’, such as a stable climate,
functioning ecosystems and equitable societies, investment returns and broader client and beneficiary interests
are dependent on them. Investors with well-diversified, multi-asset, global portfolios can be seen as ‘universal
owners’ and their obligations to be effective stewards including contributing to the continued functioning of
economies. Universal owners should therefore be concerned not only with the returns of the assets they own but
also overall economic performance and should look to engage on systemic issues, supporting broader
sustainability outcomes and well-functioning financial markets. This is particularly relevant to the Fund given its
belief in the benefits of being a long-term investors, which depend on a well-functioning and sustainable
economy.
Real- World Outcomes
Finally, regulators, beneficiaries and society are increasingly expecting asset owners to consider the real-world
outcomes of their capital allocation decisions. By exerting influence, through engagement and/ or other
stewardship actions, investors can drive real world change. While divestment can be an important mechanism in
approaching ESG issues, divestment alone reduces an asset owners influence over the entity and may therefore
do little to improve issues in the real world.
The role of stewardship in the response to climate change
Climate change is increasingly acknowledged to be one of the most significant risks to asset owners, but it is also
becoming clear that the actions countries need to take to decarbonise their economies represent an enormous
investment opportunity. Pension funds, with their clear fiduciary responsibility to ensure members benefits are
paid, are increasingly expected to take climate-related risks and opportunities into account in developing and
implementing their investment strategies.
Conducting stewardship activities within investment portfolios is one the most direct levers that investors can use
to achieve real-world decarbonisation. There is a significant focus from a UK regulatory perspective on the use of
engagement to advance companies’ transition towards net-zero and the UK’s climate goals given that these
goals cannot be achieved through divestment alone. Effective stewardship is also considered to be best practice
for institutional investors and is a key element of the NZIF.
Divestment can be seen as a capital allocation decision and, if the transition of investment portfolios is completed
by capital allocation alone, it will do little to support real-world decarbonisation directly. Facilitating the transition
to net-zero in the real economy will require investors to actively support decarbonisation efforts through effective
stewardship and engagement.

May 2022

5

201
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

3

Engagement and divestment

Engagement
Engagement is one of the many stewardship tools available to investors and typically involves meetings, calls or
email communication between the investor and engagement target in which specific ESG issues are discussed,
and clear expectations and objectives are set. Voting and proposing shareholder resolutions are further forms of
engagement.
Engagement can take place with multiple stakeholders, for example, asset owners are able to engage directly
with investment managers, portfolio companies and policy makers to improve ESG practices, sustainability
outcomes or public disclosure. Engagement typically takes the form of meetings, calls, emails or letters between
the investor and the engagement target during which issues are discussed and investors make clear their
expectations.
Engagement can be carried out individually, collaboratively or with an engagement service provider.
Individual Engagement
Individual engagement sees an investor engaging directly with current or potential portfolio companies. Asset
owners can also engage directly with their investment managers to ensure their RI beliefs and priorities are
aligned.
Collective Engagement
Collective engagement involves a group of stakeholders engaging portfolio companies together. This could be
achieved through a formal investor network or other membership organisation, for example Climate Change 100+
(in which the Funds pooling company, LGPS Central, is an active participant). Collaborative engagement allows
investors to share resources to pursue collective goals and enhances their leverage and impact as a collective
voice. Collaborative engagement can also be a helpful escalation strategy where individual engagement with a
portfolio company or investment manager has been unproductive.
Engagement Service Provider
Investors are also able to appoint third party engagement service providers to conduct engagement on their
behalf. LGPS Central, for example, use EOS (a division of Federated Hermes) as its global engagement and
voting service partner.
Given different ownership structures, the stewardship and engagement tools available to asset owners will differ
by asset class, for example:
Asset Class

Stewardship & Engagement Tools

Listed Equity

Direct and/or collaborative corporate engagement
Voting
Proposing shareholder resolutions
Divestment
Applying exclusions/ screens

Fixed Income

May 2022

Direct engagement with issuers

6

202
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Debt origination & reissuance: avoid new debt issues, underweight,
or divest
Private Markets (Equity & Debt)

For equity investors, given their controlling interest: directly influence
companies’ systems and processes
Debt investors are exerting increasing influence through the use of
ESG covenants, margin ratchets and other provisions in loan
agreement.
In both cases, the incentive to engage is greater than in public
markets because it is relatively harder to divest.

Regardless of the asset class and stewardship tools available, asset owners should have the same fundamental
perspective on engagement.
This is especially true in the case of passive strategies where divestment is not an option. While passive
strategies are often chosen to limit the costs of managing assets, there is still a fiduciary duty to be an effective
steward regardless of the additional cost implications of engagement.
Divestment
Divestment is the process of selling in part, or in full, an investment and can be achieved by asset owners in
multiple ways, including:
a) Reducing or eliminating the strategic allocation to a specific asset class, for example high emissions
asset classes;
b) Reducing or eliminating the allocation to a specific investment manager, for example if they fail to
integrate ESG factors effectively;
c) Delegating decisions to divest individual portfolio companies to investment managers.
Divestment may be informed by asset owners’ investment beliefs and should be justified on financial grounds, on
the basis of potential for significant financial risk, and/ or where there is an expectation of improved financial
return.
Engagement vs Divestment
Debate in responsible investment is often on engagement vs. divestment, however both should form part of an
effective stewardship strategy. For example, divestment could be used as an escalation strategy following
unsuccessful engagement with the portfolio company. It is also possible for an investor to choose to both partially
divest, and therefore reduce exposure, and continue to engage the company. Rather than being a binary choice,
in practice a range of factors can guide nuanced approaches on a spectrum from total to partial or no divestment
alongside no engagement, to significant engagement and escalation approaches.
When considering the appropriate approach to address ESG issues, thought should be given to the advantages
and disadvantages of each.
Proponents of divestment argue that it is a moral imperative, that it promotes societal and political change, and
that investment in a company with a high ESG risk is a financial risk. An advantage of divestment is that it is an
immediate action to address this risk and sends a loud and clear message to the market. For example, in the

May 2022

7

203
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

case of fossil fuel companies, it is argued that the stigmatisation caused from divestment offsets the political and
financial power of the company which helps to achieve change in public discourse and then creates the
conditions needed for political change (Quigley, Bugden and Odgers, 2021).
Research by academics at the University of Augsburg found a causal relationship between divestment and the
decarbonisation of divested companies (Rohleder, Wilkens and Zink, 2021). The paper found several means
through which companies delivered emissions reductions post divestment, including:
1. Decommissioning carbon intense assets;
2. Selling assets such that the production of emissions is simply passed to a third party and emissions
continue;
3. Other process changes that improve the carbon efficiency of processes.
While both (1) and (3) would be positive real-world outcomes, (2) would simply result in the transfer of ownership
of emission, with little progress in decarbonisation of the economy.
The research is also clear that a comparison of the effectiveness of divestment against other shareholder actions
such as engagement, has not been completed and therefore divestment cannot be seen as a ‘better’ tool until
further research has been undertaken.
A disadvantage of divestment is that it is purely a shift in ownership and has the potential to be counterproductive
to the extent that assets pass to an owner that “cares less” about environment or social outcomes. From the
perspective of the corporate, they could face an owner which exerts lower levels of scrutiny and challenge, and
which demands less accountability from management than a more actively engaged owner. For asset owners,
divestment deprives them of the opportunity to exert continued influence and a share of any value that is created.
Proponents of engagement argue that it encourages a more sustainable future as asset owners use their
influence as stewards of capital to motivate real-world change through constructive, open dialogue.
However, there are drawbacks to engagement. For example, in order to engage effectively, significant resources
are required which might not be practical or realistic. Factors that would influence the cost and resource intensity
of engagement include the scope and depth of engagement activity; size, seniority and expertise of the
engagement team and whether engagement is conducted collectively (in which cases cost and resource demand
is shared) or independently. The most effective engagements are when an investor has devoted time and human
capital to understanding a company. A recent survey of 70 leading asset owners, asset managers and listed
companies found that “engagements are only helpful conversations when investors are knowledgeable about the
companies they invest with. Ill-informed investors are seen as an obstacle to successful engagement” (Eccles et
al., 2021).
In the context of decarbonisation, a common argument against engagement is that it will not lead to change on
the scale and in the timeframe needed to enact real-world change (Quigley, Burden and Odgers, 2021).
Asset owners should give due consideration to the best method in which to effectively shape sustainability
outcomes. Key factors when considering whether to engage or divest are summarised below.
Table 1: Key factors favouring engagement and divestment

Factors favouring engagement

Factors favouring divestment

Investor is seeking real-world impact

Investor is seeking value-alignment

May 2022

8

204
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Issue is systemic and non-diversifiable

Few opportunities to transition to a more sustainable
business model

Investors have or can improve their leverage by
working collaboratively

Investors have low leverage, e.g. a controlled
company, lack of legal recourse

Persistent influence is possible and likely to be
productive

Companies are not receptive to ongoing engagement

Alternative escalation measures remain open to
investors

Other escalation measures have already been
exhausted

Fiduciary constraints on use of divestment
*Source: UN Principles of Responsible Investment

May 2022

9

205
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

4

Effective engagement

Important aspects of effective engagement include prioritising which ESG issues to focus on, how stewardship
objectives are set and monitored, delegation of engagement activities and the approach to escalation.
This starts with by establishing a Stewardship Policy, which should be reviewed and updated regularly. The Fund
has developed a Climate Stewardship Plan which addresses the approach to mitigating climate-related risks
within the fund by identifying both portfolio companies and portfolio managers for engagement.
When engaging directly with investment managers, this time is most effectively spent using, and building on,
existing disclosures and on the understanding of the manager’s investment process. There has been an
explosion of public disclosure from managers in relation to their approach to sustainable finance and associated
implementation activities spurred by both more rigorous regulatory requirements and increased expectations from
clients. By using information in the public domain, relevant datasets and engaging advisors if needed, asset
owners can focus on asking more critical questions that matter to their fund and beneficiaries to glean information
that may not be as easily determined from their outward disclosures alone.
A key aim of effective stewardship is to gain insight into the investment managers processes and create
opportunities to hold them to account where responses are not satisfactory. Questions should be informed by
existing disclosures, existing knowledge of the manager, and priority ESG themes identified for the fund.
For example, understanding and challenging the investment managers’ approach to tackling climate-related risks
and opportunities is required by fiduciary duties to preserve long term value for beneficiaries.
Engagement themes / priorities
To be effective in enacting real-world outcomes, pension funds should determine their ESG Beliefs, including
which ESG issues they deem as priorities. Pension funds should identify themes that are financially material in
order to build a holistic view of the ESG risks and opportunities.
Once ESG priorities have been set, resources can be more efficiently aligned to support these priorities.
Communicating these priorities to investment managers will enable greater alignment and focus and, in a similar
vein, communication of these priorities to investee companies/ issuers will enable them to understand key risk
areas that they should be focussing on.
LGPS Central, has set the following Stewardship Themes over the current three-year period (2020 – 2023):
1) Climate Change
2) Plastic
3) Fair tax payment and tax transparency
4) Human rights.
While the bulk of their engagement effort is centred on these themes, LGPS Central also regularly cover other
key ESG issues such as fair remuneration and board compensation. Identifying and publicly disclosing these
engagement priorities fosters open communication and dialogue between the pool and engagement targets. We
recommend the LPC confirms that the four stewardship themes/priorities recently agreed with LGPSC, of which
climate change is considered the most important, remain relevant and focuses on them when engaging with all its
investment managers including LGPSC.

May 2022

10

206
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Monitoring engagement activity
Once ESG priorities have been set, an engagement strategy should be formulated with clear objectives over
stated timeframes and consideration given in advance of any escalation which may be required should key
requests not be met. The Fund’s Climate Stewardship Plan meets these requirements in respect of climate
change.
The progress of this engagement strategy should be monitored, and the Fund should request regular reporting
from all its investment managers on their engagement activity, which should cover:
•

Context - summary of key ESG themes and how these have been responded to over the year (through
engagement and/or voting activity)

•

Action - update on progress of engagement objectives against stated timeframes

•

Outcome - detailed case studies of company engagement activity and impact

•

Details of collaborative engagement activity (if any) and partner organisations

The Fund receives a quarterly Stewardship Update from LGPS Central who engage directly with companies on
ESG themes. Their stewardship efforts are supplemented by a global engagement and voting service provider,
EOS at Federated Hermes. The Fund should request similar updates from its other investment managers in their
quarterly reporting.
The LPC meets with one investment manager per quarter to review investment performance and stewardship
activity amongst other factors. We recommend the Fund works over time to increase the frequency and depth of
these oversight arrangements.
Escalation strategy
Exercise of stewardship through voting and engagement should be escalated over time, if required, usually in the
case of unsatisfactory engagement with companies/ investment managers and their failure to achieve the
objectives of the engagement.
There are certain circumstances where engagement alone is likely to prove ineffective, eg where:
•

There are limited opportunities for the company to transition to a more sustainable business model;

•

The company is unwilling to provide appropriate transparency, or to engage in constructive and open
dialogue;

•

The company persistently fails to set appropriate objectives, aligned with a relevant decarbonisation
parthway, and/or fails to deliver those objectives;

•

The investor is primarily seeking value alignment, ie.not wishing to profit from industries or business
practices that violate ethical beliefs).

In these instances, asset owners should have defined escalation strategies. Examples of escalation activities
may include filing shareholder resolutions, using voting power, collaborative engagement, litigation and publicly
disclosing engagement.
Divestment may also follow unsuccessful engagement. This can be viewed as a means of risk management, in
the case that an investment is misaligned with the stated investment goals of the fund. This lever can be
employed for investments which are seriously misaligned, for example carbon-intensive fossil fuel activities such
as thermal coal and unconventional oil and gas. Divestment in this instance is a powerful escalation strategy,

May 2022

11

207
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

following extensive engagement, as it communicates a loss of trust in the capabilities of management to execute
a low-carbon business strategy.

May 2022

12

208
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

5

Exclusions

Exclusions are becoming increasingly commonplace in fund design and generally being applied where there is
limited ability for the asset owner/ manager to have any meaningful impact through stewardship (eg. a company
whose only business is in mining thermal coal). The application of exclusions should be given careful
consideration and there should be a clear rationale for their adoption.
Exclusions/ screening within an investment strategy may be informed by the asset owners’ investment beliefs
and offer an effective starting point to avoid companies which most obviously breach these values. As with
divestment, exclusions should be justified on financial grounds, on the basis of potential for significant financial
risk, and/or where there is an expectation of improved financial returns.
Exclusion and screening use a set of predetermined criteria to determine which companies, sectors or activities
are eligible or ineligible to be included in an investment portfolio. These criteria might be based on an investor’s
preferences, values and ethics.
Exclusions can be applied in various ways, including:
a) Negative screening:
•

Excluding certain sectors or companies for poor ESG performance relative to industry peers or
based on specific ESG criteria (eg. poor business practises)

•

Avoidance of activities on moral/ ethical grounds (eg. Tobacco, alcohol, gambling, adult
entertainment, controversial weapons, fossil fuels)

•

Revenue based thresholds (eg. companies which derive >50% revenue from fossil fuels)

b) Norms-based screening:
•

Excluding companies against minimum standards of business practises based on international
norms and frameworks (eg. Excluding UN Global Compact violators)

We believe the use of exclusions should be minimised. Long exclusion lists, particularly those covering all
companies in many sectors, are likely to reduce the level of portfolio diversification and thereby increase the
volatility of returns.
We recommend the Fund develops a carefully targeted exclusion policy which is aligned with the Fund’s
investment beliefs and, wherever possible, seeks to ensure LGPSC and its other investment managers comply
with it.

.

May 2022

13

209
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

References
1. Eccles, R., Mooij, S., & Stroehle, J. (2021, June 14). Four strategies for effective engagement. Why the
nature of investor-corporate discussion is key for successful outcomes. Responsible Investor.
responsible-investor.com/four-strategies-for-effective-engagement/
2. McNamee, Emmet and Leitner, J 2022. Discussing Divestment: Developing an Approach When Pursuing
Sustainability Outcomes in Listed Equities. Principles of Responsible Investment.
https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=16109
3. Quigley, Bugden and Odgers 2021. “Divestment: Advantages and Disadvantages for the University of
Cambridge.” Paper No. 20.09.21.SM6
https://www.cam.ac.uk/sites/www.cam.ac.uk/files/sm6_divestment_report.pdf.

May 2022

14

This page is intentionally left blank

211
Appendix E

Leicestershire County
Council Pension Fund
Climate Strategy – Net Zero Goals and Targets
May 2022

212
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Contents
Page

1
2
3
4

Executive summary
What does Net Zero mean?
Setting a Net Zero goal
Metrics and interim targets

May 2022

2
6
8
17

213
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

1

Executive summary

Addressee and purpose
This paper is addressed to the Local Pension Committee (“LPC”) of Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund
(“the Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to provide recommendations on the goals, metrics and targets the Fund
should adopt in its Climate Strategy, taking into account its beliefs, priorities, and the impact on its investment
strategy amongst other factors.
This paper should not be used for any other purpose. It should not be released or otherwise disclosed to any
third party except as required by law or with our prior written consent, in which case it should be released in its
entirety. We accept no liability to any other party unless we have accepted such liability in writing. We provide
comment from an investment but not a legal or tax perspective.
Background and scope
Climate change poses significant risks to long-term investors but also an important source of investment
opportunities. The Fund is developing a strategy for dealing with the impact of climate change on the Fund’s
primary purpose which remains to fund the pension benefits of its members. Contributing to the wider response
to climate change is not considered to be an objective in its own right. The Fund is keen to ensure that its climate
strategy is suitably ambitious, deliverable and aligned with current best practice, and has requested input on
several topics relating to the development of the strategy. This paper covers:
•

Definition of Net Zero

•

Key considerations in setting a Net Zero goal

•

Selection of decarbonisation metrics

•

Rationale for, and determination of interim targets

The Fund has adopted the IIGCC’s Net Zero Investment Framework (“NZIF”) to guide the development and
implementation of its Climate Strategy. We believe this is a robust framework and our recommendations are
aligned with it.
Summary of recommendations
We believe the proposed Net Zero target date of 2050 or sooner is an appropriate goal for the Fund. A target
date of 2050 is ambitious given most major economies are not on track to achieve Net Zero by then based on
current pledges/policies. Targeting a date marginally ahead of most major economies (eg 2045) is also realistic
and may enable the Fund to mitigate climate risk and capture climate-related investment opportunities more
effectively. But it would require a more proactive climate strategy and additional changes to the investment
portfolio, potentially increasing execution costs and risk.
Other target dates, such as 2030 or 2060, could be considered. But we believe these would expose the Fund to
an increased risk of adverse investment outcomes. A Net Zero target set materially earlier than the main
economies in which the Fund invests would be very challenging to deliver. A target date of 2030 in particular
would likely require major changes to investment strategy to focus on a restricted universe of low emissions asset
classes and stocks, thereby increasing portfolio concentration and the volatility of investment returns. 2060 would
entail fewer changes in the short-term, but increased exposure to climate transition risk in the longer term.
The future pathway of climate change is uncertain, as are policy, economic and societal responses to it. We
therefore recommend the Fund reviews its Net Zero target date every three years with a view to bringing it
forward if appropriate.

May 2022

2

214
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

We recommend the Fund adopts a balanced set of medium-term objectives which could realistically be delivered
over the next 5-10 years given the investment solutions expected to become available from LGPS Central
(“LGPSC”) and third-party managers over the period. The focus should be on bringing about actual emissions
reductions in portfolio companies over time, rather than simply divesting from high emissions holdings. The Fund
should also follow best practice and avoid material reliance on offsetting strategies.A balance should be struck
between reducing emissions so as to reduce climate risk and capturing climate-related investment opportunities.
The Fund should reflect these objectives in the formulation of its investment strategy (strategic asset allocation)
and in structuring its investment management arrangements. The objectives, underpinned by robust climate
metrics, should guide investment decision making and engagement activity much of which is undertaken on
behalf of the Fund by its investment managers.
We have reviewed the 9 metrics/targets the Fund has proposed using to monitor progress and we believe they
are generally appropriate:
Metric/Target

Metric
Robust

Target
Realistic

Net Zero by [2050, with an ambition for
sooner]

✓

✓

We believe this is an appropriate,
ambitious goal

Absolute net carbon emissions to be
reduced by [40%] from 2019 reported
levels by 2030

✓

?

Further analysis recommended to provide
reassurance that the target is realistic

Reduce the Carbon intensity (WACI) of
the Fund by [50%] from the 31st
December 2019 levels for the Equity
portfolio by 2030. This target will extend
to other asset classes as common
methodology is agreed

✓

✓

Emissions intensity provides a
complementary perspective on the
progress the Fund is making in reducing
climate risk

Reduce the proportion of the Fund with
Fossil Fuel exposure within the equity
portfolio (was 8.5% at 31st Dec 2019) by
31st March 2030

✓

No target

Fossil fuel companies create stranded
asset risk, so exposure should be
measured. LGPSC are refining the metric
they use, so no target recommended at
this stage.

Increase the asset coverage to [90%] by
2030 (currently at 45% 2022 est) to be
analysed for WACI

✓

✓

Increase allocation to climate solutions
(use EU taxonomy) as defined by weight
in clean technology from the base 2019
weight of 34.1% by 2030

✓

No target

Climate solution providers offer potentially
attractive investment opportunities.
LGPSC are refining the metric they use,
so no target recommended at this stage.

Increase our percentage of portfolio
underlying companies in material sectors
with net zero targets to over [90%] by

✓

?

Setting a Net Zero target is the first step in
implementing the changes required to
decarbonise operations.

May 2022

Comment

Comprehensive climate risk reporting is
required to guide investment decisions
and engagement activity

3

215
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

[2030]. Includes listed equities, corporate
bonds and sovereign bonds at present

Further analysis recommended to provide
reassurance that the target is realistic.

By [2030], [90%] of the Fund's financed
emisions to be either net zero, aligned to
a net zero pathway or subject to
engagment programme to bring that
about. Includes equities, corporate bonds
and soverign bonds at present

✓

The Fund's, LGPS Central's and
Investment manager's net zero attainment
relating to their direct emissions

✓

?

Achieving alignment with Net Zero
pathway is critical to delivering the
emissions reductions required in the
future.
Further analysis recommended to provide
reassurance that the target is realistic

No target

Decarbonising own operations should be
relatively straightforward for LGPS Central
and other investment managers, but
should not be used as a criteria for
manager selection.

We recommend the Fund consider the following amendments/additions:
•

Work with LGPSC to refine the definition of the exposure to Fossil Fuels and climate solutions
metrics (note: changes to these two metrics are already planned);

•

Undertake further analysis on the current portfolio to assess whether the proposed objectives on
reducing absolute emissions by 40% by 2030 are realistic;

•

Consider adopting transition pathway alignment as an additional metric and engage with LGPSC
and the Fund’s other investment managers on the necessary changes to climate reporting.

We recommend that the metrics monitored and the targets set for reductions should be combined with increasing
the coverage of the portfolio that these apply to (as relevant standards and further data become available).
At this stage, we recommend that targets are set at whole portfolio level. Sector-based targets and other asset
class targets can be considered at a later date.
We recommend that the Fund develop a road-map of actions that could be taken over the coming years to deliver
the proposed targets alongside the primary objective to deliver financial returns. This will provide further
reassurance that the targets are realistic. Consideration should be given to the range of climate-related
investment solutions available from LGPSC and third-party investment managers.
We look forward to discussing this report with the LPC.

Prepared by:Philip Pearson, Senior Investment Consultant
Mhairi Gooch, Senior Responsible Investment Consultant

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP, May 2022.

May 2022

4

216
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Risk warning
Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. This includes equities,
government or corporate bonds, and property, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment
vehicle. Further, investments in developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than
in mature markets. Exchange rates may also affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not
get back the amount originally invested. Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance.

May 2022

5

217
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

2

What does Net Zero mean?

What is Net Zero?
“Net zero” means reaching a state of the world where there is a balance between the Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG”) human activity discharges into the atmosphere and the emissions that can be safely absorbed by natural
processes or which are otherwise removed. Greenhouse gases include not just carbon dioxide, but methane and
nitrogen dioxide which are also significant contributors to climate change in certain sectors such as agriculture.
Policy pathways towards net zero will determine the nature of the climate risks faced by asset owners.

Achieving <2 degree warming does not mean removing all carbon emissions but does require a combination of
reduction and increased use of nature-based and technological solutions to remove residual emissions
(“offsetting”), such as forestry and carbon capture and sequestration respectively.. Offsetting capacity is likely to
be limited; nature-based solutions will compete for land with other needs, such as food production, and none of
the potential technological solutions have yet been proven at commercial scale. It is for this reason that
policymakers recommend that offsetting capacity is reserved for hard-to-decarbonise sectors rather than being
applied across the wider economy.
Clearly this will have a profound impact on some companies and a lesser impact on others, although all will be
affected to some degree whether it is in the power purchased, employee movement or supply chains. The pace
of change is also likely to vary considerably with some activities being easier to change than others. Various
pathways have been proposed by organisations such as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)
and International Energy Agency (IEA).
For example, the IEA’s recent published net zero pathway envisages changes such as:

May 2022

6

218
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

What impact does climate change have on financial markets?
There are two key areas in which climate change impacts financial markets - the physical impacts that arise
directly from a changing climate, and the transitory impacts that arise from the response of policy makers. This
can lead to uncertain economic outcomes, such as on GDP growth, inflation and, crucially, asset returns. The
diagram below summarises the key impacts and consequences of climate change faced by the financial system,
including pension schemes:

Alongside the economic impact of climate change lie the demographic impacts of water scarcity and quality,
increases in vector-borne diseases, crop failures and many others.
The actions of policy makers, companies and broader society will also influence the nature and extent of the risks
faced. In supporting the 2015 Paris Agreement, the UK Government has created a legislative requirement to
bring greenhouse gas emissions to “Net Zero” by 2050. Such changes are likely to continue and accelerate. Net
Zero can be achieved both by reducing emissions and implementing offsetting measures. This will test the
resilience and versatility of companies, while creating opportunities for investment by pension schemes.
An increasing awareness and understanding of climate change, together with ever-increasing regulatory change,
is forcing companies to adapt and address the impact they have on the environment. Greater adoption of
renewable energy and a strive to rely less on fossil fuels is giving rise to “stranded assets” as energy companies
find themselves unable to economically exploit reserves of oil and coal. This results in companies writing off the
value of these assets, with negative impacts on shareholders. Shell and BP wrote off up to $22bn and $17.5bn
respectively in mid-2020 from weakened long-term demand for oil and an acceleration towards a lower-carbon
economy. If progress relative to global commitments is not made, companies overly reliant on fossil fuels are
significantly at risk from the prospect of a carbon tax. Some countries, such as Sweden, have successfully
implemented a carbon tax, and we can expect this trend to expand globally.

May 2022

7

219
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

3

Setting a Net Zero goal

A ‘good’ Net Zero strategy requires both a target date for achieving Net Zero and a pathway or cumulative
emissions target for the journey. It is likely to be helpful to think of this combined plan in terms of consistency with
a target temperature rise and probability of success e.g. having a Net Zero strategy which is consistent with a
67% likelihood of temperatures rising by no more than 1.5°C.
Real world reduction in emissions, increased investment in climate solutions and positive impact (including
climate adaptation) along with the right balance of risk and return are key to a credible Net Zero strategy.
Enhanced engagement with managers and underlying investments will also be necessary to ensure these
outcomes are achieved.
Sector and regional allocations are typically the main driver of absolute emissions and pathways. We do not
believe that simply tilting away from higher emitting sectors and/or regions in order to reduce the absolute level of
emissions necessarily results in a ‘good’ Net Zero strategy. While this may well be a legitimate investment
decision, for example, if there is a belief that these sectors and regions will underperform in the future, we
consider that its how the Fund’s investments compare to their direct peers e.g. within sectors and regions, which
is important when designing a ‘good’ Net Zero strategy. This is because it is not possible for the world to change
overnight and, for example, to cease burning fossil fuels or using concrete. It is in their own best interests, as well
as society’s as a whole, that asset owners encourage portfolio companies to make the changes needed to
decarbonise their operations. A ‘good’ Net Zero strategy will therefore support relatively good companies in each
sector and region and encourage positive change by others.
This section outlines the factors that the Fund should take into consideration when setting a Net Zero goal. These
include:
•
Best practice, as encapsulated in recognised frameworks such as NZIF and NZAOA
•

Sovereign pledges, government policy and institutional targets

•

Dealing with uncertainty

•

Other ESG issues

•

The Fund’s investment beliefs

•

Impacts on the Fund’s investment strategy

•

Availability of suitable investment solutions

•

Acceptability to stakeholders and the Fund’s wider reputation as a responsible investor

Best practice – NZIF and NZAOA frameworks
The IIGCC’s Net Zero Investment Framework (NZIF) provides a common set of recommended actions, metrics
and methodologies through which investors can maximise their contribution to achieving global net zero
emissions by 2050 or sooner.
The primary objective of NZIF is to ensure investors can decarbonise investment portfolios and increase
investment in climate solutions, in a way that is consistent with a 1.5°C net zero emissions future.
It is designed to be an ‘investment strategy’ led approach, supported by concrete targets set at portfolio and
asset level – combined with smart capital allocation, engagement and advocacy activity – to ensure investors can
maximise their impact in driving real-world decarbonisation.

May 2022

8

220
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

The Framework has two primary aims in order to align with the Paris Agreement to limit the global average
temperature rise to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels.
•

Decarbonise investment portfolios in a way that is consistent with achieving global net-zero GHG
emissions by 2050 or sooner;

•

Increase investment in the range of climate solutions needed to meet that goal.

The IIGCC’s NZIF “Supplementary Guidance on Target Setting” was released in December 2021 to provide stepby-step guidance for investors implementing the recommendations of the Net Zero Investment Framework. The
guidance supports asset owners (and asset managers) to establish their targets in line with the Paris Aligned
Investment Initiative asset owner commitment (and the Net Zero Asset Managers initiative commitment). The
guide covers target setting at the asset level and aggregating that to the portfolio level and includes interim
targets.
With regard to asset level target setting, the focus is on two key areas to drive the transition:
•

the extent to which assets are delivering against indicators and metrics that reflect current and
forward-looking alignment to net zero pathways

•

the effort by investors towards improving the performance of their investments against these
indicators.

The guidance sets out suggested asset level alignment targets and engagement thresholds:
•

A 5-year portfolio coverage target for increasing the percentage of AUM in material sectors that are
i) achieving net zero, or ii) meeting the criteria to be considered ‘aligned’ to net zero, or iii) ‘aligning’
to net zero.

•

They propose that this target should increase towards the goal of 100% of assets to be i) net zero or
ii) aligned to net zero by 2040.

•

An engagement threshold which ensures that at least 70% of financed emissions in material sectors
are either assessed as net zero, aligned with a net zero pathway, or the subject of direct or collective
engagement and stewardship actions.

•

They propose that this threshold should increase to at least 90% by 2030 at the latest.

•

Investors should disclose the proportion that is considered net zero or aligned, disaggregated from
the total.

Alignment targets and engagement thresholds can be set as an aggregate across asset classes or separately for
each asset class covered by the NZIF. Aggregated 5-year targets are proposed to cover at least listed equity,
corporate fixed income, and real estate. Sovereign bonds may be considered separately.
Version 1 of the NZIF and supplementary guidance provide a robust approach to setting and implementing a Net
Zero strategy. However, there are certain limitations in scope, notably:
•

Asset classes are limited to listed equity, corporate fixed income, sovereign bonds, and real estate;

•

Focus on scope 1 and 2 emissions, and not scope 3 due to the greater complexity of measuring this
category;

•

Focus on the transition goals of the Paris Agreement, not the adaptation and resilience goals; and

•

Focus on emissions reduction and capture, not offsetting.

Version 2 is expected to address some of these limitations.

May 2022

9

221
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

The other main framework to consider is the Net Zero Asset Owners Alliance Target Setting Protocol, issued in
December 2021. This has a more granular approach to setting interim targets (for emissions, in particular with
2025 and 2030 reductions targets) and considers sector-based targets and pathways, but its provisions are
otherwise very similar to NZIF..
The use of offsets in a net zero strategy varies to some degree across initiatives. For example, the Science
Based Targets Initiative (to which much of the NZIF target setting approach is comparable) proposes that the use
of offsets is not counted in company decarbonisation plans or progress.
Given the lack of regulation, potential for controversy and cost of offsets, we recommend that the Fund does not
consider explicit purchase of offsets as part of its Climate Strategy. This is likely to preclude adoption of a Net
Zero target date materially earlier than 2050. However, there are investment opportunities in natural capital
solutions (for example) that result in the potential to provide measurable ‘avoided’ emissions through the benefit
they bring. We recommend that these opportunities are explored further.
We believe NZIF is a robust framework and support the Fund’s use of it to guide the development and
implementation of its climate strategy.
Sovereign pledges and public policy
Governments in most developed countries, including the UK, have adopted a 2050 target date for net-zero, while
India and China have set a 2060 target date. Many others have still to set their own commitments, although our
expectation is that target dates and the deadlines for implementing policies will move forward, not back.
In some respects, a timeframe for net-zero is somewhat arbitrary because society needs to reach this goal as
soon as possible. Governments have adopted 2050 as a date which seeks to balance the practicalities of
transitioning to an economy which is powered largely by renewable energy sources with the huge shift in both
infrastructure and behaviours that are necessary on a global basis. The pace and nature of action that will be
taken to achieve net zero remains uncertain and is dependent on the implementation of government policy and
regulation. As an illustration, the International Energy Agency recently published a net-zero pathway, set out in
the timeline below.

It would be challenging to deliver a Net Zero target date set significantly earlier than the main economies in which
the Fund invests, because we would expect most companies particularly those in high emissions sectors to follow
the agreed sovereign pathways. It would likely involve the Fund restricting the range of investment opportunities it
considers and accepting the likelihood of lower investment returns and higher risk.
Dealing with uncertainty
The future pathway of climate change, and the policy, economic and societal responses to it remain highly
uncertain. Furthermore, the availability of data to measure climate risk, technological solutions to mitigate or
adapt to it, and the solutions available to investors to manage their exposure are continually evolving. In our view
this should not prevent the Fund planning and starting its journey, but it should be recognised by all involved that
there will be a need to evolve the strategy and how it is implemented in future. A later Net Zero target date which
allows well informed investment decisions to be taken and appropriate strategies to be implemented gradually
over time therefore seems sensible.

May 2022

10

222
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Given high levels of uncertainty, and the need for flexibility, we recommend the Fund review its Net Zero target
date and climate strategy periodically, e.g. every 3 years.
Other ESG issues
The Fund believes that a wide range of ESG factors have an impact on its primary purpose. In relation to the
climate transition, we believe the social impacts are of particular importance. A rushed and ill considered
approach to decarbonisation would likely cause grave damage to economies worldwide and have adverse
impacts on the prosperity of individuals displaced by the transition. Competition for natural resources between
food and biofuel producers, for example, could lead to wide-spread starvation. A realistic Net Zero target date
which allows for a measured approach to decarbonisation would therefore seem appropriate both for countries
and major asset owners. Such an approach would also allow related environmental issues, such as water
scarcity and biodiversity loss, to be managed more effectively.
Investment beliefs
The decisions the Fund takes on climate change should be guided by its investment beliefs; three are particularly
relevant to this issue:
5. Diversification across investments with low correlation reduces volatility, but over diversification is both
costly and adds little value.
6. The Fund should be flexible enough in its asset allocation policy to take advantage of opportunities that
arise from market inefficiencies, and to protect against identifiable short-term risks when this is both
practical and cost-effective.
7. Responsible investment can enhance long term investment performance and investment managers will
only be appointed if they integrate responsible investment into their decision-making processes.
Belief 5 highlights the benefits of diversification and in our view would preclude adopting highly concentrated
investment strategies which we believe are necessary to achieve Net Zero by 2030. Such strategies would
provide exposure to a narrower range of asset classes and, within each asset class, a narrower range of stocks,
than at present.
The decarbonisation process is expected to disrupt many sectors of the economy, creating market inefficiencies
and a wide range of potentially attractive investment opportunities. Belief 6 guides the Fund to adopt investment
strategies which strike a balance between capturing those opportunities, whilst mitigating the risks associated
with climate change.
Responsible investment (Belief 7) involves two key elements: (i) sustainable investment, integrating consideration
of ESG factors and (ii) effective stewardship, including active engagement with portfolio companies. It therefore
suggests that the Fund should adopt strategies which address climate change as one of a range of ESG factors,
albeit a critical one. This will have important implications for the way in which the Fund implements its Climate
Strategy. Belief 7 also indicates a preference for engagement over divestment/exclusion. This means the Fund,
through its investment managers, should be willing to invest in companies with high current emissions and
significant decarbonisation challenges, providing the long-term investment rationale is strong. The Fund will
expect its managers to engage with such companies to ensure that credible plans and resources are in place to
decarbonise and to monitor their implementation. Divestment of existing investments, or exclusion, on the basis
of a company’s response to climate change will be a last resort. We believe this position is incompatible with the
more aggressive divestment and exclusion policies that are likely to be required to achieve Net Zero by 2030.
Also relevant here is the Fund’s level of ambition with regard to climate change. Some funds, notably the
Environment Agency Pension Fund (“EAPF”), have taken a leadership position in this area. The EAPF has set a
challenging NZ goal (2045), advocated changes in investment practice and sponsored the development of new

May 2022

11

223
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

standards and investment solutions. It has been willing to bear the costs and risks involved. We do not believe it
is the Fund’s intention to be a leader on this issue.
The Fund’s investment beliefs, particularly Beliefs 5, 6 and 7, have significant implications for its Climate
Strategy. We recommend the LPC considers the implications highlighted above and reconfirms its agreement
with them.
Impacts on investment strategy
The table below sets out the Fund’s current investment strategy and provides an indication of how well positioned
the Fund’s current portfolio is to mitigate the risks of climate change. The analysis draws on the results of the
Fund’s latest climate risk report, supplemented by our own estimates where appropriate. It also assesses the
scope for making further progress in this area:
Asset Class

Target

Emissions
Intensity

%

vs overall portfolio

Comments

Regional equity – passive

15.0

Lower

Scope to reduce emissions by tracking ESGtilted indices

Global equity –
active/multi-factor

23.0

Higher

Listed equities are expected to have higher
emissions than the Fund’s overall portfolio,
but theLGPSC active/multi-factor equities
funds are reported to have much lower
emissions than the wider market.
Potential to reduce emissions and/or
increase exposure to climate solutions
further by adopting climate-thematic
strategies such as the Sustainable Equity
funds being developed by LGPSC.
Climate adaptation opportunities could be
explored here too.

EM equity - active

4.0

Much higher

Private equity

5.75

Lower

May 2022

Emissions in EM are well above those of
other asset classes, but the LGPSC fund
reports emissions well below market.
Potential to reduce emissions and/or
increase exposure to climate solutions
further by adopting climate-thematic
strategies.
Current deal pipelines focus on tech,
healthcare and business services which are
lower emissions businesses
A high proportion of climate solutions
providers are expected to raise capital in
private markets, so this allocation should
increase exposure to green revenues.

12

224
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Targeted return

7.5

?

Climate risk reporting requires enhancement
in this area, but we note that the Ruffer fund
is reported to have low emissions.

Infrastructure

9.75

Higher

The existing portfolio focuses on
conventional energy, transport, waste,
projects in the construction phase and
commercial forestry which currently have
high emissions. The Fund has limited
exposure to renewable energy.
Scope to reduce emissions and/or increase
exposure to climate solutions by increasing
exposure to decarbonisation infrastructure –
renewable energy, grid modernisation, EV
charging networks etc – and sustainable
timberland.

Property

10.0

Lower

Emissions relating to commercial property
are lower than equities generally because
emissions relating to building heating and
power systems are a fraction of total
corporate emissions, particularly for
businesses in high emissions sectors.

EM debt

2.5

?

Agreed standard for measuring emissions
intensity of sovereign debt is under
development

Multi-Asset credit

4.0

Higher

High yield credit remains a high emissions
asset class, primarily because of the sector
mix of high yield issuers
Scope to reduce emissions by adopting
climate-thematic strategies

Private debt

10.5

Lower

Similar considerations to private equity.

Inflation-linked gilts

4.5

?

IG credit

3.0

Lower

Cash/collateral

0.5

n/a

May 2022

Agreed standard for measuring emissions
intensity of sovereign debt is under
development
Scope to reduce emissions by adopting
climate-thematic strategies

13

225
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

We believe there is limited scope to make material improvements in decarbonisation metrics through realistic
changes in the strategic asset allocation. Material improvements would require the Fund to focus on a small
subset of current asset classes with either low current emissions (e.g. US equities) or high green revenues (e.g.
renewable energy). There are no significant asset classes with materially lower current emissions or higher green
revenues to which the Fund does not have access. A significantly more concentrated portfolio would reduce the
level of diversification, increase the volatility of investment outcomes, and potentially reduce investment returns
(especially if other investors were to adopt a similar strategy).
Availability of suitable investment solutions
By contrast, we believe there is ample scope to make further progress by changes in investment structure, i.e.
“how” investments in each asset class are implemented. There is already a wide range of potentially suitable
investment solutions available in listed equities and credit, and equivalent products are starting to become
available in sovereign debt and private markets. The chart below illustrates the spectrum of possible solutions:

Screened

Specific exclusions
from base index
such as tar sands,
thermal coal or
controversial
weapons

ESG-tilted

Benchmark weights
reflect ESG factors;
includes EU ParisAligned and
Climate Transition
benchmarks

ESGintegrated
ESG issues
considerations
taken into account
in investment
decisions and
stewardship; active
strategies

Active
Thematic
Active investment
strategy explicitly
guided by ESG risks
and opportunities;
financial return
remains the
primary goal

Impact

Active investment
strategy with twin
goals of ESG impact
and a “reasonable”
financial return

Increasing impact and complexity

Key points to note include:
•

Available solutions can be further categorised based on intended impact. Climate-driven strategies
focus on reducing emissions today or increasing green revenues. Sustainable strategies aim to
deliver impact across a wider range of ESG factors. The choice should reflect investors beliefs and
priorities.

•

The level of impact achieved generally increases from left to right, although we have seen managers
making trade-offs between different types of impact. So, for example, strategies that aim to
maximise green revenues generally do not deliver the largest reductions in current emissions.

•

Relatively simple changes in investment structure, e.g. adopting climate-tilted indices in passive
strategies or fully integrating climate factors into active strategies, can produce material reductions in
current emissions compared with the wider market.

•

The solutions available today in listed equities and credit can deliver a reduction in current emissions
intensity in the range 40-70% and an increase in exposure to green revenues in the range 1-4x
compared with the wider market.

The reduction in current emissions intensity achieved by climate-driven strategies is likely to fall as the wider
market decarbonises. But even a sustained reduction of 30-50% vs the wider market is equivalent to 5-10 years
of “natural” decarbonisation assuming the wider market decarbonises at the rate required by the Paris

May 2022

14

226
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Agreement. It is for this reason we believe that bringing forward the Net Zero date by up to 5-10 years compared
with the targets set by the economies in which the Fund invests is feasible but is the limit to what could be
achieved with current investment solutions whilst maintaining reasonable levels of diversification.
There is still too little empirical evidence to assess the impact of adopting climate-driven strategies on long-term
investment returns. However, climate risk is not expected to be rewarded over the long-term, so strategies which
aim to reduce climate risk should outperform those which do not. It is likely though that they will suffer periods of
underperformance. Furthermore, it is becoming clear that the decarbonisation process will disrupt many sectors
of the economy and is likely to create a wide range of potentially attractive investment opportunities. We therefore
recommend that the Fund strikes a balance between actions taken to mitigate climate risk and to increase its
exposure to green revenues.
Acceptability to stakeholders
Key stakeholders in this area include the UK government and LGPS members, and we are aware that activist
groups have shown interest in the climate strategies of other LGPS funds.
The Fund will be aware that DLUHC intends to bring forward legislation to apply the provisions of TCFD to the
LGPS. This will require funds to publish their strategies for addressing climate change, but it is our understanding
that it will not impose specific objectives, e.g. Net Zero target dates. We expect any target date which is
compatible with the UK’s target to achieve Net Zero by 2050 should be acceptable.
Members of LGPS funds and activist groups have generally advocated earlier target dates and more aggressive
investment policies, e.g. immediate divestment of all oil and gas stocks. We believe the Fund should take a more
measured approach, and justify it in terms of maximising the likelihood of delivering its primary objective to pay
benefits and managing the wider ESG impacts of its investment decisions more effectively. We recognise that
setting a target date marginally earlier than 2050 (eg 2045) would signal to stakeholders the strength of the
Fund’s commitment to addressing climate change.
Summary
We summarise below the implications for the Fund of adopting different NZ target dates:
Timeframe

2050 (or sooner)

2060

3 - Barbados,
Maldives, Mauritania

3 - Sweden,
Germany, Nepal

50 – incl. US, EU,
Japan, UK

7 – incl. China,
Kazakhstan

LGPS
examples2

3 - South Yorkshire,
LBH&F, Swansea

5 – Clwyd, Lambeth,
Ealing, Clwyd,
Environment Agency

18 – including Cheshire,
Derbyshire, West
Midlans, Staffordshire

None

Wide investment
universe, limited
exclusions

Unlimited
investment
universe

Adoption of climatedriven investment
strategies

Climate-passive
investment
strategies

Proactive engagement

“Free riding”

Market aligned financial
returns

Potential for higher
short-term and

Implications

2

2040-2045

Sovereign
Pledges1

Potential
Strategies

1

2030s

Limited universe of
asset classes/stocks
Intensive use of
offsetting

Lower financial
returns

Wide investment
universe, more
exclusions
Promote climatestrategy innovation
Stronger
engagement and
advocacy
Potentially enhanced
medium term

ClimateWatch
Local Government Chronicle, 10 March 2022

May 2022

15

227
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Reduced
diversification,
increased risk
Limits ability to
promote
decarbonisation
through engagement
with high emissions
companies
Use of scarce
offsetting capacity
Offsetting costs
Increases risk of poor
investment decisions,
given current
uncertainty

financial returns from
evolving markets
May capture higher
proportion of climate
opportunities
Short-term volatility
and execution costs
likely higher

Balance progressive
reduction in carbon
emissions with support
for climate solutions
providers
Facilitates measured
approach which
responds to evolving
policy/technological
responses to climate
change

future financial
returns from
unwanted holdings
Potentially greater
exposure to
transition risk

Complies with best
practice, eg NZIF

We believe a Net Zero target date of 2050 or sooner would be an appropriate goal for the Fund. It would be an
ambitious goal given most major economies are not on track to achieve Net Zero by then based on current
pledges/policies. Targeting a date marginally ahead of most major economies (eg 2045) may enable the Fund to
mitigate climate risk and capture climate-related investment opportunities more effectively. But it would require a
more proactive climate strategy and additional changes to the investment portfolio, potentially increasing
execution costs and risk. Most LGPS funds which have declared a target date have chosen one in this range.
Other target dates, such as 2030 or 2060, could be considered. But we believe these would expose the Fund to
an increased risk of adverse investment outcomes. A target date of 2030 would likely require major changes to
investment strategy to focus on a restricted universe of low emissions asset classes and stocks, thereby
increasing portfolio concentration and the volatility of investment returns. 2060 would entail fewer changes in the
short-term, but increased exposure to climate transition risk in the longer term.

May 2022

16

228
Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

4

Metrics and interim targets

Why set them?
Robust climate metrics can help the Fund to understand its current climate footprint, identify any gaps that exist
in the data, understand which companies are most at risk from climate change and evaluate how the portfolio will
evolve under different scenarios. As such, climate metrics are useful in guiding future decision making, identifying
targets for stewardship action and measuring the Fund’s progress towards its Net Zero goal.
Which metrics and targets?
To effectively measure and monitor a Net Zero strategy, a range of metrics are needed. Backward-looking
metrics enable the Fund to assess its current exposure to climate risk and to measure the progress it has made
in reducing it. Forward-looking metrics provide an indication of how climate risk may evolve over time and can be
used to inform engagement activity and to assist in portfolio construction.
Any metric the Fund adopts should be robust, i.e. it should be:
•

Clear and understandable;

•

Reliable, verifiable, and objective; and

•

Consistent over time.

Incorporating Scope 3 emissions into climate metrics is typically considered challenging. However, the picture
can be quite different if we allow for Scope 3 emissions. Scope 3 emissions in the MSCI ACWI for example
account for 80% of total emissions and for any one company can be two orders of magnitude (ie 100+ times)
larger than the Scope 1 and 2 emissions combined.
Lack of data coverage, poor quality data and the potential for double counting are cited as reasons not to include
Scope 3. This is a risk; not including Scope 3 significantly underestimates exposure to carbon risk, hides supply
chain risk and can paint a very different picture for individual company comparisons.
The NZIF recognises that Scope 3 emissions can make up a large proportion of an asset’s carbon footprint, and
material Scope 3 emissions should therefore be part of company targets and performance assessed as part of
setting and achieving the portfolio coverage target. Recognising that the measurement of material Scope 3
emissions across several sectors is highly inconsistent, IIGCC is undertaking further work to develop
expectations and guidance on measurement of Scope 3 emissions within the work of the Paris Aligned
Investment Initiative
We recommend that Scope 3 emissions are included for listed equity at this stage, as a separate metric to begin
with. Overall, we think that provides, on balance, a better picture than excluding it.
We recommend the Fund adopts a balanced set of medium-term objectives which could realistically be delivered
over the next 5-10 years given the investment solutions expected to become available from LGPSC and thirdparty managers over the period. These should be aligned with the Fund’s priorities and may reflect ESG issues
other than climate change given the Fund’s investment beliefs. Progress against any objectives should be
measurable with currently available metrics.
We set out our comments on the Fund’s proposed metrics and targets in the following table.

May 2022

17

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP
Proposed metrics and targets
The Fund has proposed nine metrics and targets covering its response to climate change. We comment on each of these in the table below:
Metric/Target

Metric
Robust

Target
Realistic

Comment

Net Zero by [2050, with an
ambition for sooner]

✓

✓

A target date in the range 2045-2050 should enable the Fund to mitigate climate risk
effectively and to capture climate-related investment opportunities, whilst promoting
decarbonisation through engagement.

Absolute net carbon emissions
to be reduced by [40] from 2019
reported levels by 2030. *

✓

?

Tracking absolute emissions is likely to be a regulatory requirement (TCFD).
Current metrics cover all major GHGs not just carbon dioxide and the proposed targets
should reflect this.

229

Absolute emissions will rise due to growth in the Fund’s assets and in the businesses in
which it invests. For this reason, we recommend the use of an emissions intensity metric too.
The proposed target is ambitious, given the Fund’s starting point, the fact it is still growing
and the assumption that emissions intensity in the economies in which it invests fall at the 7%
p.a. called for by the Paris Agreement. We recommend the Fund develops a road-map of
potential changes (and their associated impacts on emissions) to provide further reassurance
that the targets are realistic.
Climate change is driven by cumulative GHG emissions, so the path of emissions reduction
matters. We recommend the Fund considers setting a carbon budget, based on its “fair
share” of cumulative emissions, against which progress in reducing absolute emissions can
be tracked.
In its reporting, the Fund could consider differentiating between real world emissions
reduction achieved through its stewardship of portfolio companies vs emissions achieved by
divestment.
Reduce the Carbon intensity
(WACI) of the Fund by [50%]
from the 31st December 2019
levels for the Equity portfolio by

May 2022

✓

✓

Tracking emissions intensity is likely to be a regulatory requirement (TCFD).

18

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP
2030. This target will extend to
other asset classes as common
methodology is agreed. *

There is a general move away from WACI as a basis for comparison to using Carbon
Footprint (emissions/£m enterprise value of invested capital or EVIC). But WACI remains a
widely reported and commonly used metric.
WACI is a measure of the carbon intensity of a company’s operations, so can be distorted by
fluctuations in business volumes and pricing policy. Carbon Footprint is a measure of the
carbon intensity of a company’s capital base, so can be distorted by changes in market
capitalisation. For these reasons, we recommend using an absolute emissions metric too.
The proposed target seems reasonable assuming emissions intensity in the economies in
which the Fund invests falls at the 7% p.a. called for by the Paris Agreement.

✓

No target

Exposure to Fossil Fuels creates stranded asset risk, so measuring it is sensible.
The metric needs to be defined very carefully. Does exposure cover only ownership of
reserves, or production, transportation and consumption of Fossil Fuels as well? Is a
materiality threshold applied?

230

Reduce the proportion of the
Fund with Fossil Fuel exposure
within the equity portfolio (was
8.5% at 31st Dec 2019) by 31st
March 2030

Furthermore, the metric ignores the effectiveness or otherwise of Fossil Fuel companies’
climate transition plans.
We understand that LGPSC is planning to refine this metric to measure the proportion of
revenues derived from Fossil Fuels which we believe is a more robust metric.
However, we would be cautious about setting a firm target at this stage.As with absolute
emissions, the Fund should ideally differentiate between actual reductions achieved by
changes in company policies vs reductions achieved by divestment.
Increase the asset coverage to
[90%] by 2030 (currently at 45%
2022 est) to be analysed for
WACI

May 2022

✓

✓

IIGCC are currently working on how to include more asset classes. Climate reporting is now a
priority for most private markets managers especially in Europe.
We typically recommend a higher target for 2030 of 90%. It will be challenging to identify the
correct priorities for engagement or divestment in the absence of robust climate reporting
covering most of the Fund’s portfolio.

19

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP
Increase allocation to climate
solutions (use EU taxonomy) as
defined by weight in clean
technology from the base 2019
weight of 34.1% by 2030.

✓

No target

Climate solutions are expected to represent a material investment opportunity, so measuring
exposure to them is sensible.
Providers of climate solutions are included within this metric at their full capital weight in the
portfolio, irrespective of how important these activities are to their overall business. This may
lead to misleading results. It is for this reason that we prefer the weighted average proportion
of revenue derived from providing green solutions (“green revenues”). We understand that
LGPSC is planning to adopt this definition.
Defining what constitutes a climate solution is challenging. The EU taxonomy has made an
important contribution in this area, but there is relatively little experience of applying it in
practice.
The EU taxonomy is necessarily rather restrictive and excludes activities that are critical to
the response to climate change. These include:
Investments that tackle climate adaptation, a key element of the Paris Agreement and
Net Zero commitments.

•

Investment in companies undergoing material carbon transitions that arguably represent
better opportunities to deliver real world change and enhanced returns.

231

•

For these reasons, we would be cautious about setting a firm target at this stage.
Increase our percentage of
portfolio underlying companies
in material sectors with net zero
targets to over [90%] by [2030],
listed equities, corporate bonds
and sovereign's.

✓

?

IIGCC’s Supplementary Guidance on Target Setting recommends 100% alignment by 2040,
so 90% by 2030 is considered a reasonable target.
The metric does not assess the effectiveness of portfolio companies’ emissions reduction
programmes, so needs to be evaluated alongside actual emissions metrics to avoid the risk
of greenwashing.
Analysis of the current percentage and engagement with relevant portfolio companies to
better understand their intentions on climate change is recommended to determine whether
the proposed interim target is realistic.
The proposed restriction on the scope of assets included is realistic at this stage, but early
engagement with companies in private markets on this issue is also recommended.

May 2022

20

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP
By [2030], [90%] of the Fund's
financed emmisions to be either
net zero, aligned to a net zero
pathway or subject to
engagment programme to bring
that about. Includes equities,
corporate bonds and soverign
bonds at present.

✓

The Fund's, LGPS Central's and
Investment manager's net zero
attainment relating to their direct
emissions

✓

?

NZIF Supplementary Guidance on Target Setting increases this threshold to 90% by 2030.
Analysis of the current percentage and engagement with relevant portfolio companies to
better understand their intentions on climate change is recommended to determine whether
the proposed interim target is realistic.
The proposed restriction on the scope of assets included is realistic at this stage, but early
engagement with companies in private markets on this issue is also recommended.

No target

Leicestershire Council and LGPS Central have both set target dates of 2030 for own
operations. Decarbonising carbon-light professional service firms operating in developed
countries is relatively straightforward, so it would be reasonable to expect the Fund’s
investment managers to accept similar targets.
We would not however recommend making Net Zero target date a key criterion for manager
selection. Far more important is the manager’s ability to manage climate risk/opportunity in
the portfolios they manage.

232

We would recommend the Fund considers the following additional metrics:
•

Implied temperature rise – this metric compares current and projected greenhouse gas emissions with companies’ share of the remaining
global carbon budget for keeping warming this century well below 2 degrees Celsius (2°C) and converts the overshoot or undershoot into an
implied rise in average global temperatures this century. This makes it easier to identify companies not aligned with the Fund’s climate goals,
though the calculation depends on complex modelling and a range of assumptions. We understand this metric is being considered as a potential
additional requirement under TCFD.

•

Transition pathway alignment – this metric measures the proportion of companies aligned with transition pathways relevant to the sectors in
which they operate. Assessing companies against this metric is complex though suitable frameworks have been developed. It forms part of Metric
8 above, but could be reported separately as a key forward-looking climate metric.

•

Data quality – this metric can be defined in various ways but we believe it should focus on three elements: (1) timely availability, (2) results
based on measurement by the portfolio company, rather than model-based estimates by a third party and (3) results subject to independent
validation. We understand that DLUHC intends to introduction a data quality metric as part of the implementation of TCFD in the LGPS. Further
work will be required to define the metric properly.

We acknowledge that monitoring these metrics would require additional reporting by LGPS Central and the Fund’s other investment managers and we
recommend that the Fund engages with them on this topic.

May 2022

21

APPENDIX F

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund
Net Zero Climate Strategy (NZCS) Engagement

The Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“Fund”) has around 100,000 members, split between current employees,
covering almost 200 organisations, deferred members (those who have built up benefits and left the scheme but not drawing a
pension yet) and members in receipt of a pension or their dependants.
The LGPS is a defined benefit scheme, meaning that, when service has been earned and employees contribution made pension
benefits are guaranteed, with employers having to ensure funding is available to pay the benefits as they become due.

When making investment decisions the Fund has to balance affordability of employers annual contributions against the level of risk
being taken on in delivering investment returns.
Getting this balance right is particularly important in the LGPS where increased pension contributions would divert resources from
the socially positive activity that employers undertake. Furthermore, if any employer becomes insolvent the other employers within
the scheme have to pick up any deficits via increased employer contributions.
The scheme is administered by Leicestershire County Council on behalf of all participating employers. Leicestershire County
Council delegated the responsibility for decisions relating to the Investment of the Fund’s assets to the Local Pension Committee.
At its meeting on 27 November 2021 the Committee approved development of a Net Zero Climate Strategy to improve the
management of climate change risk for the Fund.
Over 2022, the Strategy has started to be developed, utilising a best practice framework from the Institutional Investors Group on
Climate Change (IIGCC). Other LGPS fund’s climate / net zero statements have also been referred to where publicly available.

233

Benefits are funded by a combination of employee’s contributions, which is a fixed amount set nationally depending upon salary,
employer’s contributions that are based upon an estimate of the cost of future benefits earned and investment returns on cash held
before pension payments are due. Employers have to make additional contributions if a difference arises between the expected
cost of benefits and the funding available, for example due to greater longevity or below target investment returns.

APPENDIX F

This engagement is scheduled to run from July to the middle of September, to seek views from a range of stakeholders to inform
the development of the Strategy before it is presented to the Local Pension Committee in late 2022.

Engagement
The engagement survey will be web based and administered by the County Council’s in house team.
Questions which are proposed below have been selected in conjunction with the engagement and consultation team.
The following have been considered:




Measures and Targets
A key part of managing the Fund’s exposure to climate change is through a set of measures and targets that will be routinely
monitored and updated periodically. The proposed measures for the Leicestershire NZCS include three primary measures and six
secondary measures. The Fund believes that achievement of the three primary measures are the most important, with secondary
measures being listed which will support delivery of the primary measures. Secondary measures inclusion reflects IIGCC
guidance.
The proposed measures and targets are listed below, the majority of engagement questions will be based on the eight items below.
Views will be sought for text in square brackets within the measures / targets column in particular.

234



The ability to separate and report on cohorts – employers, scheme members and other for each of the questions asked.
Employers will be sent a link to the survey and will be asked to complete the survey from the employers perspective rather
than the individual.
The ability to gain a view on each question on a sliding scale where possible in order to understand general acceptance of
the proposal. Where possible a scale of 1 to 5 will be used. 1 being strongly disagree with the proposal and 5 being
strongly agree with the proposal
Additional information will be provided in advance of each question where it is deemed appropriate to enable a better
response from the responder.

APPENDIX F

i.

Primary Measures
Engagement Question

1

Rationale

Do you agree with the goal, Companies that commit to a net zero strategy will be operating under that particular
"Net Zero by [2050, with an countries legislation. Where a country has a stated net zero goal of 2050, for
ambition for sooner]"
example, it will be difficult to enforce company earlier target date given the
regulatory and policy environment in which they operate.

Response
type
1-5; 1
strongly
disagree,
5 strongly
agree

For countries that set a net zero goal of 2050, it is believed that most companies,
particularly those in high emitting sectors, will follow this pathway.

235

It is important to note that not all countries will set 2050 targets with some beyond
2050 and some before, however it is expected that most of the developed world will
assume 2050. Many industries that emit carbon are essential to the world such as
agriculture and construction of essential of infrastructure. It is important to maintain
a balanced investment portfolio so to not increase investment return risk by
becoming more heavily invested in one sector such as tech whilst trying to reduce
climate risk. An orderly transition that balances risk is favoured.

2

Do you agree with the goal,
"Absolute net carbon
emissions to be reduced by
[40%] from 2019 reported
levels by 2030."

The proposed reduction applies to listed equity. The generally accepted metric
WACI (weighted average carbon intensity) is measured using dollars of revenue as
a denominator. As such the metric is subject to volatile changes based on revenue
alone. The use of an absolute tonnes measure of carbon together with the WACI
gives a more meaningful assessment over time. The use of a recent base position
to measure reductions from is generally accepted to be better than older base.
The absolute reduction in carbon is made more difficult to achieve as the Fund is

1-5; 1
strongly
disagree,
5 strongly
agree

APPENDIX F

growing - i.e. the cash flow positive nature of the Fund as more money is added
through employer and employee contributions, than pensions paid. Thus, aiming for
40% reduction seems sensible.
This is a challenging target to achieve given increasing contributions into the Fund.
3

ii.

In line with the IIGCC guidance interim targets should be selected that are at least
in line with the goal of achieving net zero by 2050 without back loading the
achievement. The resulting carbon intensity is weighted so that a larger holding
has a bigger weight within the WACI final metric.

The metric is useful for comparing funds of different sizes and progress over time
when funds are growing, such as the Leicestershire Fund, but can be sensitive to
changes in the market value of a portfolio.
Is currently based on measuring listed equities and will be expanded to include
further asset classes as reliable measurements are available.

Secondary Measures

Engagement Question
4

1-5; 1
strongly
disagree,
5 strongly
agree

236

Do you agree with the goal,
"Reduce the Carbon
intensity (WACI - weighted
average carbon intensity) of
the Fund by [50%] from the
31st December 2019 levels
for the Equity portfolio by
2030. This target will
extend to other asset
classes as common
methodology is agreed.

Do you agree with the goal
“Reduce the proportion of
the Fund with Fossil Fuel
exposure within the equity
portfolio (was 8.5% at 31st
Dec 2019) by 31st March
2030”

Rationale
A metric that the Fund should have an improving medium term view on as
underlying companies publish more net zero strategies in line with legislation. The
Fund can benefit from the measured improvements whilst holding the companies to
account.
The measure is currently very crude and does not take into account the level of
fossil fuel exposure, just whether a company has some. As better information
becomes available the measure will be refined.

Response
type
1-5; 1
strongly
disagree, 5
strongly
agree

APPENDIX F

By holding voting rights, the Fund, alongside lobby groups will be able to shape the
pace and direction of the decarbonisation effort.

Do you agree with the goal
“Increase the asset
coverage to [90%] by 2030
(currently at 45% 2022 Est)
to be analysed for WACI”

6

Do you agree with the goal “
Increase allocation to
climate solutions (use EU
taxonomy) as defined by
weight in clean technology
from the base 2019 weight
of 34.1% by 2030.“

The IIGCC suggests a target to renewables - this in the short term can be used as
a proxy. This target will remain under review to ensure precision.
Increasing the Fund's alignment to this metric will result in financing the activities
the EU (inherited by the UK) have deemed to be in line with becoming carbon
neutral by 2050.
The European Union aims to be climate neutral by 2050. To help that process it
has come up with a system to "facilitate sustainable investment". By adopting the
EU standard, reporting will be made more reliable, as European companies are
obliged to report their level of taxonomy-aligned undertakings. Any activity
excluded from the list faces being cut out of sustainable finance products and will
find itself at odds with long-term EU policy objectives.
Any activity excluded from the list faces being cut out of sustainable finance
products and will find itself at odds with long-term EU policy objectives.

1-5; 1
strongly
disagree, 5
strongly
agree
1-5; 1
strongly
disagree, 5
strongly
agree

237

5

Not having a specific target for this is not uncommon, within the LGPS Central pool
just one LGPS fund has set a target. It is proposed that the Fund continually
monitors (through the annual Climate Risk Report) the fossil fuel exposure within
the Fund and limit it where new mandates are entered into. At the next review of
targets the Fund should be better placed to understand if a specific target is more
appropriate.
This target will be dependent on the industry agreeing commonly accepted
standards. The Fund expects corporate bonds (which the Fund has an allocation
to) to be the next asset class to be included.
This target is challenging but achievable, the Fund will aim to accelerate the goal in
order to better support risk management.

APPENDIX F

7

8

The IIGCC framework however does not state a target or by a specific date. A high
target supportive of risk management is needed to ensure invested companies are
managing the risk. Companies within material sectors are those where reductions
in carbon will make meaningful impacts, these include agriculture, forestry and
fishing, mining, electricity and gas supply, water and sewerage activities to name a
few.

1-5; 1
strongly
disagree, 5
strongly
agree

As further asset classes come into scope with regard to agreed calculations for
financed emissions then targets will be updated. This target is line with the IIGCC
guidance.

1-5; 1
strongly
disagree, 5
strongly
agree

The County Council, as the Fund’s Administering Authority, has a goal to be net
zero for its own operations by 2030.
LGPS Central (the pension pooling company) has a goal of 2030 for its own
operations. Investment managers that the Fund invests with have various net zero
target dates.

238

9

Do you agree with the goal,
”Increase our percentage of
portfolio underlying
companies in material
sectors with net zero
targets, aligned to a net
zero pathway or subject to
direct or collective
engagement to over [90%]
by [2030] for listed equities,
corporate bonds and
sovereign bonds.”
Do you agree with the goal,
“By [2030], [90%] of the
Fund's financed emissions
to be either net zero,
aligned to a net zero
pathway or subject to
engagement programme to
bring that about. Includes
equities, corporate bonds
and sovereign bonds at
present.”
None

APPENDIX F

iii.

Additional Questions not related to the to the proposed metrics are noted below.

Additional Questions

Response type

The philosophy of the Fund and its investment managers is to invest in well run companies who take
into account a range of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) considerations with climate
change being one of the considerations.
The Fund via its Responsible Investment Policy (link:
https://leicsmss.pensiondetails.co.uk/documents/Investment-Strategy-Statement.pdf?language_id=1 )
favours engagement with companies to improve their ESG risks rather than divestment.

The benefit of any improvement in climate metrics from divestment is also not gained by the Fund after
divestment, but by new owners. In addition, any new owners may not be as responsible an owner as a
Local Authority Pension Fund is and therefore engagement with the company may cease.
The Fund allows investment managers freedom to invest providing they can demonstrate management
of ESG risks including climate change. There is no guarantee of success, and an alternative method
could be to divest which could lead to quicker improvement in measured climate metrics for the Fund,
but may introduce other risks to the Fund such as concentration in other asset classes which increases
investment risk. For example, technology companies have lower carbon metrics than many other
industry sectors but as history has shown can have times where they sell off at a higher rate than other
sectors.

1-5, 1 = strongly prefer
divestment, 5 strongly prefer
engagement

239

In line with most pension funds and the UK government the Fund’s approach is to encourage
companies to improve on the ESG management of risks through engagement including actively voting
at company meetings in collaboration with other like minded investors. Many traditional companies will
be looking to becoming more carbon efficient and at present have poorer carbon metrics than other
companies. There are companies who are engaged in renewable energy projects as well as traditional
use of fossil fuels which could become tomorrows leaders as they transition away from fossil fuels.
Divesting from these groups of companies would see the Fund miss potential opportunities.

APPENDIX F

Do you have a view on whether the Fund should employ carbon offsetting? What approach should the
Fund adopt?
Although strategies to avoid, reduce and substitute harmful greenhouse gases are more impactful than
offsetting, it is not expected that globally all emissions can be stopped. In addition, it is likely that
historic emissions will need to be removed from the atmosphere
So, as businesses transition, carbon offsetting is one way for them to neutralise any emissions
generated from their activities, particularly where technology costs too much or is not currently in
existence. Businesses can buy carbon credits generated by projects that are cleaning up the
atmosphere or directly invest in schemes, to compensate for the emissions they haven’t yet eliminated.

1 = No offsetting
2 = Only offsetting if removes
carbon from atmosphere
3= Only natural offsetting such
as trees

4= Offsetting acceptable if the
economically best option

Can you describe the Fund's investment strategy?

1-5, 1 = I don’t know, 2 = I
know a little, 3 = I know
enough to explain to others, 4
= I have a good grasp of
fiduciary duty with respect to
defined benefit pensions, 5 = I
have exact knowledge of
fiduciary duty with respect to
the LGPS
No - I have little knowledge
about where the fund invests,
A little - I have read which
investment classes the fund
invests in and how they are
agreed,

240

Do you understand what the fiduciary duty of the Fund is?

APPENDIX F

Do you understand the impact of funding level changes on the pension contributions from employers
and employees within the Leicestershire LGPS and who stands the risk of poor investment
performance versus the expected performance when it comes to the ability to pay future pensions?

Are you an active member, deferred member, pensioner / dependant of the Leicestershire LGPS or not
a member of the Leicestershire LGPS

241

What is your NI number

Yes = I know which policies
include the investment
strategy, how investments are
selected and agreed and how
often investment strategy is
formally reviewed
1= I don’t know the link
between funding level and
effect on pension contributions,
or yes I do, it is:
2 = employers
3 = employees
4 = employers and employees
5 = neither
Mandatory - to check against
membership of the
Leicestershire LGPS, will be
deleted in line with Council
data retention policy
Multi choice drop down
selection, Active, deferred,
pensioner/dependant, not a
member

This page is intentionally left blank

243

Agenda Item 11

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10 JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
SUMMARY VALUATION OF PENSION FUND INVESTMENTS AND
INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE OF INDIVIDUAL MANAGERS
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee, an update on the investment
markets and how individual asset classes are performing, a summary valuation of the
Fund's investments as at 31st March 2022 (Appendix A), together with figures showing
the performance of individual managers.
Markets Performance and Outlook
2. A summary of the asset class performance over various time frames as at the quarter
ending is shown below. Three asset classes now show double digit returns over a 20
year time frame, property and high yield with gold added this quarter having dropped
slightly below the 10% during 2021. Private Equity has no 20 year source information
available.

Capital Markets Update – Hymans Spring 2022
3. A markets update is included from Hymans Robertson, the Funds Investment Advisor
and is included as Appendix B. Some highlights are included below.
4. Hymans note the Russia-Ukraine conflict, and its impact on commodity prices, has
exacerbated existing inflationary pressures, weighing on the growth outlook as input
and living costs rise, and central banks turn less accommodative with sovereign bond
yields rosing significantly as interest-rate rise expectations increased, equity prices fell,
and credit spreads widened as the outlook dimmed.
5. Hymans note consensus forecasts for global growth have been revised downwards
whilst global CPI forecasts have reached new highs as the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
reinforced and intensified existing trends (see chart below). Russia and Ukraine

244
represent a small share of global GDP and trade but produce a disproportionate share
of key global commodity exports. Physical disruptions and sanctions have triggered
broad commodity price rises which, alongside existing inflationary pressures, are
increasing input costs and weighing on real consumer incomes.

6. Hymans also expect that the Bank of England and the Federal Reserve will feel that
high current inflation and tight labour markets justify further interest-rate increases.
However, the picture has become more complicated for central bankers: interest rates
can do little to combat supply disruptions, while high energy prices can eventually help
to suppress inflation pressure by weighing on demand. As a result, policymakers could
slow down the pace of hikes if energy prices lead to further deterioration in the
consumer outlook.
7. Hymans conclude their Spring update with, “we still expect above-trend growth and
though inflation is still not expected to be a long-term problem, even if exacerbated by
the Russia-Ukraine conflict, it will be higher for longer. Nevertheless, central banks are
likely to continue raising rates. The potential impact of inflation and energy prices on
real consumer incomes increases the downside risks for growth”.
8. Continuing, Hymans believe a neutral position between income and growth assets is
warranted given the combination of improved valuations and the view that markets
have already moved to price in a lot of near-term inflation risk but caution with equity
and property valuations still look extremely stretched versus history and the prospect
of inflation-linkage in earnings and rental growth, set against the high inflation
backdrop, prevents us from taking an underweight position in growth assets, despite
high valuations and increased downside risks.

Portfolio changes in the quarter (January to March 2022)
9. No new investment decisions were made in the quarter however there was a strategic
asset allocation (SAA) review in January where although no changes to the allocation
were proposed a number of asset class reviews were agreed. The first of which was
bought to the Investment Subcommittee in April, the detail of which is included
elsewhere on today’s agenda.

245
10. Two top ups to existing products were approved by the Director of Corporate
Resources following consultation with the Chair of the Pension Committee; these
were:
a. A £29m top to LGPS Central global multi asset credit fund which was
underweight to the target weight of 2.5% of total fund assets.
b. A £60m investment to the Aegon short dated bond investment grade bond
fund. This investment was in line with the January 2022 SAA review, where it
was noted that excess cash could be invested in this product awaiting
investment into underweight assets that take time for commitments to be
called.
11. Both investments were made in late March 2022 using cash.
Portfolio changes since the quarter ended
12. No new commitments have been made other than the decisions surrounding the
Property asset class which were made at the April Investment Subcommittee.
Cash at quarter end
13. At quarter end the cash held by the Fund totalled £116m, with an additional £52m
cash held as collateral with Aegon for the currency hedge.
14. It is worth noting that the collateral held for the currency hedge moves in accordance
with the level of hedging and performance by Aegon. When the Pound strengthens
versus hedged currencies the amount of collateral will increase and conversely when
the pound weakens as it has during the quarter when it reached 1.22 to the US Dollar
the amount of collateral reduces, and the Fund may be asked to provide additional
cash collateral to maintain the hedges. The level of change in hedge collateral is
impacted by the currencies hedged and level of hedge, either partial or full. Officers
are in regular contact with Aegon to understand the current level of hedge and their
rationale for the stated positions.
15. The Fund is cash flow positive as a consequence of paying less in pension benefits
than it receives from member and employer contributions. This provides the Fund with
flexibility in making investment changes without always having to divest and incur
costs but also means regular investments are required to avoid cash building up.
16. Given the volatility in markets over the last 24 months it makes sense to hold some
additional cash for the currency hedge in the event currency markets move
unexpectedly which may require additional collateral. However, the requirement to
hold as much cash as the Fund did has now reduced given the benchmark hedge
position is 30% (was 50%) of foreign currency assets from the change made at the
January 2021 Local Pension Committee meeting which was actioned in April 2021.
2022 Investment Plans
17. The Fund’s 2022 Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) was approved at the January 2022
Pension Committee. There were no changes to the 2022 SAA from the previous 2021
SAA. A reminder of the approved 2022 SAA is shown in the table below.

246

18. The main areas of focus in 2022 will be to address the underweight positions in illiquid
assets, namely property and infrastructure. Part of the infrastructure underweight was
addressed with a commitment to LGPS Central’s core and core plus product in 2021.
There are three asset class reviews pending in the year also:
a. Property review – this has completed with actions to address the underweight in
progress.
b. Infrastructure and listed equity reviews to be bought to the two Investment
Subcommittee’s later in 2022. The infrastructure review is currently being
worked on by Hymans Robertson.
19. Other changes to bring the Fund in line with the SAA that officers are also considering:
a. Targeted return – officers and Hymans are working with LGPS Central to deliver
a product alongside one other partner fund. The product is now likely to be
available in mid 2022. This product has been delayed owing to the due diligence
work that is ongoing by Central and the two partner funds interested. Hymans
have commenced due diligence work on this product.
b. Infrastructure – Pending due diligence the Fund may invest in the LGPS Central
infrastructure value add/opportunistic fund once manager selection has
progressed. Owing to the specialist nature of this area, infrastructure manager
selection is deemed to be a more important factor when deciding to invest.
Whilst the Fund is awaiting the outcome of the infrastructure review by Hymans
the use of the value add/opportunistic sleeve will be on hold.
c. Private Debt – the Fund is underweight this asset class and with expected
commitments and distributions will require a further commitment to be made later
in the year. Hymans have been informed and it is forecast to be bring a proposal

247
to the October 2022 Investment Subcommittee.
Overall Investment Performance
20. A comprehensive performance analysis over the quarter, year and three-year period to
31st March 2022 is provided in Appendix A. Portfolio Evaluation collate information
directly from managers and calculate performance, which provides an independent
check of valuations and allows greater reporting flexibility.
21. Officers have requested the movement of the currency hedge be applied to the total
portfolio, previously this calculation only applied to the equity portion of the portfolio.
This is a more accurate reflection, given that the hedge applies to all unhedged foreign
currency positions throughout the portfolio. The Fund now reports the total portfolio
including and excluding the effect of the hedge.
22. It is important to note that the valuations produced can be different to those provided
by managers or included in the Statement of Accounts. For example, timing
differences or use of different accounting methodologies. The differences are not
expected to be material in the context of the messages being conveyed by the report.
23. Summarised returns for the whole Fund versus benchmark is shown below:

Total Fund
vs benchmark

Quarter
-0.7%
+0.6%

1 yr
+11.4%
+2.6%

3 yr
+9.2%
+1.1%

5yr
+7.5%
+0.7%

24. The Fund’s total value as at the quarter end is £5.8 billion. (£5.8bn at 31st December
2021) At 31st March 2019, the last triennial valuation date, the Fund had assets
valued at £4.3 billion. The Fund has grown by £1.5bn over the last three years.
25. The Fund has experienced strong returns in an absolute sense with positive returns
across all time frames alongside favourable returns versus the benchmark. It is
important to note that investment returns can be negative and for a protracted period
of time. One of the objectives of the annual SAA exercise is to understand the risks
and opportunities to the Fund over a longer period of time and as such the portfolio
has a diverse mix of assets including a number of investments within the ‘protection’
category that should provide a cushion in the event of market shocks.
26. These ‘protection’ assets include index linked bonds and investment grade credit
which have historically performed well under market stresses. In addition, there are
other investments within the growth the income portions of the portfolio that display
good defensive characteristics.
27. Examples include infrastructure investments which have a lower proportion of
investments tied to GDP sensitive industries or managers who employ strategies that
profit in the event of market volatility or decline such as Ruffer and Aspect who are two
of the three managers within the total return portfolio.
Asset class performance covering growth, income and protection investments
28. The +0.6% outperformance in the quarter versus the blended benchmark was
largely as a result of the investments within the growth portion of the Fund
outperforming the benchmark by +1.4%.

248
29. Over a longer one-year timeframe the total Fund outperformed the market
benchmark by +2.6%. This was led by ‘growth’ assets which outperformed by
+4.1% with small underperformance to benchmark from the protection assets at
-0.4% versus their benchmark. Outperformance within growth assets was led by
private equity where valuations are lagged and have softer comparisons to the
year earlier. Officers expect this outperformance to normalise over the coming
quarters.
Asset sectors / managers performing well this quarter
30. It is important to note that not all investment sectors should perform well at any
given period of time. The Fund is constructed such that there should be a level
of natural counterbalance when markets are booming or crashing.
31. During this quarter which included a sell of which coincided with the Russia
Ukraine conflict the overall equity portfolio performed well being down -0.9%,
however this masks the underlying positions which varied across the managers
within the growth class. Two areas which performed well within this class were
private equity (+8.4% versus the benchmark) and targeted return (+6.1% versus
the benchmark).
32. The Fund’s main private equity position is held with via numerous funds with
Adam Street Partners (ASP). The Fund has investments with ASP stretching
back to 2002 however recently the Fund has started to make commitments to
LGPS Central products with the most recent commitment made in 2021 for
£30m. Private equity valuations are different to listed equity in that there is not a
recognised liquid market for pricing and as such private equity portfolios valued
on a rolling basis. This can lead to valuations which can be out of date for
portions of the underlying companies that have not been valued at this quarter
end for example. It is with this in mind that private equity valuations have to be
looked at over longer periods of time.
33. The Funds targeted return managers had a mixed quarter with two showing
positive returns and one negative. The stand out performance came from Aspect
Capital who returned an impressive +20.0% in the quarter with Ruffer returning
+4.3%.
34. Aspect is a momentum-based manager whose positioning is based on historic
correlations between asset classes and the fact that assets tend to ‘trend’ in a
given direction for long periods. Their computer models drive the size and
direction of positions in hundreds of different liquid futures markets, and they can
go ‘short’ (sell assets that they do not own) as well as ‘long’ depending on the
direction of the trend.
35. The 20.0% return in period was as a result of a long position in energies,
generating 8.8% of the return and a short position in bonds, which added 6.7%.
From a sizing perspective these positions were large but not extreme and both
benefited from an accelerating price trend that had already been evident for
some time, and hence positions had been gradually increasing.
36. Ruffer maintain a portfolio that they believe has the ability to make money when
risk asset markets go up but has protection when they fall. They will always hold
assets that fall into their categories of ‘greed/growth’ and ‘fear/protection’ but the
exact mix (and the actual assets held) will depend on how they view economies

249
and markets at any point in time.
37. Ruffer’s portfolio produced a return of 4.3% in the quarter, which was highly
creditable against falling equity and bond markets. The portfolio did well whilst
equity and bond markets were falling as can be seen throughout the
Leicestershire portfolio where managers hold only one or the other type of asset.
Exposure to interest rates (rising), credit default swaps (which benefit from
worsening conditions for risk assets), gold and gold equities all provided
tailwinds. Avoidance of growth equities, which Ruffer feel are overpriced, for
cash generative companies also added to performance.
Asset sectors / managers not performing well this quarter
38. Emerging market debt, investment grade credit and index linked bonds were
areas that suffered during the last quarter. The Fund has the following allocations
summarised in the table below:
Fund

Actual % of Fund quarter end

Quarter performance

(target weight)
LGPSC emerging market debt fund

2.1% (2.5%)

-8.5%

LGPSC investment grade credit fund

2.2% (2.5%)

-7.0%

Aegon index linked bond fund

4.3% (4.5%)

-5.5%

39. All three investments invest in bonds whose prices move down as yields move
up. As will be addressed during the LGIM presentation, Central Banks have
started to move interest rates up and have signalled future increases. The result
has been significant negative performance in the prices of bonds.
40. Index linked bonds, although suffering a -5.5% loss in the quarter had shorter
dated index linked bonds slightly positive whilst longer dated bonds performed far
worse. The pressure on longer dated index-linked bonds and on fixed-income in
general, started in December 2021 but carried on into January. Hawkish
comments and activity from central banks, including from the Bank of England,
was the main challenge for the bond market. Given the inflation worries in the
near-term, short dated or front-end bonds outperformed.
41. Aa a result all three managers are below their target weights at 31st March and
officers will review more recent valuations before making a proposal to use
existing cash and rebalance to towards the target weight.
Other news
42. Aegon Asset Management has decided to close its UK direct real estate
business following the communication in July 2021 to close the Aegon Property
Income Fund, a commercial property fund for UK wholesale investors and are in
the process of winding-up the Kames Target Healthcare Fund after the sale of
the portfolio in December 2021. Aegon believe these closures have undermined
the commercial viability of its UK direct real estate business.
43. Aegon manage two closed ended property funds valued at £73m (31st March
2022) which the Fund has invested in. Aegon has formally tendered their

250
resignation as investment manager. The managing trustee, Saltgate has
contacted officers at the Fund, LGPS Central and officers at other Central funds
who are also investors to communicate a course of action.
44. The investment management agreement allows for eventualities like this and
Aegon will serve a six month notice where it is planned Saltgate will appoint a
replacement manager which will be approved by investors to take over
management of each property fund.
Recommendation
The Local Pension Committee is asked to note the report.
Appendices
Appendix A - Portfolio Evaluation - Summary Valuation of Funds Performance.
Appendix B – Hymans – Capital markets Spring 2022

Equality and Human Rights Implications
None.
Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel: 0116 305 6199
Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel: 0116 305 7668
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments
Tel: 0116 305 1449
Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk

Appendix A

Manager Summary-Total Fund
Leicestershire CC Pension Fund
for Period Ended 31st March 2022

Market Value: £5.8bn

QTR
Incep

Total Growth Assets
Total Equity Fund ex Hedge

Year To Date

1 Year

3 Year

5 Year

Since Inception

Date

Market Value
(£m)

BM

ER

LCC - Total Growth Assets

Mar-16

3500.0

60.8

-0.9

-2.2

1.4

14.6

10.5

4.1

14.6

10.5

4.1

12.3

10.5

1.8

9.0

8.4

0.6

11.8

11.2

0.6
-0.7

Benchmark

Weight %

PF

BM

ER

PF

BM

ER

PF

BM

ER

PF

BM

ER

PF

BM

ER

PF

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

2572.1

44.6

-3.4

-2.8

-0.6

10.5

11.3

-0.8

10.5

11.3

-0.8

10.6

11.7

-1.1

8.3

9.1

-0.9

11.9

12.6

L&G Total Passive Equity Fund

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

976.5

16.9

-2.3

-2.1

-0.2

10.4

11.3

-0.8

10.4

11.3

-0.8

10.2

10.3

-0.1

8.1

8.2

-0.1

11.6

11.7

0.0

L&G UK Equity Fund

FTSE All Share Index

Dec-13

209.8

3.6

0.0

0.5

-0.5

12.5

13.0

-0.5

12.5

13.0

-0.5

6.0

5.3

0.6

5.0

4.7

0.3

5.8

5.5

0.2

L&G North American Equity Fund

FTSE World N America Net Index

Dec-13

366.1

6.4

-2.1

-2.1

0.0

19.7

19.7

0.0

19.7

19.7

0.0

15.9

15.7

0.2

12.3

12.2

0.1

15.0

15.0

0.0

L&G Japanese Equity Fund

FTSE Japan Net Index

Dec-13

74.0

1.3

-3.6

-3.5

-0.1

-2.4

-2.3

-0.1

-2.4

-2.3

-0.1

6.4

6.5

-0.1

5.1

5.2

0.0

8.5

8.6

-0.1

149.5

0.0

8.0

L&G European Equity Fund

FTSE Dev Europe ex UK Net Index

Dec-13

-7.2

0.0

5.9

5.9

0.0

7.5

7.2

L&G Pacific Ex Japan Equity Fund

FTSE Dev. Asia Pacific x Japan Net

Mar-13

76.2

1.3

2.8

2.6

0.2

2.2

1.7

0.5

2.2

1.7

0.5

8.2

8.0

0.2

6.2

6.0

0.2

8.4

8.4

0.0

L&G Emerging Markets Equity Fund

FTSE Emerging Net

Dec-13

100.9

1.8

-2.5

-2.5

0.0

-3.6

-3.5

-0.1

-3.6

-3.5

-0.1

5.5

5.6

-0.1

5.4

5.3

0.0

7.6

7.3

0.2

LGPSC Global Eq Active Multi Mgr Fund

FTSE All World Index

Feb-19

513.6

8.9

-2.3

-2.4

0.2

13.1

12.8

0.3

13.1

12.8

0.3

14.8

13.9

0.9

0.0

0.0

0.0

13.5

13.7

-0.2

LGPSC EMM Eq Active Multi Mgr Fund

FTSE All World Emerging Market Index

Jul-19

191.4

3.3

-9.3

-2.5

-6.8

-10.8

-3.3

-7.5

-10.8

-3.3

-7.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

1.1

3.9

-2.9

LGPSC AW Eq Climate Multi Factor Fund

FTSE AW Climate Bal Com Factor Net

Dec-20

890.7

15.5

-3.9

-4.0

0.1

14.9

14.6

0.3

14.9

14.6

0.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

14.4

14.2

0.3

Total Targeted Return Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

488.2

8.5

7.2

1.1

6.1

12.0

3.9

8.1

12.0

3.9

8.1

9.9

4.2

5.7

5.8

4.4

1.5

6.1

4.4

1.7

Aspect Capital Partners Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Dec-13

184.2

3.2

20.0

1.1

18.9

25.6

3.9

21.6

25.6

3.9

21.6

12.5

4.2

8.2

6.5

4.4

2.1

Pictet Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Sep-15

150.2

2.6

-2.7

1.1

-3.8

4.4

3.9

0.4

4.4

3.9

0.4

5.9

4.2

1.6

3.7

4.4

-0.6

5.0

4.4

0.6

Ruffer Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Dec-13

153.7

2.7

4.3

1.1

3.2

6.5

3.9

2.6

6.5

3.9

2.6

11.5

4.2

7.3

6.9

4.4

2.6

7.0

4.4

2.6

FTSE All World Index

Mar-16

439.6

7.6

6.0

-2.4

8.4

48.1

12.8

35.4

48.1

12.8

35.4

28.1

13.9

14.3

21.1

11.0

10.2

21.8

14.4

7.4
15.9

Total Private Equity Fund

2.6

-7.2

6.2

6.2

0.0

6.2

6.2

8.0

0.1

7.7

4.4

0.3

3.3

UK Private Equity Fund - Catapult (L)

FTSE All World Index

Mar-16

0.6

0.0

4.6

-2.4

7.0

17.6

12.8

4.8

17.6

12.8

4.8

9.3

13.9

-4.5

24.6

11.0

13.6

30.2

14.4

Oseas Private Equity Fund - Adams Street (L)

FTSE All World Index

Mar-16

401.2

7.0

5.8

-2.4

8.3

48.6

12.8

35.8

48.6

12.8

35.8

28.1

13.9

14.3

21.1

11.0

10.2

21.7

14.4

7.3

LGPSC Private Equity Fund

FTSE All World Index

May-19

6.4

0.1

6.0

-2.4

8.4

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

26.8

5.1

21.6

0.0

30.2

7.5

22.7

Sep-19

31.4

0.5

1.8

5.1

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

1636.7

28.4

1.7

1.8

-0.1

10.7

8.8

1.8

10.7

8.8

1.8

5.1

5.2

0.0

5.5

5.3

0.2

7.1

5.3

1.8

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

447.3

7.8

5.5

1.1

4.5

16.1

3.9

12.1

16.1

3.9

12.1

7.8

4.2

3.5

6.7

4.4

2.3

9.4

4.4

5.1

JPMorgan Infrastructure Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Jun-16

105.9

1.8

0.0

1.1

-1.1

6.1

3.9

2.2

6.1

3.9

2.2

6.9

4.2

2.7

6.8

4.4

2.4

6.5

4.3

2.2

IFM Global Infrastructure Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Dec-13

131.4

2.3

4.7

1.1

3.6

22.8

3.9

18.8

22.8

3.9

18.8

10.9

4.2

6.7

12.1

4.4

7.8

14.0

5.9

8.1
14.8

Aberdeen Standard Private Equity Fund
Total Income Assets
Total Infrastructure Fund

Absolute Return +7.5%

7.0

39.1

7.5

31.6

39.1

7.5

31.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

41.8

0.7

8.9

1.1

7.8

18.7

3.9

14.8

18.7

3.9

14.8

19.1

4.2

14.9

14.5

4.4

10.2

19.2

4.4

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

133.5

2.3

10.8

1.1

9.7

18.0

3.9

14.0

18.0

3.9

14.0

4.5

4.2

0.3

3.0

4.4

-1.3

4.8

4.4

0.5

Infracapital Infrastructure Fund

Absolute Return +7.5%

Nov-17

25.0

0.4

1.3

1.8

-0.5

14.4

7.5

6.9

14.4

7.5

6.9

2.3

7.5

-5.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

6.2

7.5

-1.3

LGPSC Infra Core/Core+

CPI +3.5%

-1.5

Dec-21

9.7

0.2

-0.9

0.6

-1.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-0.9

0.6

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

Mar-16

488.3

8.5

4.6

5.4

-0.8

19.3

23.7

-4.4

19.3

23.7

-4.4

7.2

8.4

-1.2

8.2

8.4

-0.2

8.1

7.6

0.5

Colliers Pooled Property

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

Mar-16

18.5

0.3

1.6

5.4

-3.8

7.5

23.7

-16.2

7.5

23.7

-16.2

-1.9

8.4

-10.3

1.1

8.4

-7.3

0.7

7.6

-6.9

Colliers Direct Property Fund

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

Mar-16

117.5

2.0

4.9

5.4

-0.5

16.1

23.7

-7.6

16.1

23.7

-7.6

8.2

8.4

-0.1

9.3

8.4

0.9

9.3

7.6

1.7

La Salle Property Fund

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

Dec-13

279.1

4.8

4.8

5.4

-0.6

23.5

23.7

-0.2

23.5

23.7

-0.2

8.7

8.4

0.3

9.4

8.4

1.0

10.8

5.5

5.3

Kames Capital Property Fund

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

Mar-15

22.5

0.4

2.4

5.4

-3.0

14.9

23.7

-8.8

14.9

23.7

-8.8

3.4

8.4

-4.9

5.6

8.4

-2.8

6.1

8.3

-2.1

Kames Capital II Property Fund

MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)

8.5

-1.9

Total Property Fund

Total Emerging Market Debt Fund
LGPSC Global Active EMM Bond Multi Mgr Fund
Total Global Credit Private Debt

0.0

Nov-16

50.7

0.9

4.8

5.4

-0.5

15.4

23.7

-8.3

15.4

23.7

-8.3

5.8

8.4

-2.6

6.4

8.4

-2.0

JP Morgan EMBI Glb Diversified GBP

Jan-14

119.5

2.1

-8.5

-7.4

-1.1

-5.9

-3.0

-2.9

-5.9

-3.0

-2.9

-2.5

-1.1

-1.4

-0.9

0.1

-1.0

5.0

2.8

2.3

JP Morgan EMBI Glb Diversified

Dec-20

119.5

2.1

-8.5

-7.4

-1.1

-5.9

-3.0

-2.9

-5.9

-3.0

-2.9

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-6.9

6.6

-6.7

-0.3

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

359.8

6.2

0.9

1.5

-0.6

9.1

4.6

4.4

9.1

4.6

4.4

4.7

4.7

0.1

4.8

4.7

0.1

6.2

4.7

1.5

Christofferson Robb & Company Fund - CRF3 (L)

Absolute Return +7.5%

Dec-17

25.4

0.4

0.8

1.8

-1.0

14.5

7.5

7.0

14.5

7.5

7.0

8.1

7.5

0.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

10.3

7.5

2.8

Christofferson Robb & Company Fund - CRF5

Absolute Return +8.5%

Mar-22

8.1

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.7

0.3

0.4

M&G DOF Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

83.1

1.4

1.2

1.1

0.1

14.3

3.9

10.4

14.3

3.9

10.4

0.3

4.2

-3.9

1.6

4.4

-2.7

4.6

4.4

0.2

Partners Group Private Debt Fund

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Mar-16

236.0

4.1

1.0

1.1

-0.1

6.6

3.9

2.7

6.6

3.9

2.7

4.4

4.2

0.2

4.0

4.4

-0.3

4.4

4.4

0.1

LGPSC PD Low Return 2021

7% IRR

Oct-21

2.4

0.0

-1.3

1.3

-2.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-1.3

1.3

-2.6

LGPSC PD High Return 2021

13% IRR

Dec-21

4.8

0.1

-5.9

0.6

-6.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-5.9

0.6

-6.5

SONIA 3 Month + 4%

Apr-21

222.0

3.9

-4.8

1.1

-5.9

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-3.5

4.1

-7.6

Client Weighted Index

Jan-14

456.7

7.9

-5.7

-5.5

-0.2

1.2

1.6

-0.4

1.2

1.6

-0.4

2.6

2.9

-0.4

2.8

2.9

-0.2

8.8

8.6

0.1

Aegon (formally Kames) Index-Linked Fund

FTSE All Stocks Index Linked Index

Dec-13

246.1

4.3

-5.5

-5.5

0.0

4.7

5.1

-0.4

4.7

5.1

-0.4

3.3

3.2

0.1

3.2

3.1

0.1

9.1

8.7

0.3

Aegon Short Dated Inv Grade Bond Fund

SONIA 3 Month +1.25% (GBP)

Mar-21

84.8

1.5

-1.5

0.5

-1.9

-1.2

1.5

-2.6

-1.2

1.5

-2.6

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

-1.2

1.6

-2.7

LGPSC Investment Grade Credit Fund

-1.5

LGPSC Global Active MAC Fund
Total Protection Assets

LGPSC Corp Index

Mar-20

125.7

2.2

-7.0

-6.7

-0.3

-5.2

-4.9

-0.3

-5.2

-4.9

-0.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.5

2.0

Cash Fund

SONIA 3 Month

Mar-16

116.0

2.0

0.0

0.2

-0.1

0.1

0.2

-0.2

0.1

0.2

-0.2

1.2

0.4

0.9

0.9

0.4

0.5

0.8

0.4

0.4

Aegon (formally Kames) Currency Hedge Fund

SONIA 3 Month

Mar-16

51.8

0.9

-15.7

0.2

-15.9

-25.5

0.2

-25.7

-25.5

0.2

-25.7

-203.3

0.4

-203.6

-214.1

0.4

-214.5

-195.2

0.4

-195.6

Leicestershire CC Pension Fund ex Hedge(Gross)

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

5709.5

99.1

-0.4

-1.0

0.6

12.1

9.3

2.9

12.1

9.3

2.9

9.3

8.1

1.2

7.4

7.0

0.5

10.1

8.7

1.3

Leicestershire CC Pension Fund ex Hedge (Net)

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

5709.5

99.1

-0.5

-1.0

0.5

12.0

9.3

2.7

12.0

9.3

2.7

9.1

8.1

1.0

7.1

7.0

0.2

9.7

8.7

1.0

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (Gross)

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

5761.3

100.0

-0.6

-1.3

0.7

11.6

8.9

2.8

11.6

8.9

2.8

9.4

8.2

1.3

7.8

6.9

0.9

10.1

8.6

1.5

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (Net)

Client Weighted Index

Mar-16

5761.3

100.0

-0.7

-1.3

0.6

11.4

8.9

2.6

11.4

8.9

2.6

9.2

8.2

1.1

7.5

6.9

0.7

9.8

8.6

1.2

PF = Portfolio Return

Total Fund Benchmark

CLIENT SPECIFIC:
3.50 FTSE All Share Index
6.00 FTSE World N America NetTax (UKPN)
1.25 FTSE Japan NetTax (UKPN)
2.50 FTSE Dev Europe ex UK NetTax (UKPN)
1.25 FTSE Dev Asia Pac ex Japan NetTax (UKPN)
1.00 FTSE Emerging NetTax (UKPN)
7.50 FTSE All World Index
4.00 FTSE All World Emerging Market Index
15.00 FTSE AW Climate Balanced
5.75 FTSE All World Index
7.50 SONIA 3 Month + 4%

*Note that equity assets are hedged

BM = Benchmark Return

4.50
2.50

FTSE All Stocks Index Linked Index
50% ICE BofAML Ster Non-Gilt (ex-EMM issues)& 50% ICE BofAML Global Corporate Index
(ex-GBP and emerging market issues) hedged to GBP

0.50

SONIA 3 Month +1.25%

9.75 SONIA 3 Month + 4%
10.00 MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (GBP)
4.00 SONIA 3 Month +4%
2.50
1.05
6.30
2.00
1.15

JP Morgan EMBI Glb Diversified
Absolute Return+8%
SONIA 3 Month +4%
Absolute Return +7%
Absolute Return +13%

ER = Excess Return

Notes:
Q1 2022: Investment into Christofferson Robb & Company Fund (CRF5) from 16th March 2022 to be measured against Absolute Return +8.5%. Total Fund benchmark updated from 1st January 2022.
SONIA 1 Month benchmarks changed to SONIA 3 Month from 1st January 2022.
Q4 2021: Investment into LGPSC Infra Core/Core+, LGPSC PD Low Return 2021, LGPSC PD High Return 2021. December's data for these investments is not available until March, so we will 'lag' the
data for these by 3 months going forwards.
All returns are in GBP
Lagged Portfolios:
Adams Street: Data is on a quarterly lag
Catapult: Data is on a quarterly lag
M&G DOF II: Data is on a quarterly lag
Christofferson Robb & Company: Data is on a 1 month lag
JP Morgan Global Credit Fund: Data is on a quarterly lag
Stafford Timberland: Data is on a quarterly lag
LPSC Private Equity, Private Debt and Infrastructure: Data is on a quarterly lag

251

KKR Global Infrastructure Fund
Stafford Timberland Fund (L)

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B

253

Capital Markets Update
Despite November’s sell-off, global equity markets rose in Q4 as evidence
suggested that the Omicron variant may not be as virulent as previous
strains.
Short-term yields rose as markets priced in a faster pace of interest-rate
increases to combat high inflation.

The current wave of COVID-19 infections is eclipsing previous peaks and although hospitalisations and deaths are lower,
greater transmissibility could still put pressure on healthcare systems. A return of some restrictions on activity, an increase in
voluntary social distancing and resulting supply chain disruption, particularly while China continues to pursue a zero-COVID
policy, will weigh on growth in Q4 2021 and Q1 2022. On a longer-term view, Omicron’s apparent milder symptoms and
increasing dominance may accelerate the transition of COVID-19 from pandemic to endemic status, allowing a more
permanent normalisation of activity.
Chart 1: Sentiment resilient, particularly in manufacturing1
65
Manufacturing

Services

60

55
Indicative of month-on-month expansion

50
Indicative of month-on-month contraction

45
Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Sep 21

Dec 21

Indeed, current pressure on growth is reflected in December’s purchasing managers’ indices (Chart 1), which were as low as
they have been for almost a year. However, global sentiment is positive, particularly in manufacturing, where output is
increasing despite ongoing supply constraints. Backlogs from existing order books plus strong future orders should support
manufacturing activity in 2022, while a more permanent re-opening would support the service-sector recovery. Against this
backdrop, activity is expected to rebound quickly once cases subside; we still expect above-trend growth in 2022.
Meanwhile, inflation has proved more persistent and pervasive than expected (Chart 2). UK headline CPI inflation is as high
as it has been in 10 years, while the US measure is close to 40-year highs. Although tight labour markets, particularly in the
US and UK, pose an upside risk, inflation is expected to moderate in 2022. There are tentative signs that supply-chain
disruptions are easing, and fiscal policy will be less supportive this year. In addition, central bankers have adopted less

1

Average of US, UK and eurozone purchasing managers’ indices

254

accommodative stances. The US Federal Reserve expects to raise rates three times this year (interest-rate futures markets
expect even more) and is accelerating its reduction of asset purchases. Despite the near-term economic impact of Omicron,
the Bank of England made the first of what is expected to be a series of rate hikes in December.

%, year-on-year

Chart 2: Core inflation is following headline measures higher, indicating broad-based price pressures
7
UK headline
UK core
6
US headline
US core
5
4
3
2
1
0
Nov 19

Feb 20

May 20

Aug 20

Nov 20

Feb 21

May 21

Aug 21

Nov 21

The trend in monetary policy is likely to put upwards pressure on long-term bond yields but, if inflation does fall over the
course of the year, limiting the need for aggressive monetary policy tightening, the rise in yields is also likely to be limited
and gradual. Core sovereign bond yields, particularly at the front-end of the curve, are pricing in a reasonable path of
interest-rate rises, but yields are very low in absolute terms and provide little protection against any persistence in
inflationary pressures.
Chart 3: EM yields have risen faster and further than developed market yields, even though EM central banks have
1.8

5.8

1.6

5.6

1.4

5.4

1.2

5.2

1.0

5.0

0.8

4.8

0.6

4.6

0.4

UK 10-year gilt
US 10-year Treasury
JP Morgan GBI-EM Broad Diversified Index (RHS)

0.2
0.0
Dec 20

Mar 21

Jun 21

Sep 21

yield, % p.a.

yield, % p.a.

been more proactive in tackling rising inflation

4.4
4.2
4.0
Dec 21

While central banks in the major advanced economies are just starting to reduce monetary accommodation, their emergingmarket (EM) counterparts have been raising rates progressively in 2021. EM local-currency yields rose sharply last year
(Chart 3) and yield curves are as steep as they have been in 10 years. While a tightening in global financial conditions tends
to pose a challenge for EM assets, a reduction in monetary policy accommodation has been well telegraphed and EM
central banks have raised interest rates pre-emptively. Meanwhile, emerging-market current accounts have strengthened
considerably during the pandemic, though their currencies, in aggregate, still look cheap relative to the dollar by historical
comparison.

255

2021 was characterised by a recovery in global macroeconomic and corporate fundamentals. Low nominal and real rates
spurred investors to reach for yield lower down the credit spectrum. This demand was met by record issuance volumes in
speculative-grade credit markets, which enabled borrowers to lower their cost of capital, helping to push defaults well below
average levels. Strong corporate balance sheets and positive earnings growth still lend fundamental support but waning
central bank support and rising input costs may make for slightly less benign conditions in 2022.

Spread over US treasuries, % p.a.

Chart 4: Hard-currency emerging-market debt offers value relative to developed-market corporates

7
Hard currency (EMBI Global Div)
6

BB US High yield

5
4
3
2
1

In credit portfolios, we look for some insulation against rising rates. In investment-grade, this may entail a short-duration bias
within fixed-interest corporate allocations, investing in floating-rate asset-backed securities, or absolute return bond funds.
We prefer speculative-grade credit, given its shorter duration – historically it has performed relatively well in inflationary
environments, provided corporate fundamentals remain intact, with interest-rate increases offset by income and low defaults.
Though hard-currency emerging-market debt is a slightly longer-duration market, spreads are attractive relative to
comparable developed-market corporate credit (Chart 4).

MSCI World earnings growth is forecast to have risen over 52% in 2021, marking one of the strongest years on record. This
would leave earnings approximately 23% above 2019 levels. Although the year-on-year pace will fall dramatically, we still
anticipate robust earnings growth in 2022. Even so, high cyclically adjusted equity valuations mean further upside is likely to
be more limited. While equity valuations are not particularly challenging relative to very low sovereign bond yields, upwards
pressure on longer-term real yields is likely to put the lid on rising valuations. There is notable dispersion in equity valuations
by region (Chart 5) and, given its extreme valuation, the US could be most at risk. In addition, as we expect COVID
disruption to dissipate as 2022 progresses, more cyclical sectors and markets may benefit as economies fully re-open,
particularly those where activity is below pre-pandemic levels. Against this backdrop, non-US equities look poised for a
period of catch-up.

256

Chart 5: There is notable dispersion in equity valuations by region

+40%
cyclically-adjusted price-earnings ratio relative to MSCI world
+20%
+0%
-20%
-40%
-60%
US
UK
Eurozone
EM
-80%
1979 1982 1985 1988 1991 1994 1997 2000 2003 2006 2009 2012 2015 2018 2021
However, we would caution against being heavily underweight the US: valuations are high, but we expect a gradual and
limited rise in yields and the secular growth characteristics of the US market have perhaps been enhanced by the pandemic.

UK commercial property rents are growing strongly within the industrial sector, continue to fall, albeit at a declining pace, in
the retail sector, and are growing slowly in the office sector (Chart 6). In aggregate, tenant demand is rising while the
availability of stock falls, helping to underpin improved rental expectations and allowing landlords to offer fewer inducements
to secure tenants. However, rent collection remains lower than normal as rent moratoriums delay payments to landlords.
Outside of the traditional core market, the leisure and hotel sub-sectors continue to face near-term disruption stemming from
the pandemic.
Chart 6: UK commercial property fundamentals are on an improving trend, but with differing fortunes across
sectors

Nominal rental growth, %
change year-on-year

8%
6%

All property

Retail

Office

Industrial

4%
2%
0%
-2%
-4%
-6%
-8%

-10%
Nov 19

Feb 20

May 20

Aug 20

Nov 20

Feb 21

May 21

Aug 21

Nov 21

Reversionary (full rental) yields have fallen further in recent months as demand, from both domestic and overseas buyers,
remains strong. In a time of inflation uncertainty, we prefer long-lease funds with a high degree of inflation-linked rents.
Lower exposure to the retail sector is also supporting demand for long-lease funds, which continue to have queues in place.

The ongoing Omicron wave is likely to weigh on near-term activity, but COVID should ultimately move further into the
background in 2022. The consequent economic and earnings growth should lend support to risk assets. Inflation should
moderate in the second half of 2022, but tight labour markets and supply disruptions pose an upside risk. Monetary policy
will be less supportive in 2022 and, though we expect a modest rise in interest rates, further upside inflation surprises may
necessitate a more substantial reduction in monetary support.

257

Short-term nominal sovereign bond yields already reflect likely rate rises, but long-term yields may still see some upwards
pressure. Yields, at all terms, provide scant compensation for current levels of inflation. Strong corporate fundamentals and
a short-duration preference support an overweight to speculative-grade versus investment-grade credit. Within investmentgrade markets, short-duration fixed interest corporates or floating-rate asset-backed securities are preferred to benchmark
investment-grade strategies. Within bond and credit markets, we see relative value in emerging-market debt. EM central
banks have pre-emptively tightened monetary policy and sovereign yield curves are steep, while hard-currency credit
spreads in emerging-market debt are relatively attractive versus developed-market comparators.
Ongoing earnings growth and our expectation that any rise in yields from low levels will be limited and gradual sees us retain
a preference for equity over bonds and credit. However, as investors weigh the impact of waning central bank policy on
valuations, and inflation puts upwards pressure on input costs, any increase in volatility may enable cash to be deployed at
more attractive entry points.
Nevertheless, investors may want to look for ways to increase cash returns without taking duration risk. This may increase
the attraction of short-duration credit and absolute return bond funds as near-cash alternatives.

Chris Arcari
Senior Investment Research Consultant
chris.arcari@hymans.co.uk
0141 566 7986

London | Birmingham | Glasgow | Edinburgh

T 020 7082 6000 | www.hymans.co.uk

This communication has been compiled by Hymans Robertson LLP based upon our understanding of the state of affairs at the time of publication. It is not a definitive analysis of the subjects covered,
nor is it specific to the circumstances of any person, scheme or organisation. It is not advice, and should not be considered a substitute for advice specific to individual circumstances. Where the
subject matter involves legal issues you may wish to take legal advice. Hymans Robertson LLP accepts no liability for errors or omissions or reliance upon any statement or opinion.
Hymans Robertson LLP (registered in England and Wales - One London Wall, London EC2Y 5EA - OC310282) is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and licensed by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries for a range of investment business activities. A member of Abelica Global.
© Hymans Robertson LLP.

This page is intentionally left blank

259

Agenda Item 12

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10 JUNE 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of any changes relating
to the risk management and internal controls of the Pension Fund, as
stipulated in the Pension Regulator's Code of Practice and summarise the
information the Local Pension Board received regarding:
a. The internal audit arrangements for the Fund.
b. Outcomes of Audits conducted during 2021-22 and outline the internal
audit plan for 2022-23.
Background
2. The Pension Regulator’s (TPR) code of practice on governance and
administration of public service pension schemes requires that administrators
need to record, and members be kept aware of ‘risk management and
internal controls. The code states this should be a standing item on each
Pension Board and Pension Committee agenda.
3. In order to comply with the code, the risk register and an update on
supporting activity is included on each agenda.
Risk Register
4. No changes have been made to the Fund’s risk register since its
consideration at the Committee meeting on 25 March 2022. The Local
Pension Board also supported the latest risk register at their meeting 4 May
2022.

260

5. To meet best practice for Fund governance the risk register has been shared
with Internal Audit. Internal Audit have considered the register and are
satisfied with the current position.

The Internal Audit Function
6. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), Revised 2017, define
internal audit as: - ‘An independent, objective assurance and consulting
activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic,
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk
management, control and governance processes’.
7. The PSIAS require that after the closure of the audit year, the nominated
Head of Internal Audit Service (at the County Council, the Head of Internal
Audit & Assurance Service undertakes this role), reports to those charged
with governance (the Board), on work conducted during the year containing a
summary of findings, recommendations and opinions. The PSIAS also
require that at the beginning of the audit year, an annual plan of audits should
be agreed with the Treasurer and noted by the Local Pension Board, for best
practice this is also being reported to the Committee.
Internal Audit Work Conducted During 2021-22
8. The Pension Board received a summary of the work conducted by LCCIAS
during 2021-22. One audit, outstanding from the previous year was
concluded and four assurance audits were undertaken. The assurance
grading was overall positive. There were no high importance (HI)
recommendations. Final reports for all completed audits were shared with
the Fund’s External Auditor (Grant Thornton LLP) in order to inform their
audit risk assessment in preparation for their annual audit of the Fund’s
accounts.
9. Leicestershire County Council Internal Audit Service also co-ordinated the
County Council’s requirements for the biennial National Fraud Initiative
counter fraud data matching exercise.
10. The exercise identified four cases where pensions were continuing to be paid
to deceased persons so monthly payments were immediately suspended,
and the cases were subjected to further investigation. The Pensions Service
confirmed that, whilst not high in value (just over £18,000 in total), staff were
continuing seek repayment, but this was hindered by deaths occurring
overseas and the impact of Covid-19 on General Register Office services.
11. As a result of the overpayments identified, process changes have been
introduced to prevent recurrence.

261

12. Firstly, the Pensions Service is undertaking a full review of any current
pension payments where “care of” addresses are held for the individual, e.g.
c/o a firm of solicitors.
13. Secondly, a decision has been taken to subscribe to the NFI Mortality
Screening Service which, for an additional nominal fee, will see data on
overseas pensioners matched against the DWP’s Deceased Persons
database on a twice-yearly basis in an attempt to identify deaths earlier in the
process, thus facilitating earlier suspension of payment and
investigation/recovery of any amounts overpaid.
14. The first data matching took place in November 2021 and no issues of
concern arose from the output received. Additionally, the Internal Audit
Service (IAS) subscribes to the National AntiFraud Network (NAFN) and in
conjunction with the Pensions Service is exploring what additional (call off)
products are available that could be utilised in recovery situations.
15. As part of the ongoing collaborative work with partner fund internal auditors,
Leicestershire concluded a review of LGPS Central Investments with an
overall ‘substantial’ opinion, as part of the four year rolling programme of
audits agreed with the Working Group.
16. The 2021/22 audits were assigned to colleagues at Nottinghamshire County
Council (Investments), and Worcestershire County Council (Governance).
Work on the Investments audit is complete with a draft report issued with a
with a ‘substantial assurance’ opinion offered. The scope included:


Performance reporting - review the processes for capture, completion,
validation of routine reporting to pooling partners and PAF to provide
assurance to members that reports are complete, accurate and provide
effective investment management information.
i. Capture of source documentation from funds and private
markets managers;
ii. Compilation and comparison to expectations.
iii. Assurance of adherence to investment guidelines;
iv. Review and challenge through LGPS Central processes;
v. Quality assurance processes for reporting.



Following up recommendations from previous internal audit work

17. The Governance audit is currently work in progress, yet to be concluded.

The Internal Audit Plan 2022-23

262

18. The Pension Board further received a summary of audits planned during
2022-23. To compile the plan, the HoIAS held discussions with the Fund
Treasurer and the Pensions Manager. An assumption has been made that in
their audit of the Fund’s accounts, the External Auditors (Grant Thornton) will
continue to utilise LCCIAS’s work in their audit risk assessment.
19. The Local Pension Board welcomed the report at its meeting on the 4 May
2022 and supported the findings and Internal Audit Plan 2022-23.
Recommendation
20. It is recommended that the Committee approve the revised risk register of the
Pension Fund.
Equality and Human Rights Implications

None

Appendix

Appendix - Risk Register
Background Papers

4 May 2022 - Local Pension Board – Internal Audit Arrangements (Including
Internal Audit Work conducted During 2021-22) and the Internal Audit Plan
2022-23.
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1122&MId=6816
Officers to Contact

Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel:

0116 305 6199

Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk

Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel:

0116 305 7668

Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk

Mr I Howe, Pensions Manager
Tel:

0116 305 6945

Email: Ian.Howe@leics.gov.uk

Appendix - Leicestershire Pension Fund Risk Register March 2022
In the Fund’s new style risk register there are six risk groups. Each risk sits within a risk group.
Risk Groups
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Investment Risk
Liability Risk
Employer Risk
Governance Risk
Operational Risk
Regulatory Risk

Investment Risk

1

2

Risk Area
Service

Investments

Investments

Invs

Invs

Risk

Causes (s)

Market investment
returns are
consistently poor,
and this causes
significant upward
pressure onto
employer
contribution rates

Poor market returns
most probably
caused by poor
economic
conditions and/ or
shocks e.g. CV19.

Market returns are
acceptable, but the
performance
achieved by the
Fund is below
reasonable
expectations

Poor performance
of individual
managers including
LGPS Central, poor
asset allocation
policy or costs of
transition of assets
to LGPS Central is
higher than
expected

Consequences

Significant financial
impact on
employing bodies
due to the need for
large increases in
employer
contribution rates

Opportunity cost in
terms of lost
investment returns,
which is possible
even if actual
returns are higher
than those allowed
for within the
actuarial valuation.
Lower returns will

Risk
Owner

Chris
Tambini

Chris
Tambini

List of current
controls

Ensuring that
strategic asset
allocation is
considered at least
annually, and that
the medium-term
outlook for
different asset
classes is included
as part of the
consideration
Ensuring that the
causes of
underperformance
are understood and
acted on where
appropriate
Shareholders’
Forum, Joint
Committee and
Practitioners’

I

5

3

L

2

3

Current
Risk
Score

10

9

Treat

Treat

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Making sure that the
investment strategy
is sufficiently flexible
to take account of
opportunities and
risks that arise but is
still based on a
reasonable mediumterm assessment of
future returns.
After careful
consideration, take
decisive action
where this is
deemed
appropriate. It
should be
recognised that
some managers
have a style-bias and
that poorer relative

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

4

2

8

2

2

4

Action
owner

263

Risk
no

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Bhulesh
Kachra

Bhulesh
Kachra

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

ultimately lead to
higher employer
contribution rates
than would
otherwise have
been the case

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Advisory Forum will
provide significant
influence in the
event of issues
arising.

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

3

3

9

Action
owner

performance will
occur. Decisions
regarding manager
termination to
consider multiple
factors including
performance versus
mandate and reason
for original
inclusion.

Appraisal of each
LGPS Central
investment product
before a
commitment to
transition is made.
Where appropriate
specialist transition
manager being
appointed, with
independent
specialist oversight.

264

The set-up of LGPS
Central is likely to be
the most difficult
phase. The Fund will
continue to monitor
closely how the
company evolves
Programme of LGPS
Central internal
audit activity, which
has been designed
in collaboration with
the audit functions
of the partner funds

Transitions are
phased over time to
allow capacity to be
managed and
lessons learned

Each transition’s
approach is
independently
assessed with views
from 8 partners
sought.

3

Investments

Invs

Failure to take
account of ALL risks
to future
investment returns
within the setting
of asset allocation

Some assets classes
or individual
investments
perform poorly as a
result of incorrect
assessment of all

Opportunity cost
within investment
returns, and
potential for actual
returns to be low.
This will lead to

Chris
Tambini

Ensuring that all
factors that may
impact onto
investment returns
are taken into
account when

3

4

12

Treat

Responsible
investment aims to
incorporate
environmental
(including Climate
change), social and

Bhulesh
Kachra

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

policy and/or the
appointment of
investment
managers

Causes (s)

risks inherent within
the investment.

Consequences

higher employer
contribution rates
than would
otherwise have
been necessary.

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

setting the asset
allocation.
Only appointing
investment
managers that
integrate
responsible
investment (RI) into
their processes.

Development of a
Fund Climate
Change Strategy

L

Current
Risk
Score

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

governance (ESG)
factors into
investment
decisions, to better
manage risk and
generate
sustainable, longterm returns.
Annual refresh of
the Fund’s asset
allocation allows an
up to date view of
risks to be
incorporated and
avoids significant
sort term changes to
the allocation.
Asset allocation
policy allows for
variances from
target asset
allocation to take
advantage of
opportunities and
negates the need to
trade regularly
where investments
under and over
perform in a short
period of time.

265

Utilisation of
dedicated RI team
at LGPS Central and
preparation of a RI
plan for the fund.

I

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Liability Risk

Risk
no

Service

Liability

Invs

Risk

Assets held by the
Fund are ultimately
insufficient to pay
benefits due to
individual members

Causes (s)

Ineffective setting
of employer
contribution rates
over many
consecutive
actuarial valuations

Consequences

Significant financial
impact on scheme
employers due to
the need for large
increases in
employer
contribution rates.

Risk
Owner

Chris
Tambini

List of current
controls

Input into actuarial
valuation, including
ensuring that
actuarial
assumptions are
reasonable and the
manner in which
employer
contribution rates
are set does not
bring imprudent
future financial risk

I

5

L

2

Current
Risk
Score

10

Treat

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Actuarial
assumptions need to
include an element
of prudence, and
Officers need to
understand the
long-term impact
and risks involved
with taking shortterm views to
artificially manage
employer
contribution rates.
The 2019 valuation
assessed the
contribution rates
with a view to
calculating
monetary
contributions
alongside employer
percentages of
salaries where
appropriate.
Regular review of
market conditions
and dialogue with
the schemes biggest
employers with
respect to the
direction of future
rates. Planning for
the 2022 valuation
has commenced
with the actuary.

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

4

2

8

Bhulesh
Kachra

266

4

Risk Area

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

3

2

6

Ian
Howe

GAD Section 13
comparisons.
Funding Strategy
Statement approach
to increase the fund
to over 100%
funded.

Employer Risk

Risk Area
Service

Employer
5

Pens

Risk

If the pensions fund
fails to receive
accurate and timely
data from
employers, scheme
members pension
benefits could be
incorrect or late
This includes data
at year-end

Causes (s)

A continuing
increase in Fund
employers is
causing
administrative
pressure in the
Pension Section.
This is in terms of
receiving accurate
and timely data
from these new
employers who
have little or no
pension knowledge
and employers that
change payroll
systems so require
new reporting

Consequences

Risk
Owner

L

Current
Risk
Score

Increased appeals
Ian
Howe

Amended SLA and
communication and
administration
guide distributed to
employers making
IConnect a statutory
requirement by
31/3/2022)
Year-end
specifications
provided

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Implement IConnect
with the remaining
employers so they
provide monthly
data in a secure and
timely manner

Guidance notes
provided for
employers

Reputation

Failure to meet
statutory year-end
requirements

I

Training provided
for new employers

Late or inaccurate
pension benefits to
scheme members

Greater
administrative time
being spent on
individual
calculations

List of current
controls

3

3

9

Treat

Inform the Local
Pension Board each
quarter on progress
made
Proposed
development of
wider bulk
calculations
Proposed greater
automation and less
leaver data required

267

Risk
no

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

processes

6

Employer

7

Invs

Employer and
employee
contributions are
not paid accurately
and on time

Error on the part of
the scheme
employer
CV19 may reduce
some employer’s
income so they are
unable to make
payment

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

4

1

4

Ian
Howe

2

3

6

Declan
Keegan

from employers

Pension Section
provides employers
with the annual
bandings each year.

Lower contributions
than expected.
Errors by Fund
employers payroll
systems when
setting the changes

I

Incorrect actuarial
calculations made
by the Fund.

Ian
Howe

Possibly higher
employer
contributions set
than necessary

Potentially
reportable to The
Pensions Regulator
as late payment is a
breach of The
Pensions Act.

Pension Section
provides employers
with contributions
rates (full and
50/50)

Pension Officers
check sample cases
at year-end

4

2

8

Treat

Major failings to be
reported to the
Pensions Board

Internal audit check
both areas annually
and report their
findings to the
Pensions Manager

Ian
Howe

Receipt of
contributions is
monitored, and late
payments are
chased quickly.
Communication
with large
commercial
employers with a
view to early view
of funding issues.
Internal Audit
review on an annual
basis and report
findings to the
Pensions Manager

Pension Officers to
report major failings
to internal audit
before the annual
audit process

2

4

8

Treat

Late payers will be
reminded of their
legal responsibilities.

268

Employer

Pens

If contribution
bandings and
contributions are
not applied
correctly, the Fund
could receive lower
contributions than
expected

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

3

1

3

Ian
Howe

8

Ian
Howe
and
Declan
Keegan

Governance

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

8

9

Governance

Pens

Pens/Invs

If the Funds In
House AVC
provider (The
Prudential) does
not meet its service
delivery
requirements the
Pension Fund is
late in making
payment of
benefits to scheme
members

Sub-funds of
individual
employers are not
monitored to

The Fund must
offer AVCs as per
the Regulations
Prudential
implemented a new
administration
system in
November 2020
Covid lockdown
restrictions and
home working

Changing financial
position of both
sub-fund and the

Failure to meet key
performance target
for making
payments of
retirement benefits
to members
Complaints
Reputational
damage
Members may
cease paying AVCs

Significant financial
impact on
employing bodies
due to need for

Reported the
delayed payment of
benefits (due to the
Prudential’s delays)
as a material breach
to the Pensions
Regulator

Reported it to the
Chair of the
Pension Boards and
Senior Officers
Ian
Howe

Ian
Howe/
Declan

Reported to the
LGA and other
Funds

269

Written to all active
scheme members
with AVCs

3

3

9

Treat

Prudential attended
a meeting with the
Local Pension Board

Discussed with the
Prudential

Prudential working
through an
improvement plan

Weekly list of
outstanding cases
sent to the
Prudential for
priority

Prudential engage
with Fund Officers
positively to quickly
resolve issues

Ensuring, as far as
possible, that the
financial position of
each employer is

Dialogue with the
employers,
particularly in the
lead up to the

5

2

10

Treat

4

2

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

ensure that there is
the correct balance
between risks to
the Fund and fair
treatment of the
employer

Causes (s)

employer

Consequences

large increases in
employer
contribution rates.

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

Keegan

understood. Ongoing dialogue with
them to ensure
that the correct
balance between
risks and fair
treatment
continues.

Risk to the Fund of
insolvency of an
individual
employer. This will
ultimately increase
the deficit of all
other employers.

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

2

2

4

Bhulesh
Kachra

setting of new
employer
contribution rates.
Include employer
risk profiling as part
of the Funding
Strategy Statement
update. To allow
better targeting of
default risks

Governance

270

Investigate
arrangements to
de-risk funding
arrangements for
individual
employers.
Ensure that the
implications of the
independent, nonpublic sector status,
of further
education, sixth
form colleges, and
the autonomous,
non-public sector
status of higher
education
corporations is fully
accounted for in the
Funding Strategy

10

Invs

Investment
decisions are made
without having
sufficient expertise
to properly assess

The combination of
knowledge at
Committee, Officer
and Consultant
level is not

Poor decisions
likely to lead to low
returns, which will
require higher
employer

Chris
Tambini

Continuing focus
on ensuring that
there is sufficient
expertise to be able
to make

3

3

9

Treat

On-going process of
updating and
improving the
knowledge of
everybody involved

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Governance

Risk

the risks and
potential returns

Causes (s)

sufficiently high

Consequences

Risk
Owner

contribution rates

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

thoughtfully
considered
investment
decisions

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

2

1

3

Ian
Howe

5

1

in the decisionmaking process

Operational

11

12

Risk Area
Service

Operational

Pens

Pens

Risk

If the Pension Fund
fails to hold all
pensioner data
correctly, including
Guaranteed
Minimum Pension
(GMP) data,
individual
member’s annual
Pensions Increase
results could be
wrong.

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Checking of HMRC
GMP data to
identify any
discrepancies.
From 2018 the
pensions section
has had
responsibility for
GMPs creating the
need to ensure that
this is accounted for
in the pensions
increases

Pensions database
now hosted outside
of LCC.
Employer data
submitted through
online portal.

Overpaying
pensions (i.e. for
GMP cases pension
increases are lower)

Ian
Howe

Reputation

Diminished public
trust in ability of
Council to provide
services.
Loss of confidential
information
compromising

Ian
Howe

Internal Audit run
an annual Pensions
Increase result test
and provide an
annual report of
findings

Regular LCC
Penetration testing
and enhanced IT
health checks in
place.

3

5

3

2

9

10

Treat

Treat

Officers run the
HMRC GMP check
on a case by case
basis and input the
results into member
records at
retirement

Work with LCC ICT
and Aquila Heywood
(software suppliers)
to establish
processes to reduce
risk, e.g. can Aquila

5

Stuart
Wells

271

Risk
no

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Operational

Risk

Causes (s)

If the Pensions
Section fails to
meet the
information/cyber
security and
governance
requirements, then
there may be a
breach of the
statutory
obligations.

Member data
accessible through
member self-service
portal (MSS).
Data held on third
party reporting tool
(DART).
Greater awareness
of information
rights by service
users.

Consequences

Risk
Owner

service user safety.
Damage to LCC
reputation.
Financial penalties.

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

LCC have achieved
PSN compliance.

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

5

1

5

Ian
Howe

Heywood
demonstrate that
they are carrying out
regular penetration
testing and other
related processes
take place.

New firewall in
place providing two
layers of security
protection in line
with PSN best
practice.

Liaise with Audit to
establish if any
further processes
can be put in place
in line with best
practice.

272

Good governance
project and the
expected TPR new
code of practice
Report the findings
to the Board.

Operational

13

Pens

If immediate
payments are not
applied correctly, or
there is human
error in calculating
a pension, scheme
members pensions
or the one off
payments could be
wrong

Human error when
setting up
immediate
payments or
calculating a
pension
System failures
Unable to meet
weekly deadlines

Complaints/appeals

Benefits checked
and authorised by
different Officers

Time resource used
to resolve issues
Members one off
payments, not paid,
paid late, paid
incorrectly
Over or under
payments

A more automated
one-off payment
process in place

Benefit Team
Tracker process

Reputation

Ian
Howe

Additional Assistant
Team Manager
resource provided
Training provided to
new staff
Benefits are
checked by a
colleague

Officers reengineered the
retirement process

5

2

10

Treat

Monitor the
structure of the
Pension Section to
resource the area
sufficiently
Officers requested
further system
security checks on
immediate

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Figures are
provided to the
member so they can
see the value and
check these are
correct

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

3

2

6

Ian
Howe

payments (bank
account checks)
Officers to develop
an Insights report to
identify
discrepancies
between
administration and
payroll sides of the
system
Ongoing officer
training notes

273

Continued develop
the workflow tasks
Funds over and
under payment
policy

Operational

14

Pens

If all the transfers
out checks are not
completely fully
there could be
future bad advice
challenges brought
against the Fund’s
pension
administration
There are some
challenges being
lodged from Claims
Management
Companies on
historic transfers
out

Increasing demand
for transfers out
from members
Increased transfer
out activity from
Companies
interested in
tempting people to
transfer out their
pension benefits
Increased
complexity on how
the receiving
schemes are set up
Increased
challenges on

Escalation process
to Internal Legal
Colleagues to check
IFA, Company set
up, alleged scam
activity

Reputation
TPR checks

Future bad advice
claims brought
against the Fund
IDRP appeals
(possible
compensation
payments)
Increased
administration time
and cost

Follow LGA
guidance
Ian
Howe

Queries escalated
to Team Manager
then Pensions
Manager

Treat
3

3

9

Further escalation
process to external
Legal Colleagues
Signed up to The
Pension Regulator’s
national pledge “To
Combat Pension
Scams”
National changes
potentially

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

historic transfers

15

Operational

Fraudulent
attempts to
continue to claim a
pension

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

3

1

3

Ian
Howe

forthcoming for
checks on the
receiving scheme’s
arrangements

Faraday monthly
reporting process of
UK registered
deaths

Overpayments or
financial loss
Legal cases claiming
money back
Reputational
damage

A move to 6
monthly checks,
(from one check
every 2 years)

Ian
Howe

Life certificates for
overseas pensioners
Defined process
governing bank
account changes

National Fraud
mortality screening
for overseas
pensioners
3

3

9

Treat
Targeted review of
status for
pensioners where
the Fund does not
hold the current
address e.g. care of
County Hall or
Solicitors

274

Regulatory

Pens

Failure to identify
the death of a
pensioner causing
an overpayment, or
potential fraud or
other financial
irregularity

Late or no
notification of a
deceased
pensioner.

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

2

3

6

Ian
Howe

Employer bulletin to
employers making
them aware of the
current situation on
McCloud

16

Pens

The Unions
challenge on the
2016 cost cap, could
result in possible
benefit
recalculations if the
challenge is
successful

Await proposed
resolution from the
employment
tribunal
Ultimate outcome
on both McCloud
and the cost cap
are currently
unknown but
likelihood is;
Increasing
administration
Revision of previous
benefits
Additional
communications
Complaints/appeals
Increased costs

Assisting the LGA on
the employer
McCloud data
template (missing
hours April 2014 to
date)
Ian
Howe

Guidance from LGA,
Hymans, Treasury

3

3

9

Treat
once
details
are
confirmed

No statutory
deadline to be set
for completion of
the work
Team set up in the
Pension Section to
deal with McCloud
casework
Data being received
from the employers
and loaded into the
administration
system
System provider to
resolve current data
loading issues
Internal Audit
review of progress

275

Regulatory

The resolution of
the McCloud case
and 2016 Cost Cap
challenge could
increase
administration
significantly
resulting in
difficulties
providing the
ongoing pensions
administration
service

Mr McCloud
winning his appeal
on age
discrimination on
public sector
pension schemes
and the protection
afforded to older
members during the
move to career
average benefits,
followed by
Government losing
their right of
appeal.

Risk
no

Risk Area
Service

Risk

Causes (s)

Consequences

Risk
Owner

List of current
controls

I

L

Current
Risk
Score

Risk
Response;
Tolerate
Treat
Terminate
Transfer

Further Actions /
Additional Controls

I

L

Residual
Risk
Score

Action
owner

3

2

6

Ian
Howe

to date.
Increased
administration

17

Regulatory

Pens

The implication of
the national
dashboard project
could increase
administration
resulting in
difficulties
providing the
ongoing pensions
administration
service

National decision to
implement pension
dashboards thereby
enabling people to
view all their
pension benefits via
one single
dashboard

Data cleaning
exercise on
member records
Increased system
costs
Additional
communications

Initial data cleaning
started
Ian
Howe

Contract made with
the system provider
on building the data
link

3

3

9

Treat
once final
details
are
confirmed

Security checked on
the required link to
allow the access to
secure member
pension data
GDPR requirements

276

Timing of the
national exercise
(April 2024)
potentially conflicts
with McCloud
(October 2023)

Work with LCC’s
internal IT Team

Risk Impact Measurement Criteria

Scale

1

2

4

Departmental Service
Plan

Internal

Operations

People

Reputation

Negligible

Little impact to objectives
in service plan

Limited disruption to operations and
service quality satisfactory

Minor injuries

Public concern
restricted to local
complaints

Minor

Minor impact to service as
objectives in service plan
are not met

Short term disruption to operations
resulting in a minor adverse impact
on partnerships and minimal
reduction in service quality.

Minor Injury to those in
the Council’s care

Minor adverse local /
public / media
attention and
complaints

Moderate

Considerable fall in
service as objectives in
service plan are not met

Sustained moderate level disruption
to operations / Relevant partnership
relationships strained / Service
quality not satisfactory

Potential for minor
physical injuries /
Stressful experience

Adverse local media
public attention

Major impact to services
as objectives in service
plan are not met.

Serious disruption to operations with
relationships in major partnerships
affected / Service quality not
acceptable with adverse impact on
front line services. Significant
disruption of core activities. Key
targets missed.

Exposure to
dangerous conditions
creating potential for
serious physical or
mental harm

Serious negative
regional criticism, with
some national
coverage

Major

Financial
per annum / per loss
Pension Section
<£50k
Investments
Losses expected to be
recovered in the short
term
Pension Section
£50k-£250k Minimal
effect on budget/cost
Investments
Some
underperformance, but
within the bounds of
normal market volatility
Pension Section
£250k - £500k Small
increase on
budget/cost: Handled
within the team/service
Investment
Underperformance by a
manager requiring
review by the
Investment Subcommittee
Pension Section
£500-£750k. Significant
increase in budget/cost.
Service budgets
exceeded
Investment
Underperformance of
significant proportion of
assets leading to a
review of the
Investment or Funding
strategy

277

3

Description

Scale

5

Description

Very
High/Critical

Departmental Service
Plan

Significant fall/failure in
service as objectives in
service plan are not met

Internal

Operations

Long term serious interruption to
operations / Major partnerships under
threat / Service quality not acceptable
with impact on front line services

People

Reputation

Exposure to
dangerous conditions
leading to potential
loss of life or
permanent
physical/mental
damage. Life
threatening or multiple
serious injuries

Prolonged regional
and national
condemnation, with
serious damage to the
reputation of the
organisation i.e. frontpage headlines, TV.
Possible criminal, or
high profile, civil
action against the
Council/Fund,
members or officers

Financial
per annum / per loss

Pension Section
>£750k Large increase
on budget/cost.
Investment
Employer contributions
expect to increase
significantly above
Funding Strategy
requirement

Risk Likelihood Measurement Criteria
Likelihood

Example of Loss/Event Frequency

Probability %

1

Very rare/unlikely

EXCEPTIONAL event. This will probably never happen/recur.

<20%

2

Unlikely

Event NOT EXPECTED. Do not expect it to happen/recur, but it is possible it may do so.

20-40%

3

Possible

LITTLE LIKELIHOOD of event occurring. It might happen or recur occasionally.

40-60%

4

Probable /Likely

Event is MORE THAN LIKELY to occur. Will probably happen/recur, but it is not a
persisting issue.

60-80%

5

Almost Certain

Reasonable to expect that the event WILL undoubtedly happen/recur, possibly frequently.

>80%

278

Rating Scale

Risk Scoring Matrix
Impact
5 Very High/Critical

5

10

15

20

25

4 Major

4

8

12

16

20

3 Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2 Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1 Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

279

Very Rare/Unlikely
Unlikely
Possible/Likely
Probable/Likely
Almost certain
Likelihood of risk occurring over lifetime of objective (i.e. 12 mths)

This page is intentionally left blank

281

Agenda Item 13

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10th JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
ACTION AGREED BY INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with details of investments
agreed by the Investment Subcommittee at its meeting held on 27 April 2022.
Background

2.

The Leicestershire Pension Fund has a requirement to maintain investments in
asset classes close to the Fund’s Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) as existing
investments are returned.

3.

The Leicestershire Fund requires investments into income assets where the Fund
was underweight to the target SAA. Income assets include investments in private
debt, infrastructure and property. The Fund was at 31st December 2021
underweight the property asset class by £125m and as part of the January 2022
Local Pension Committee an action was approved to review this asset class in
conjunction with Hymans Robertson (Hymans) the Fund’s investment advisor.

4.

The ISC were informed of the current property holdings covering 3 managers
including an overview of the mandate, performance metrics and future returns of
capital.

5.

The Fund, as a part owner of LGPS Central (Central), has an aim to transition
investments to cost effective and relevant products at Central as and when they are
made available. Central have developed a UK direct property fund for which they
have appointed DTZ international (DTZ) as property manager for.

6.

DTZ were invited to present to the ISC with Mike Hardwick, Investment Director for
Property from Central available for questions if needed.

7.

Hymans presented their recommendations to the Committee which were approved
and are summarised below.
a. A £120m commitment to the LGPS Central Direct UK property Fund split over
two years, £60m per financial year.
b. Transfer of the management of the existing Colliers UK direct legacy (£113m at
31st December 2021) assets to DTZ
c. Movement of the Colliers UK indirect funds (£18m) to the LaSalle mandate.

282
d. That the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with the
Chairman of the Investment Subcommittee, be authorised to agree new
benchmarks and target objectives for the UK and global mandate with LaSalle.
e. That subject to d. the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation
with LaSalle, be authorised to determine the appropriate time to switch reporting
to new benchmarks and a transition plan that balances the time taken to
transition, and fees incurred, noting the transition will need to be carefully
managed over a number of years.

Recommendation
8. The Local Pension Committee is asked to note the content of the report.
Equal Opportunities Implications
None specific
Background Papers
Investment Subcommittee - 13 October 2021– Recommended Investment into:
LGPS Central Private Equity 2021 Vintage, LGPS Central Private Debt High Return
2021 Vintage and the Christofferson Robb & Company CRF 5 Product
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s164155/Public%20Proposal%20for%203%20investments.pdf

Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel: 0116 305 6199
Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel: 0116 305 7668
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments
Tel: 0116 305 1449
Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk

283

Agenda Item 14

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10th JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
LGPS CENTRAL JOINT COMMITTEE AND ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING UPDATE
Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an update
regarding LGPS Central’s (Central) Joint Committee and Annual General
Meetings and other relevant matters.
Background
2. Government instigated ‘pooling’ of pension funds in 2015 with the publication
of criteria and guidance on pooling of Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) assets. Administering authorities formed their own groups and eight
asset pools were formed, which are now all operational. The scale of each
pool gives significant buying power in the investment market, that would not
normally be accessible to funds.
3. The Leicestershire Pension Fund (Fund) is a stakeholder from two different
perspectives:
 a co-owner of the company (shareholder) and
 as a recipient of investment services
4. These interests are managed through the Shareholders Forum and the Joint
Committee as well as Leicestershire Pension Fund’s Funding Strategy
Statement, Investment Statement Strategy and Conflict of Interest Policy

284

5. The Joint Committee, deals with the ‘Investor’ functions related to Fund’s
investment in the collective investment vehicles. The Joint Committee meets
twice a year. It is comprised of eight members, representing each of the
partner funds, these representatives may be different to those on the
Shareholders’ Forum, dependent on the authority. This is a public forum for
Councils within the pool to receive oversight of the delivery of the objectives of
the pool, the delivery of client service, the delivery against the LGPS Central
business case and to deal with common investor issues.
6. The Joint Committee provides assistance, guidance and recommendations to
the individual councils, taking into consideration the conflicting demands and
interests of the participants within the pool. The Joint Committee does not
have delegated authority to make binding decisions on behalf of the
participating councils.
7. The supervisory body of Central is the Shareholders' Forum, which focuses
on shareholder issues. The Shareholder’s Forum includes representatives
from each of the eight pension funds. The members are usually elected
representatives, typically the Chairs of the Local Pension Committee, but this
is at the discretion of the individual funds.
8. The Shareholders Forum meets at least twice a year to agree certain
reserved matters; this provides a greater degree of control than for most
private companies. Their powers as shareholders are set out in a
Shareholder Agreement and include:






Amending or adopting new strategic plans
Admitting new members to the Pool
Appointment and removal of Directors
Approve accounts and appoint auditors
Approving capital expenditure over £5million

9. The Shareholders’ forum normally precedes general meetings of the
company, this allows discussion in advance of decisions being made at the
meeting.
Joint Committee – 18 June 2021
10. A meeting of the Joint Committee (JC) was held as a virtual meeting on the
18th June and broadcast live. It was attended by councillors and partner fund
representatives as well as a number of LGPS Central employees. The Chair
of the Local Pension Committee represented Leicestershire at the meeting.
11. The meeting is clerked by Cheshire West and Chester Council with agendas
and papers available on the site,

285

https://www.cheshirepensionfund.org/members/about-us/how-we-managethe-fund/governance-structure/pfc/
12. There were a number of actions agreed or reports noted which are listed
below:
a. Some minor changes to the terms of reference and its provisions be
reviewed annually was approved.
b. A Practitioners’ Advisory Forum update was given. The JC noted the
report and asked when an update to the cost savings (from pooling)
across all partner funds would be updated. Central advised that the
update to the cost savings model was due to be presented at the next
JC currently planned for early 2022. This meeting took place on the
14th January 2022, with Central advising that, “LGPS Central is on
target to provide Partner Funds with cost savings of £270m net by
2033/34”.
c. JC members received the Pool risk register which was noted. JC
members questioned whether succession planning risks were
considered. Central confirmed this was taken seriously and reviewed
regularly by the Central Board.
d. There were 10 public questions submitted in advance of the JC
covering topics such as arms, fossil fuels and human rights which were
answered by LGPS Central.
Special Resolution – transfer pricing change – August 2021
13. In August 2021 the company proposed a change in the transfer pricing
agreements. This was a special resolution requiring shareholder approval
that proposed reducing the mark up applied from 20% to 10% with effect from
1st April 2021. This resolution was approved by all partner funds outside of a
scheduled meeting.
14. Given LGPS Central’s ownership structure and financial objectives, the
company is not free to follow private sector pricing and profit practices.
However, it remains a commercial venture whose activities should rightly give
rise to taxable income.
15. The Company is therefore subject to ‘transfer pricing’, which refers to the
rules that apply to the pricing of transactions between entities under common
control. Under HMRC transfer pricing rules, LGPS Central Limited (the
Company) must apply a mark-up on services to the Authorised Contractual
Schemes (ACS) (the pool’s tax-transparent collective investment vehicle).

286

16. The company is free to levy any transfer pricing mark-up, but it must create a
level of taxable income which is deemed appropriate by HMRC for the
Company’s activities and its risk profile. Generally, a lower mark-up is
preferable from a Corporation Tax perspective (lower mark-up equates to
lower profits and in turn lower tax).
17. LGPS Central had taken advice from PwC (it’s tax advisor) on this matter.
While PwC’s work identified that a wide range of mark-ups were being
applied, their conclusion was that a percentage mark-up of 10% would
provide an appropriate taxable income for the Company.
Annual General Meeting – 28 September 2021
18. The Annual General Meeting was led by LGPS Central and chaired by
Joanne Segars. Present for the Company are the directors and non executive
directors with partner funds represented by the nominated shareholder for the
Local Authority. The Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund was
represented by the Chairman of the Local Pension Committee.
19. The virtual meeting was held on the 28th September where the following were
agreed or noted:
a. All shareholder resolutions proposed by the Company were approved
which included:
i. Re-election of all directors
ii. Adoption of the company report and accounts for the year ended
31st March 2021
iii. Approval of the individual remuneration packages for the Chair
and Directors
20. In addition to the above the following items were noted:
a. Shareholders requested that Board subcommittee updates (audit,
nominations and remuneration) would be considered as written rather
than oral updates in future
b. The Board asked that consideration be given to revive three working
groups that were launched last year to progress client/shareholder and
company goals, these are governance, road map and trust and
confidence work groups.
Company General Meeting – 22 February 2022
21. A Company General Meeting was convened on the on the 22nd February
2022. Leicestershire County Council was represented by the Chairman of the
Local Pension Committee.

287

22. The shareholders were presented an operations update and a review of the
past years activities, performance and proposed budget for note.
23. There were seven resolutions on the agenda of which four were tabled and
approved, these were:
a. Appointment of External Auditors
b. Approval of the Board development plan and the succession of NonExecutive Directors
c. Approval of the Strategic Plan (which includes a proposed budget) and
Regulatory Capital Statement for the period 1 April 2022 to 31 March
2023
d. Approve the adoption of the revised Articles of Association for the
Company
24. The remaining three resolutions were not tabled whilst additional clarifications
were being sought. The Meeting was adjourned by the Chair of General
Meeting Joanne Segars with a view to working with shareholders and the
representatives of the local authorities to gain further clarity on the remaining
resolutions before reconvening the meeting. This work has now completed
and a new company meeting date was set for the 27th April 2022 where the
remaining three resolutions were approved, these were:
a. Approval of the Executive Directors Remuneration and Benefits Policy
b. Approval of the Non-Executive Directors Remuneration and Benefits
Policy
c. Approval of the individual remuneration for the Executive and NonExecutive Directors.
Joint Committee June 2022
25. The next Committee meeting is scheduled for Thursday 23rd June. Invitations
have been sent to shareholders and respective Section 151 officers.
Recommendation
The Board is asked to note this report.
Officers to Contact
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel:0116 305 6199

Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk

Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property
Tel:0116 305 7668

Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk

Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments
Tel: 0116 305 1449

Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

289

Agenda Item 15

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 10 JUNE 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Local Pension Committee of the
membership of the Investment Subcommittee for the period ending May 2023.
Background

2.

As administering authority, Leicestershire County Council has responsibility
for managing the Pension Fund. In order that it can fulfil this responsibility
effectively, the Local Pension Committee (previously known as the Pension
Fund Management Board) has been given responsibility for all decisions in
respect of the Fund.
3. In May 2010 the County Council approved the formation of the Investment
Subcommittee in order to assist the Pension Fund Management Board (now
the Local Pension Committee) in pro-actively managing the Fund’s assets.
The increasing complexity of the Fund’s investment structure had the impact
that the Committee found it increasingly difficult to act in a suitably pro-active
manner within the confines of five meetings per annum.
4. The Subcommittee meets when required on months where there are no
Committee meetings. It has significant delegated powers to make decisions
on behalf of the Committee. Its role is to consider action that is in-line with the
strategic benchmark agreed by the Committee and to take a pro-active
approach to the Fund’s investments.
5. The Subcommittee looks to deal with ‘tactical’ issues associated with
implanting the strategy, such as investment manager appointments and the
timing of asset allocation changes. Where required the Subcommittee will also
invite current Investment Managers in to review their strategy and
performance.
Membership
6. Membership of the Subcommittee is drawn from members of the Local
Pension Committee. The Subcommittee will continue to consist of six voting
members plus a non-voting scheme member representative. The Membership
will comprise.

290



Three County Councillors based on the proportional representation of
the Council.
Mr. T. Barkley CC
Mr. D. Grimley CC
Mr. D. Bill CC



One member representing Leicester City Council



One member representing the District Councils



The member representing De Montfort/Loughborough Universities



One scheme member representative (non-voting) – The scheme
member representatives undertake the role on a rotating basis.

Future Meeting Dates
7. Below is a list of provisional meeting dates for the Investment Subcommittee
up until the end of 2022. If there is no business to be transacted the meeting
will be cancelled.




Wednesday 27 July 2022
Wednesday 12 October 2022
Wednesday 14 December 2022

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee notes the report
Equality and Human Rights Implications
None specific.
Officers to Contact
Declan Keegan – Assistant Director - Strategic Finance & Property, Corporate
Resources
telephone (0116) 305 7688
Chris Tambini – Director of Corporate Resources
telephone (0116) 305 6199

291
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 19

This page is intentionally left blank

389
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 20

This page is intentionally left blank

391
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 21

This page is intentionally left blank

399
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 22

This page is intentionally left blank

429
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 23

This page is intentionally left blank

447
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 24

This page is intentionally left blank

453
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 25

This page is intentionally left blank

501
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 26

This page is intentionally left blank

521
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 27

This page is intentionally left blank

575
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 28

This page is intentionally left blank

627
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 29

This page is intentionally left blank

629
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 30

This page is intentionally left blank

651
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 31

This page is intentionally left blank

673
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 32

This page is intentionally left blank

703
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 33

This page is intentionally left blank

815
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 34

This page is intentionally left blank

921
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 35

This page is intentionally left blank

